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Introduction

Mears is a leader in the housing and care
markets in the UK. Our range of housing
services has expanded from maintenance
into resident management, creating new
affordable homes and running the national
Planning Portal. Our domiciliary care
services run increasingly in tandem with
our housing services, helping create new
solutions for the more vulnerable.

In 2018, we employed over 11,000 staff.

Our key strengths

Differentiated service delivery

In arder for customers to recommend us, we must deliver
excellent service. We randomly conduct over 80,000
Housing customer surveys each year.

Strategic relationships
We listen carefully to the needs of our clients and their

tenants. As our clients’ needs have changed, we have
developed a breader service offering which has increased
the depth of cur client partnerships.

Contents

Strategic report
Highlights 64
Qur business at a glance o6
Transforming housing with care 68
Chairman’s statement 74
Chief Executive Officer's review 76
Year of achievement 81
Listening 10 our stakeholders 82
Our market drivers 88
Our business model g4
Qur strategy 96
Key performance indicators 97
Risk marnagement
Principal risks and uncertainties
Business planning and financial viability
Financial review
Social value and impact

Corporate governance
Introduction to corporate governance

Board of Directors 115 Consolidated income statement
Caorporate governance report 116 Consolidated statement of
Report of Nomination Committee
Report of Audit Commitiee 117 Consolidated balance sheet

Report of Remuneration Committee 118 Consolidated cash flow statement
Remuneration policy 119 Consolidated statement of changes
Annual remuneration report 2018
Report of the Directors 12G Notes to financial statements — Group
Statement of Directors’ responsibilities 149 Principal accounting policies ~ Company
Independent auditor's report 152 Parent Company balance shest

Strong financial management

We operate in a high volume, low value and low margin
anvironment where we have delivered consistent financial
results aver an extended period of time. This is achieved
through works management systems, conservative
accounting policies and a culture of giving attention

to detail.

Social value

We lead the way with social value in the markets
where we operate, delivering meaningful outcomes
through pasitive community engagement projects and
effective measurement.
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Strategic report

Highlights

Strategic developments and
positive earnings progress

Financial
Group revenue Adiusted Group operating profit Dividend per share Normalised dijuted

earnings per share

£869.8m  £40.8m 12.40p 29.06p

-3.4% +41% +3.3% +3.8%

£800.2m
£869.8m
£39.2m
£40.8m
11.70p
12.00p
12,40p
30.36p
28.05p
20.06p

2016
2017
2018
2016
2017
2018
2016
2017
2018
2016
207
2018

Strategic highlights

High levels of custorner satisfaction and continued

Asylum Accommodation and Support Contract win ) .
social value leadership

(e

Housing Green Paper post the Grenfell tragedy
creates opportunity

Continued improvement in profitability and stability
incare

Mears well pasitioned for new Ministry of Defence

Mitie property services Housing acquisition .
Property gacd tender opportunity

DOO
XX

Alternative performance measures (APM)
PM Definition

I

Adjusted Group operating profit - Adjusted operating profit and margin is based upon operating profit before the amortisation of acquisition
and margin % intangibles and exceptional items

Normalised diluted earnings Normalised EPS utilises an earnings figure before the amortisation of acquisition intangibles and exceptional
per share (EPS) items. Earnings are also adjusted to reflect a full tax charge at the headlineg tax rate The headline tax adjustment
typically reduces EPS but it is felt that this measure better allows for the assessment of operational performance,

the analysis of trends over time, the comparison of different husinesses and the projection of future performance.
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Strategic report
Our business at a glance

We are specialists in providing housing
solutions and we understand the needs of our
service users, many of whom are vulnerable

Housing...

...with Care

2 Mears Group PLC Annual Repart and Accounts 2018

What we do

Mears has a single minded focus on the housing market and delivering services
to the residents of these homes. We operate within the affordable housing
sector, which is an area that will see continued investment given the significant
housing shortage and the rising number of pecple who are regarded as
slaluluiily huneless.

Qur services

Qur care services are in the maintenance and management of homes.
Increasingly we operate an intelligent approach to maintenance, using
technclogy and expenence to operate preventative maintenance programmes
that reduce levels of emergency repairs. As regards management, we collect
rent and ensure homes are managed and maintained to a decent standard.
Our particular focus is in providing sustainable alternatives to homelessness,
helping reduce the riging problems created by the housing shortage in the UK.
Through our running of the national Planning Portal, we help enable planning
decisions to he made based upon ensuring the right information is available
for Councits to make an informed decision

Qur customers

We work predominantly with Central Government and Local Government, in
the delivery of hausing services. These are through often long-term contracts.
We equally recognise that the residenits of the homes that we manage and

or maintain, are customers, and we take pride in the high levels of customer
satisfaction that we achieve.

What we do

Damiciliary care is one of the key services provided to the elderly and
disabled residents of social housing properties. The provision of guality
housing is recognised as an impertant driver in lowering the pressures

an hospital admissions and social care While the market has seen under-
investrnent for many years, there are signs that this is starting ta change and
Mears housing, with care positioning, makes us well positioned for the future.

Qur services

We provided regulated personal care services in people’s homes, thraugh our
teams of care staff. The aim is to help often elderly and frall individuals maintain
their dignity and independence. Increasingly we support a growing number of
specialist accommodation units, such as extra care facilities, which enable care
to be given within a safe and supportive environment. We don't however aperate
any services within our Care homes

Our customers

We are commissioned by Local Councils and NHS Trusts to provide domiciliary
care services. We only deliver care where we are carifident that the charge 1ales
paid are high enough to ensure the quality of service that our customers are right
1o expect.



Long-term drivers

The shortage of housing in the UK has made Housing revenue Housing operating profit Housing operating margin
investment in housing both a political and an
econamic priority. More recently, the Social ,_,E, E £ E
Housing Green Paper and the Grenfell tragedy E E o 3 &
have put greater focus on tenant engagement b 5 £ hal b ¢ - & "
and safety. As such, we anticipate rising 5 2 i a
investment in our markets and a greater a
attention to the quality of delivery.
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Long-term drivers
Demagraphic change is the key long-term Care revenue Care operating profit Care operating margin
driver, given the ageing population of the UK.
The Gavernment has delayed its decision E £
rmaking on how the rising cost of care will § o &
be funded over the long term but has again e E ! o
commitied to a Green Paper in 2019, % c
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6,000

repairs per day across UK
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Strategic report
Transforming housing with care

Using our
approach to tackle
national issues

Asylum housing and support

Our approach to integration of our services was given

a boast with the award of three new contracts worth in
excess of £1bn under the Asylum Accommodation and
Support Services Contract (AASC), delivering estimated
revenues of around £100m a year for the next ten years

The contracts are to provide accommodation as well as
supporting each service user Mears has been awarded
contracts for Scotland, Northern ireland and the North East,
Yorkshire and the Humber, The contracts are for ten years.

The contracts are part of the way in which the UK
Government meets its duty to provide asylum for those
seeking internatianal protection in the UK. To deliver the
contracts, Mears will draw on its outstanding 30-year
track record of providing housing, housing maintenarnce
and care services all across the UK, with a strong
footprint in Scotland, Nerthern Ireland, and the North East
and Yorkshire.

Our commitment

Mears is committed to ensuring that asylum
accommodation is safe, habitable and fit for purpose

and will meet al! contractual and regulatory standards.
Moreover, Mears understands the impaortance of
supporting each person whilst living in its accommuodation
and 1o ensure that as a company it works with the
communities in which 1t delivers services.

During the Mobilisation period, up ta 1 April 2019, Mears wilf
work with the Home Office and service users, to make sure
that accormmodation that is used in the new AASC contract
meets the required quality standard. Mears will establish
operational teams in each of the areas for which we are
responsible so that we are in a position to provide the best
nossilile performance, within the terms of the contract

This will include identifying support needs, managing
community cchesion issues, and developing strong
partnerships with local authorities and in communities.

The Mears approach has been to apply our knowledge
of hausing management, repairs, and supporting and
engaging with our tenants and customers. By extending
this approach to asylurn hausing we have successfully
demcnstrated that our core model i1s one which our
partners increasingly demand.

Congratulations to Mears Employee of the Year 2018
Rob Pearce (shown here}, a Mult Skilled Cperative
from Medway.
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£2.0m

spent each day by Local
Authorities on temporary
accommodation

homes in full management
including our Registered
Provider portfolios
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Strategic report
Transforming housing with care

Tackling
homelessness
with Mears

London Borough of Waltham Forest
joint venture

Waltham Forest, where more than £3.4mis spent every
year on temporary housing, agreed to go into a jomt venture
with Mears to buy 400 homes to put a roof over the heads
of people in housing crisis Almeost 100 households in the
borough hwve In bed and breakfast accommaodation, while
another 2,326 families are in a form of temparary or hostel
accommodation. The scheme will make a real difference
to people and follows on from a similar schemne that Mears
arranged with Bromley. Mears will manage the housing
aver a 40-year period.

Our aim is to provide Waltham Forest with an alternative,
affordable housing supply to replace the significant bed
and breakfast accommaodation costs currently incurred
on homeless local people.

Mears has engaged funding partners to finance the
purchase of properties on behalf of our partner, and we
carry out refurbishment works and act as managing agent
for the portfolio.

Nature of service
~ We utilse a Privately Placed Bond to purchase and
refurbish 365 homes.
~ We house homeless families who would otherwise
be living in bed and breakfast or expensive
temporary accommaodation.
~ We manage the acquisition and improvement works
~ Through our Registered Provider, we will also manage
and maintain the homes.

By working with our partners, Mears 1s innovating to provide
answers to sorme of our most deep-seated policy issues,
which 18 why we have become the largest supplier of
temparary accommaodation in the UK.
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£62m

Riverside contract
valuation
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Strategic report
Transforming housing with care

Building on our
relationships

to deliver
repairs solutions

Riverside repairs

In 2018 Mears won a £62m contract to deliver repairs and
mairtenance services to Riverside Housing Association.
The ten-year contract, with an overall budget of £115m, is
far responsive repairs, voids, planned works and providing
a domestic gas service. [t cavers over 10,000 homes in the
Central and South regions, including London, East Anglia,
Kent, Leicester, Bristol and the M4 corridor.

Before winning the contract Mears provided a maintenance
service to Riverside. This played a very important part in
ensuring that Riverside saw us as their potential partner

far this long-term contract.

What we do
We provide a wide range of services, including:

~ reactive repairs and maintenance;

-~ planned works, repairs and maintenance
{under the Praperty MOT programme);

~ gas servicing and installation; and

- 24-hour out of hours service,

Our relationships with our partners goes 10 the core of
everything we do. By working closely with clients and
understanding their needs Mears has shown it can grow
business and strengthen our partnerships

The Riverside [Parine:ship demonstrates how Mears
can support chents, cven when there is a preference
for insourcing.
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Strategic report
Chairman’s statement

We welcome our new Chairman,
Kieran Murphy

Overview

| armn delighted to deliver my first Chairman's Staterment,
having joined the Board on 2 January 2319. Whilst I am
only in my third manth ar Mears, it has heen an exciting
early period 1t was tremendous 1o see the Group awarded
three new lorig-letin contracts by the tlome Office to
provide accommaoadation and support for asylurmn seekers.
The cantracts are estimated to defiver revenues in excess
of £1 billion over their 10 year term. Their scale reflects

lhe progress that Mears has madc over o number of years
in transfarming itself from a smali-ticket maintenance
contractor towards being a specialist provider of housing-
related services to the public sector. Winning and, more i
importantly, delivering this contract to the standards that
Mears sets itself required, and will continue to require,

high quality dedicated etfort fram teams across the Group,
Hook forward to seeing this dedication resulting

in effective delivity

Another fughlight of the past 12 months was the acquisition
ol tertan business assels and contagly Mo blie's
property services division (MPS'). The period since
cempletion has progressed to plan, and the respective
seniar tearms are combining well. The system migrations,
which underpin the synergies and improvements ta service
delvery, are underway. Moreover, it was pleasing that MPS
was successful in securing a contract with Home Group
within a shert time following the acquisition. This contract,
valued at £200m over a 10 year term, will see the Group
deliver maintenance and planned works ta 10,000 homes
in the South East. We expect MPS to continue to win new
business opportunities as the months unfold.

Kieran Murphy
Chairman

(4

I am delighted to deliver my
first Chairman’s Statement,
having joined the Board at

the start of the year. In my
short time in the Group, | have
taken the opportunity where
possible to meet a broad
cross section of colleagues, to
better understand the culture
and values that underpin the
Group’s success,

During the course of the past few weeks, | have held 2
series of individual meetings with shareholders who
between them represent over twa-thirds of the Company's
equity base by value. | am grateful to each of them for
taking the time to meet with me, for their welcome and

for the views that they expressed. It was encouraging

to haar a number of very positive messages about the
Group's core business and the enthuslasm for its continued
success. However, the performance of the Company's
share price aver the past six months has been a source

of understandable disappointment. It is also clear that
shareholders, and the market collectively, are taking a
much more cautious view about indebtedness, again
understandably in the ight of events elsewhere in the
sector. Itis appropriate that the Company should take
account of this in its plans for the current year and into
2020. Accardingly, the Board will work with management
to take a number of active steps to reduce debt
progressively over this pericd.
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£869.8m

Group revenue

£40.8m

aperating profit
before amaortisation
of acquisition
intangibles and
exceptional items

Results

Group revenue for the year ended 31 December 2018
was £869.8m, a small reduction on the previcus year
(2017. £900.2m). However, operating profit befare
amartisation of acquisition intangibles, exceptional
costs and long-term incentives items rose to £40.8m
(2017 £39.2m). Operating margins similarly increased to
47% (2017 4 3%). Normalised diluted earnings per share
increased to 29.06p {2017: 28.05p), an increase of 3.6%.
The average net debt for the year was narrowly behind
our target of £110m at £113.2m.

Dividend

The Board remains confident in the Group's leng term
potential and in its progressive dividend policy. The Board
is therefare recommending a final dividend of 8.85p per
share, having paid an interim dividend of 3.55p per share
in November 2018, giving 12.40p per share for the year as
a whole. This represents a 3 3% increase over the totsl of
12.00p per share paid in respect of 2017. The final dividend
will be payable, subject to shareholder approval, on 4 July
2019 to shareholders on the register on 14 June 2018.

Board developments
In July 2018, as part of the continuing evolution of

the Board, the then Chairman, Bob Holt, indicated his
intention not to stand for re-election at the 2019 Annual
General Meeting. The Board undertaok a competitive and
structured process far the recruitment of the new Chairman
and | was delighted to be offered the position in December
2018. 1 should place on record the thanks of the entire
Group to Bob Holt for his 23 years of service, which was
instrumental in taking the Group on its journey from a small
privately owned business with annual turnover of £12m,
through flotation on AIM and frorn there to the Main Market,
leading to the national player and market leader that it

is today.

In June 2018, the Company became ane of the first listed
companies in the UK to appoint an Employee Director,
Amanda Hillerby, underlining the Company’s commitment
to progressive corporate governance. Mears understands
the vital role that our workforce plays in the success of the
Group. We intend that this role will help the Board to receive
full, open and honest insight and views from its workfarce
on how strategic initiatives are being implemented

It should also help to provide the wider workforce with a
hetter understanding of how the Board operates We will
keep under review how best to use Amanda's skills to
further these objectives.

It is essential to ensure that Mears, in common with

all listed companies, 1s equipped with a Board that can
provide a wide range of views, skills and experience to
wiark with and challenge the management team to further
the effective development of the Graup. | wilt keep under
review the balance of capabilities around the Board tahle
50 as 1o ensure that the Group has what 1t needs for
effective leadership.

Our people

In my short time with the Group, | have taken the
opportunity where possible to meet a broad cross section
of colleagues to better understand the culture and values
that underpin the Group's success. | will continue to
undertake a programme of visits throughout the business
during the caurse of the coming year. | attended the Group's
annual conference in February 2019, which acknowledges
and celebrates those members of staff who have delivered
exceptional levels of service to our customers | have been
impressed by the professionalism and commitment of
our employees and | thank them for their dedication and
hard work.

| was pleased that Mears was recognised recently by the
Sunday Times annual survey as one of the best 25 big
companies ta work for in the UK in 2019, While this reflects
well on our investment i culture and people, it speaks
volumes about the people who work for us. [t was also
pleasing that the Group achieved a very high rating from
FTSE4Gocd, which assesses listed company policies

and procedures on their social and environmental impact
and governance.

Summary
| arm very much at the start of my journey at Mears. | sense

the strong commitment throughout the Group lo do the
hest for all our stakeholders, be they our shareholders,
our public sector custamers ar our clients who receive
our services day in and day out. That cammitment to
excellence will serve the Group well in the years to come
and llogk farward to being a part of the team that will
continue to deliver it.
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Strategic report
Chief Executive Officer’s review

We have remained highly focused on
a single area, providing services to
tenants in and around their homes

/4

The Board is clear that it

must take action to refocus
the Group’s main activities to
those of a specialist housing
provider, with maintenance and
management being fundamental
to this. Those Group activities
that are peripheral to this core
activity, especially where they
absorb working capital, will he
reviewed in terms of how we
can deliver the best financial
teturn for shareholders.

David Miles
Chief Executive Officer

2014

Acguisition of
Omega ~ temporaty
housing expertise

Our transformation time-line

The affordable housing market has
seen significant change and Mears
has adapted its service capability
well to this changing market:

P

2010 Traditional
contracting
Operations:
Maintenance
Regeneration

Mears secures
Regstered
Provider stalus
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Introduction

I am pleased at the progress made by the business in 2018,
although the year has not been without its challenges.

I am naturally disappointed at our share price performance
and this dissatisfaction 1s mirrored by a number of our
major shareholders.

£1.3bn

Orders secured

93%

Excellence rating

Mears has made significant progress over recent years

in evolving its business. My focus has been on a range of
stakeholders including clients, service users, employees,
communities and shareholders. | believe that much of
the Board's strategy has delivered successful outcames,
although the full financial benefits in certain areas have
taken longer to come through. The success of our
investment into Housing Management is evidenced
through the Key Worker and AASC bidding successes while
our investment in Housing Development is demonstrated
by our success at Milton Keynes. The success of our joint
venture in the Planning Portal highlights the investment
made in Planning Solutions. Even cur investment in Care,
which from a return on investment perspective has been
very disappointing, played a significant part in securing
the recent AASC contract Finally, itis also pleasing

that much of our strategic progress has delivered good
outcomes in terms of social value, client confidence

and Mears' reputation.

The negativity surrounding outsourcing has been unhelpful,
especially when so many of the issues have been specific
to other companies in the sector. Unlike other providers in
the sector, Mears has remained highly focused on a single
area, providing services to ienants in and around their
homes. We are specialists in providing housing solutions
and we understand the needs of our service users, many
of wham are vulnerable

Notwithstanding the above, the Board is mindful of its
responsibilities to shareholders. We recognise shareholders
are seeking better financial outcomes, particularly in
respect of cash generation, and the Board is clear that it
must take action to refocus the Group's main activities to
those of a specialist Housing provider with maintenance
and management being fundamentai to this. Those Group
activities that are peripheral to this core activity, especially

2015
Joint venture with
Miristry of Housing,
Communities & Local
Governmeni to delives
national Planning Portal

Building relatior.ships
with funding partners

where they absorb working capital, will be reviewed in
terms of how we can deliver the best financial return for
sharehofders including cessation, downscaling or disposal
if appropriate. Investor appetite for gearing has gone full
circle We must now direct our capital resaurces to those
areas which deliver the best financial returns, whilst always
ensuring that we do not lose our long-term approach to
how we run the business Going forward, we will review
how Mears can best contribute to the housing development
needs of our customers but in ways which do not place
undue strain on the Group halance sheet. This is covered
in further detall later in this review.

Notable highlights for 2018 include

~ Qur success in securing three regions under the AASC
was a significant achieverment for the Group. With a
contract value estimated at £1 billion over a ten year
term, this is the largest contract ever awarded to Mears
and exemphfies the significant progress made by
the Group since extending our services into Housing
Management in 2014

~ The acquisition of certain business assets and
contracts of the property services division of Mitie
{'MP&"} followed a long period of negotiation and due
diligence. Since completion, the integration of MPS
has gone according tc plan.

~ Once again, Mears has delivered high levels of customer
service with our customer service excellence rating
increasing to 93%. Our dedication to deliver 2 first
class service to our clients is central 1o our culture and
underpins our SUccess.

~ The Group restructured its central support structures to
reflect the changing nature of the business and differing
support requirements. The Group delivered the planned
annual savings of approximately £5m with a low
disturbance to day-to-day performance.

~ The Group has positioned itself well in the MoD bidding
opportunities. The MoD is a key client of the Group and
the new tender provides Mears the opportunity to deliver
management and maintenance services to imprave
the guality of housing for the UK's Armed Forces and
their families.

2020 Placemaking
Housing Management:
Income management
Tenancy management
Allocations
Operations:
Maintenance
Regeneraticn

Asset Management:
Immediate sclutions
Acquisition
Development
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Strategic report
Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

£870m There will always be areas where the Group can improve:

Gr reven . .
oup ues ~ The Housing Maintenance division’s new contract

win rate has, for the second year running, been below

40/0 our historical norm. We are confident that there has

EPS growth been no lack of good guality opportunities to bid,
the guality of our tender submissions has been high
and we continue to demonstrate our value for money
propasition. Interestingly some lost opportunities are
now representing thermnselves to us.

~ We chose to exit a small number of maintenance
caontracts, with an annual value approaching £30m,
as the balance between risk and reward was not
considered favourable to the Group.

~ The operational performance in some parts of our
Housing Management business was below par owing
to the AASC tender requiting considerable resource
together with the significant emphasis that the
business has placed on enhancing the internal controls
and governance required in a fast growing regulated
business. While this resulted in some loss of focus in
the existing business, this was an important nriority
and is now behind us

~  Our Housing development activities experienced a
challenging final quarter 1o the year, with a slowdown
in sales impacting upon both revenues and
working capital

Financial performance
The Group reported revenues for the year of £865.8m, a

reduction of 3% on 2017. However, encouragingly, taking
half year by half year, this shows revenues have stabilised
since the sharp reduction in the second half of 2017,

The profit for the year before tax, exceptional costs

and amortisation of acquisition intangibles of £38 om
(2017: £371m) was a small improvement and saw a
solid increase in aperating margins to 4.4% (2017: 41%).
Narmalised diluted earings per share of 29.06p

(2017 28.05p) reflected this increase in profits,
increasing by 4%.

As reported previously, the Group has carried out a review
of its central support structures to ensure they reflect the
changing nature of the business and that they are efficient
and deliver value, This was particularly relevant given

the changing sales mix that brings a differing support
reqdirement. The review identified annualised savings

of approximately £5.0m and these have been secured

in the year. The Group will continue to keep on top of its
central support costs. The Group has a long-term target
to maintain central overheads at around 3.0% of revenue.
Whille this may appear a high percentage, the Board views
this strong centralisation principle as being crucial to
deliver consistency and better control across the Group.
Over recent years, the central overhead percentage has
edged towards 4.0%, however the additional revenues
secured with the MPS acquisition and the AASC contract
will lower this level and it is a key Group target to reduce
central overheads back to 3.0% and to then maintain them
at that level. The Group is also carrying out a review of

its regional support functions, a process which is being
aligned with the MPS integration.
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The Board recognises that the Group's net debt and
operating cash performance need to improve, The broader
activities delivered by the Group carry significantly different
working capital requirements, and a singie EBITDA to
operating cash conversion measure, which for many

years the Graup delivered a measure at close to 100%,
does not nrovide an acourate reflection of the Graup's

cash performance. The Group has consistently reported
an average daily net debt, rather than focusing on the
balance on a single day at the period end, and further detail
is included in the Finance Review. In addition, below we
pravide analysis in respect of the working capital absarbed
against the different Graup activities which demanstrates
a solid performance other than in Development.

Average daily net debt for the year, excluding the property
acquisition Tacility, was £113.2m, narrowly behind the target
set at the start of the year of £110.0m. The level of average
debt was broadly comparable to thatin 2017 (£96.4m)
when allowing for the timing of the cash out flows lale in
that year of £8.2m relating to discontinued activities and

a deferred consideration payment of £11.1m in early 2018.

Acquisitian of certain husiness assets and contracts
from the property services division of Mitie

In November 2018, Mears completed the acquisition of
certain business assets and contracts from the property
maintenance business of Mitie, the acquired business is
branded as MP5 Housing. The initial consideration was
£22 5m togethar with contingent consideration payable,
up to a cap of £12.5m, based upon the future profitability of
the business over a 24 month period following completion
The initial consideration was funded through a placing of
¢.6.8m new ordinary shares.

The business comprising 14 branches, circa 30 custamer
relationships and approaching 1,000 employees, is
expected to contribute annualised revenue in excess of
£100.0m during the current financial year. Mears has a
strong track recard for driving improvements fn previaus
acquisitions as evidenced by the successful turnaround

of the Marrison business following its acquisition in 2012,
The MPS business has strong similarities to that business,
and Mears Is approaching this transformation plan in a
similar way.

Whilst it is still only a short period since comnpletion, the
Board is encouraged by the progress made. The reaction
fram MPS customers has been positive and the MPS team
have welcomed the change. We are stifl at a relatively early
stage in the integration process, with the key driver being
the migration of MPS' three operating systems onto the
single Mears Contract Management platform.
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Aawnnben ol companiesg involved in outsourcing have got
inlu difficulties, with Carilhon being a stand cut example.
What makes Mears different?

We are different. We focus solely on housing and housing
related care and as such we have a great deal of understanding
of risk and sustainable operational management. We are very
selective in terms of what we bid and the partnerships that we
forge. We manage our cash well and have systems that enable
us {o manage our cost base effectively at a very detailed level.
We take a responsible and transparent approach to governance,
which is very important when working with the public sector.

Q)

What issues has Brexit created for Mears?

A

Our revenue is all within the UK and to this point the issues
we have faced largely relate to some delays in Government
decision making and policy development. The long-delayed
policy document arcund the future funding model for social
care is a prime example of this. The key thing for us is our
warkforce and to maintain our focus on making Mears the
best place to wark in the sector. We are already a long way
down this path and this remains a priority for us.

o

Mears puts Placemaking at the heart of its strateqy.
What does this mean?

0

High quality, well-managed housing is in our view the

most important aspect of any thriving community. We see
ourselves as leaders in contributing acrass the spectrum of
planning, building, managing and maintaining high quality

but affordable housing solutions. Our Care services work in
tandem where needed to support people who are often elderly
or disabled. Qur combined approach really starts with thinking
about the locations in which we operate and how we can use
our services to help make better places to live, in conjunction
with our partners.

o

Safety and compliance have become higher profile since the
events of Grenfell Tower tragedy. How has Mears responded
to thig?

A

We are proud of our track record on health and safety.

We have reduced Accidents Rates by over 10% and achieved
the RoSPA Highly Commended Industry Sector Award

(16 consecutive Golds), for our continued commitment to
accident and ill-health prevention. Qver the year we have
carried out cver 53,000 hours of health and safety training
tc ensure we continue our commitment to improving the
skills and awareness of all employees.

As well as aur own continued focus on ensuring our staff
and customers are protected, we have been working with
our clients in support of tightening regulatory requirements
arcund housing and helping implement improvements
needed, starting with work on high rise properties. We are
pleased 1o see standards being raised here and as the recent
Sacial Housing Green Paper becomes a White paper, we
expect further positive developments in this space.

o

Mears' reputation as a great place to work, seems to be
increasing. Why is this and why does Mears reqard this

as important?

LA

We are obviously pleased 1o be recognised by the Sunday
Times as one of the 25 Best Big Companies to Work For in the
UK. Also, we hold the Housing Diversity Network accreditation
for Excellence in Diversity. These are ultimately just some of
the awards that we have won for 25 years of effort in making
Mears a place where people want to work and where there is
opportunity for personal development. We have champicned
encouraging more women to work in the trades and to secure
better terms and conditions for care staff. We do this because
a great workforce is the central building block for everything
we do. We recognise that we have te be better than ever today,
if we are to continue to perform well in terms of workforce,
and we will continue to invest in our people.

o

The recently won Home Office contract represents a
significant development for Mears, Do you see other
opportunities of this type and scale in the future?

A

We do see further opportunities with centrally led housing
contracts, especially in housing solutions to support service
personnel. We also see significant housing opportunity in
specialist housing to support demographic change, and
indeed 2018 saw us completing our first build and manage
properties for the elderly and for younger people with physical
and mental support needs.
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Strategic report
Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

£753m | Housig
Housing revenues 2018 ot17
5 0 % H1 H2 FY H1 H2 FY
- . Revenue £m 3749 378.3 753.2 4022 364.0 766.1
Housing margin Operating profit £m 19.0 18.6 376 20.8 187 395
Qperating profit margin % 5.1% 4.9% 5.0% 5.2% 51% 52%

The Housing division reported revenues of £753.2m,

a slight reduction against the previous year.

Encouragingly the half year on half year progress shows
revenues increasing following the sharp reduction in the
second half of 2017. As expected, 1t was a quiet period

for naw contract mabflisatiors, following the slow period
of new bhidding success in 2017 The recently acquired
business of MPS contributed revenues of £9.0m in the cne
month that it was part of the Group.

The division generated an operating margin of 5.0%, with
the second half margin (4.9%) reflecting hoth the initial
impact of MPS together with costs expensed in respect
of the AASC bidding and mobihsation.

The Housing division comprises three core activities:
Maintenance, Management and Development,
Increasingly there have been opportunities to deliver

a combination of these services which we term as
‘placemaking’ It is critical to the Group's success that
Housing is operated and managed as a single division,
with the different specialisms combining to deliver the
optimal outcome. However, in broadening our Housing
activities, it has becaome harder to explain the underlying
performance, and, importantly, provide stakehaolders with
a better understanding of the growth expectations and
risks attached tc each area and, particularly in the current
environment, the related working capital requirements.

It must be recognised that, increasingly, opportunities

are being secured that require a full asset management
service that does not slot easily into a single category.
Rather than artificially allocating revenues and profit
across each category, all revenues and profit are assigned
to the predominant category, Given that the Housing
Management activities incarporate an element of
maintenance, whilst the maintenance growth inisclation
may appear low, at times this will simply reflect a change
in allocation more than a change in activity

16 Mears Group PLC Annual Repart and Accounts 2018

The revenue for the full year was slightly lower than

our expectations at the start of the year of a firm and
nrobahle revenua of £770m. In maintenance, some
revenues expected to be delivered in 2018 were re-

phased and will be delivered into 2019 in agreement with
our partners, Milton Keynes being the most significant
example. Our development activities experienced a
challenging last quarter — whilst the primary focus has
been working in partnership with Housing Associations,
and the development of affordabie homes, this activity
does incorporate an element of private sales, which most
Housing Associations require to make the overall scherne
viable. The Development business experienced a significant
slowdown in private sales in the lead-in to the year end,
negatively impacting on both revenues and working capital.

Historically the Group has pursued a strategy focusing on
earnings growth whilst keeping within the strict confines
af Housing. Whilst gaod working capital management

has been a cornerstone of the Group, equally cash has not
heen allowed to constrain the Group's evolution However,
as the Group's Housing business has evalved, it should be
recognised that the different activities within Housing have
significantly different working capital requirements:

~ Maintenance (representing 77% of divisional revenue in
2018) is a high volume and low value activity Given the
reguirement 1o measure, review, nspect and value a
farge numbar of warks arders, the invoicing cycle cannot
be rushed or shart cuts taken. Accordingly, it is not
unusual for a period of 90 days between completion
of work and receipt of income although the average is
closer to 70 days. On the positive, the measurement of
revenues is very secure and there 1s mmimal bad debt
risk. The cost base includes specialist subcontractors
and merchant suppliers with varying payvment terms
averaging 40 days. As a result, typically around 30 days'
work is absorbed in working capital.




£117m

Care revenues

3.2%

Care margin

2018 2017

Operating QOperating
Revenue profit Margin Revenue profit Margin
£m £m % £m £m %
Maintenance 578.7 28.0 4.8% 606.2 326 5.4%
Management 135.4 8.5 6.3% 1338 5.7 4.3%
Development 39.1 11 2.8% 261 1.2 4.6%
Tatal 793.2 37.6 5.0% 7661 385 5.2%

~ Management (representing 18% of divisional revenue
in 2018) is lower volume with the most significant
transactions being linked to collecting and paying
property rentals Typically both rental receipts and
payments are paid monthly in arrears such that the
business operates on a low working capital requirement.
~ Development (representing 5% of divisional revenue
in 2018) 13 based on low volume but high value
transactions. Where developments are being built under

a simple contracting relationship, work can be invoiced
during the course of construction although typically as
projects approach their conclusicon, the receipts become
slower. Some mixed tenure developments include units
that are subject to private sale and Mears funds the
build cost of those units until their sale The direct works
are entirely subcaontracted, being paid in around 30 days
from invoicing and as a result, this area of our Housing
activities can absorb high levels of waorking capital.

The working capital allocation and returs of each activity are set out below:

12-maonth
average Return on
QOperating warking warking
profit capial capital
£m £m employed*
Maintenance 28.0 18.0 >100%
Management 85 17 >100%
Development 11 156 7%

*Trade receivables less trade payables

Locking ahead into 2019, there will e a change of pricrities
for Mears. We will refocus our capital allogation on those
areas which deliver the best returns whilst being mindfut

of the strategic impact such changes may have upon

the Group's future opportunities. The relatively modest
working capital requirements of cur core maintenance

and management activities, combined with their attractive
returns on capital, indicate that these are two core areas
where the Group should focus its attention.

The property acquisition facility of £30m was introduced in
2017 to enable the Group to acquire and build portfolios of
properties prior to disposal to a long term fundmg partner.
This provided the Group with an ability to accelerate the
flow of propertias into its Housing Management operations
together with an additional profit cpportunity at the point

of transfer. The funding requirement is high, relative to

our resaurces, and the flow of profits irregular Whilst the
property acquisition facility has been useful, its cancellation
over the course of 2079 will have a low strategic impact.

The Group has hreadened its service capability in recent
years to include the provision of Housing Development,
primarify targeting existing clients, as part of the holistic
service offering to them. However, the working capital
absorbed in this area has been higher than expected, and
whilst the financial returns could be considerably higher
than their current levels, the warking capital currently
allocated to this area could be hetter deployed elsewhere
or used to reduce current net debt levels. The Board

will keep this area under close review going forwards.

The current pipeline of works will unwind over the coming
three years although the Group will endeavour to accelerate
that process, especially for those contracts which have the
highest working capital intensity. The reasons for offering
a development capability were compelling and remain

so. The Group will continue to explore ways in which it

can contribute ta its clients’ housing development needs,
but in a way which creates value for bath parties without
significant working capital consequences for Mears
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Sirategic report

Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

O,
84%
Care regulatory
compliance

221

Care
apprenticeships

18

Care
2018 2017
H1 H2 FY H1 H2 Fy
Revenue £fm 60.3 56.3 116.6 687 654 1341
Operating profit £m 1.9 1.9 3.8 1.0 1.5 0.5
Operating profit margin % 3.2% 3.4% 3.2% {1.5%j) 2.3% G 4%

The performance of the Care division over the last

18 months has been pleasing with a return te profitability
and margin improvement in line with the challenging target
set by the Board. Management remains highly selective in
bidding for any new work and regularly revisits its existing
activities, focusing on delivering good quality care at a
sustainable margin rather than placing emphasis upon top-
line growth. In that regard, revenues reduced to £116.6m
(2017: £134.1m) while aperating margins increased to 3 2%
(20717: 0.4%), marginally ahead of expectation.

The Care division secured charge rate Increases which
broadly allowed us to match the increasing cost base driven

by an increase in the National Living Wage and increase in
the pension auto-enrolment contribution rate. The main
challenge in Care remains the sourcing and retention of
sufticrent care workers of good quality and this is an area
that continues to receive sighificant attention. ltis achieving
success in this area of operations which underping the
Group's target of a 5.0% marginin Care.

The Group Is increasingly directing its Care bidding
activity towards those clients where there are likely to be
opportunities to provide a complete Housing service and,
consequently, there is less focus on thase opportunities
which provide care services in isolation.

In fine with the working capital and returns anatysis provided in Hausing, the Care division delivers a good return on working

capital employed as set out below:

12-month
average Return on
Operating working WOrking
profit capital capital
£m £m employed*
Care 38 136 28%

*Trade recewvables lass trade payables

Contract awards

Mears continues to see existing and target clients
demanding a broader Housing offering. The Group is
operating very well and our excellent service delivery is
putting Mears in a good position to secure new business
apportunities, notwithstanding the discussion above as
o Group strategy and capital allocation going forward.

Mears was delighted 16 secure its primary bidding target
for 2018, the AASC, being awarded three regions with an
estimated contract vafue of £100m per year over a ten

year period, Mears could never previously have heen in a
position to have bid such a targe and complex contract and
it reflects the significant strategic and aperational progress
that the Group has made over recent years in extending
and developing its capabilities. 1t also reflects a change in
Central Government attitude, with a realisation that such
contracts require providers who are specialist a1 providing
Housing services together with & capahility for dealing with
vulnerable peaple. The tender itself was very intensive in
terms of the time and resource required and at times was

a distraction from the day to day business, however we

are delighted at the positive result. The new contract will
require a similar level of intensive support from across the
Group through its mobilisation period, with the soft-start

n April 2016 and a full go-live due in Septernber 2019
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The year was also busy in terms of new Housing
maintenance contracts with the Group bidding in the region
of £1 billion of new cpportunities It was disappointing
that our new contract win rate in this area was low with a
centract win rate on campetitively tendered works of 15%.
The Group missed out on a numher of key maintenance
contract targets, typically scoring well on gquality but
missing out on price. Whilst this win rate is disappointing,
the Group has a long track recard of taking a disciplined
approach to bidding and will never be tempted to secure
wark at a price which is sub-optimal. Interestingly a few of
those lost opportunities are now representing themselves
to us as aresult of service levels not being met by the
winnimg parties.

Other notable new contract awards in 2018 include:

~ A contract 1o deliver repairs and maintenance services
to Riverside Housing Association for an initial period
of five years, valued at E62m. There is an option to
extend the contract for a further five years, taking the
total opportunity 1o £125m. The contract covers over
11,500 homes across the Midlands, East Anglia and
the South of England. The service requires Mears 1o
work alongside Riverside's own In-house maintenance
pravider and commenced in July 2018

~ A contract with Octavia Housing valued at £75m over 10
years, will see our existing contract with Qctavia double
In size. Mears will now be delivering planned works in
addition 1o response and void maintenance services



~ Since the year end, and not reflected within the 15%
contract win rate, a contract with Horme Group, to deliver
maintenance and planned works to 10,000 homes
in the South £ast The contract, which commences
in April 2019, is valued at £200m over g 10 year
term. In addition, a contract with London Borough of
Hammersmith and Fulham to deliver response and vaid
maintenance services The confract has been awarded
for o twrlve manth paricd snd ic valued ol Cém.
WhilsLurtusual for the Group to tender tor a cortract
with such & short duration, the Group sees this as a
key client relationship and is delighted to have secured
this engagement.

The Increasingly innovative nature of our Housing
Management solutions means that waork can often be
secured without the requirement for an extended, competitive
and expensive tender process. These opportunities are not
valued in the Group's pipeline or in the cantract win rate but
are increasingly material to the Group. New orders secured
during the year through this negotiated route include

~ A partnership with the London Barough of Waltham
Forest (LBWF) ta arrange the purchase and
refurbishment an their behalf of 365 homes currently
under private ownership, The key aimis to provide LBWF
with an alternative, affordable housing supply to reduce
the significant bed and breakfast accommodation cost
currently being incurred. Mears has engaged funding
partners to finance the purchase of properties on
hehalf of the client, while il will carry out refurbishment
works and act as managing agent for the portfolio.
The contract will be operated by LBWF and Mears for
40 years and the arrangement is valued at circa £75m.
Whilst the contract did not go live until August 2018,
the property acquisition facility enabled the Group to
start purchasing properties in March 2018 and by the
year end, the Group was ahead of schedule having
completed the purchase of 65 properties with a strong
acquisition pipeline.

- A partnership with CBRE Global Investors and 'Step
Forward', a property company established by former
service personnel who are seeking to provide affordable
harnes for ex-service personnel and enable Local
Authorities to meet their duty under the Armed Forces
Covenant. The proposal is that, under a nomination
agreement, a Local Authority agrees that for each
s106 affordable housing unit, prionty will be given to
former and current service people. CBRE has created
an investment fund of arcund £250m and anticipate
acquiring 2,000 properties over the next twao years
ta place into this arrangement. Mears, through its
Registered Provider, manages the housing, assuming
responsibility for rent collection, occupancy and asset
management over a 22 year period, whilst ensuring
that the conditions of the 5106 planning consent are
met. Based on proparty numbers of 2,000 this would
equate to revenues of in excess of £100m aver the
contract term

Planning Portal

Case study

Innovating to help our public sector partners

The national Planning Portal is run by Mears Group subsidiary,
Terraquest. The Planning Portal has helped to transform the
planning process, making information and services simpler
and more accessible for those involved in the process, be they
applicants, agents or Local Authotities.

In 2018, we made a number of significant service
improvements, for which we now make a small charge
to each application.

By working in partnership with every Local Authority across
England and Wales and focusing on delivering a quality service
to our customers, we wilf continue to be the national home of
planning and building regutations information and the national
nlanning application service.

4

The National Planning Portal, run by
Mears, processes the vast majority
of planning applications in England
and Wales. We work to make planning
faster and more efficient.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018
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Strategic report
Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

Balmoral Place

Case study

20
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Building places where Care and Housing work together

We have buiit on our waork to integrate housing and care
contracts, at the front line delivery of service but also in the
creation of new specialist accommodation, such as supported
living housing and extra care property.

Mears combines its skills to build, manage, maintain and
provide care to speciaily adapted homes for elderly and
disabled peaple ta help them live independently.

These schemes are not new, but there is renewed interest
as Local Authorities look for innovative ways to look after

vuinerable peonle and increase their health and wellbeing.
Our extra care scheme ~ Balmoral Place, opened in 2018,

with more opportunities in the pipeline.

Balmoral Place is an extra care housing scheme offering

an affordable, positive lifestyle choice for alder people in
Northampton. The scheme provides a safe, secure and vibrant
community for thaose over 55, who want ta live independently
with personalised care designed for their needs.,

Mears Housing Management is responsible for the day-to-day
running and maintenance of the scheme. Mears Care is on site
seven days a week 1o provide a care and support service to our
customers. Balmoral Place has an gn-site manager, care team
and 24-hour emergency alarm response service.

Order book

The order book stands at £3.2bn (2017: £2.6bn). The order
book increases as the Group secures new work and
reduces as works are delivered. The increase of £600m
reflects new orders secured of £1.3bn together with the
order book of £200m acquired on the acquisition of MPS
hefore deducting revenues deliverad during 2018.

Bid pipeline and contract expiries
Having concluded on the AASC tender, our bid team

have moved their focus towards the Group's other major
bidding opportunity with the Ministry of Defence (MaD}).
The provision of gquality, affordable housing for the Armed
Forces and their families is integral to the Armed Forces
Covenant. With the current contract due for renewal and
the procurement methodology being significantly different
from past MoD tenders, Mears views this as an exciting
oppartunity 1o becormne a key provider of management,
maintenance, repairs and upgrades to the UK Armed
Farces' housing in the UK. A total of 5 housing-focused lots
are up for tender of which any hidder can win a maximum
of three. All lots are being let for an initial 7 year period with
an extension option far a further 3 years. The lots include
ane national housing management lot and 4 regionaf
repairs and upgrade lots. The bidding process will last

for much of 2019 and the MoD proposes to announce
successful bids in the Spring of 2020 with contracts due
1o commence in the Autumn of 2020.

Elsewhere across the Group, the pipeline of traditional
opportunities continues to flow at a consistent level with
around £1 billion of new work expected to be tendered this
year. The Group is well placed on a number of these and
expects to deliver a contract win rate, by value, in line with
historical narms of ane in three

The Group has enjoyed a recent period where few existing
contracts having been up for renawal. As announced
previously, 2019 will be a very busy period for re-bidding
existing contracts with an annual value of £115m up for
renewal in each of 2020 and 2021. This represents some
risk over the medium term, though a number of these
retenders also provide an opportunity ta secure increased
revenues and better terms.




£1.3bn

QOrders secured

£3.2bn

Forward order book

+15%
2019: Target
revenue growth

0,
4.5%
2019: Target
operating margin

Guidance and outlock

As discussed above, the Board expects 201910 seea
change of pricrities for Mears. We will reallocate our capital
to those areas of the business which deliver the best
financial returns or use it to reduce debt levels.

The Group expects to deliver strong growth in revenues

for 2019 and may exceed £1bn for the first time ever.

Within this, Housing Maintenance revenue will grow,
bolstered by the acquisition of MPS, however we will take
the opportunity to exit a number of contracts which are

not delivering their anticipated margins We expect to see
growth in Housing Management revenue across a numbyer
of areas, predominantly through the new AASC cantract
which will start 1o make a significant revenue contrnibution
during the secand-half. The Group will continue to explore
ways in which it can contribute to its clients Housing
Development needs butin a manner that creates value for
both parties without placing a strain on the Group's balance
sheet. The decision to reposition the Develapment activities
will result in some reduction in the rate of revenue growth
previously expected from this activity in 2019. The Care
division may see a further reduction in revenue as we
continue 1o focus on service delivery and profitability rather
than revenue growth.

While noting the expected trends in revenue highlighted
above, Mears expects to make satisfactory progress

in profitability far 2019. Underlying margins across the
Housing Maintenance activity will be broadly unchanged
Similarly, the underlying margin in Housing Management
will also be maintained at the level of the previous year.
However, while costs relating to the mobilisation of

the AASC contract are recoverable, any material profit
contribution from this contract may not arise before
2020 The actions being taken in respect of Development
activities may result in a small loss in 2019. Meanwhile, the
focus in Care will be to continue to deliver the solid margin
progression delivered in the previous year.

For 2020, Group revenue 1s expected to show strong
growth as the full yearimpact of the AASC contract comes
through and more than offsets the reduction in activity
fram Development. The Group expects to deliver growth in
Maintenance although the number of contracts to be rebid
may provide 8 headwind in this area. Profit growth wil} be
driven by the full year contribution of the AASC contract
which is expected to reach a typical Housing margin
during that year. It is expected that this profit growth will
he augmented by the continuing improvement in MPS as
its integration progresses.

The Board expects the actions being taken to result in
a reduction in average net debt in 2019. We will look to
continue this downward trajectory through 2020 with

a target average net debt for a 12 menth period, whose
midpoint is na later than December 2020, to be below
EBITDA for the same period.
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Strategic report
Year of achievement

At Mears we are proud to
have been awarded and
accredited by outside bodies
through rigorous testing.

Our commitment to safety,
our staff and providing social
value to the communities we
work in all make us stand out
from the crowd

22 Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018
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tpas

Tpas Quality Standard Mark

Mears is proud to have maintained its Thas Qualily Standard
Mark, passing the three-yearly assessment every time
since 2006. The Tpas accreditation demonstrates Mears’
commitment to supporting landlords and encouraging
lenant involvemnent. This Quality Mark for contractors is
an assessment of the standard of resident involvement

In responsive repaits, ndinlertance and capital works
contracts which ensures best practice for three
consecutive years.

Areas of Mears’ good practice which were highlighted
inciuded tenant conferences and the Mears Change Club,
which involved residents in developing Mears policies
and procedures.

[l
4
n

CUSTOMER
Lt
EXCELLIMCE

Customer Service Excellence accreditation

Customer Service Excellence (CSE) aims to bring
professional, high level customer service concepts into
commaon clirrency with every customer service by offaring
a unigue improvemant toal to help those delivering
services put their customers atthe core of whal they du.

Care and Housing go through a rigorous assessment

on an annuaj hasis and have successfully achieved this
accreditation year on year tor the past six years. 1hey are
assessed on their current service delivery and on how
they have made service improvemertls on the previous
year's performance. Care has heen awarded accreditation
across all of the five CSF standards, with nine Compliance
Plus awards. 36 Housing branches have successfully
gane thrauah the acereditation and have undertaken three
1lliary programmea en all five ortena,



¢y

R&SPA
Chedars of
Distisetian

Royal Society for the Prevention of Accidents

In 2017, Mears was awarded the Highly Commended
Industry Sector Award (making 16 consecutive Golds}
w1 lhe prestlgious annltal seheme run by RoSHPA.

Health and safety is paramount lo our business, and the
achievernenl uf bull uf these awards bears testament

to the significant cormnmitment that Directors, managers
and staff have to the health and safety activities within
the Croup. [t gives recognition Lhal Mears Group is one

of the leading companies in the UK devoted to continually
improving safety, health and environment standards.

@

FTSEdGooad

FTSE4Good

Mears Group has been recognised for its outstanding
environmental, social and governance practices by
gaining a place in the FTSE4Good Index — which places
Mears in the top 9% of companies in the index.

FTSE4Good is an initiative run by FTSE to provide an
independent measure on the environmental, social

and governance (ESG) practices of companies on its
global index. [l was sel up to cater for a growing number
of investors who want access to a list of companies
recognised for being involved in socially responsible
investment (SRI).

Organisations hoping to be included on the list must
supply robust and detailed evidence on how they fulfil
the indea’s key indices, which focds on three areas: the
environment, human rights and stakehnlder relations.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018
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Diversity Network

Mears is very proud to have been awarded Diversity
Network Accreditation (DNA). DNA is a forward thinking
and outcome-based accreditation framework. It is an
independent, robust and comprehensive assessment of
how an organisation deals with equality and diversity.
Achieving BNA is recognition from the Housing Diversity
Network, the leading specialist body in the sector, that
an organisation has effective leadership and processes
in place and that they are achieving pasitive outcomes
for those who work for them and their customers.

frHiE S s

25

Best Companies

In 2019 for the first time, Mears has been accredited by
the Sunday Times Best Big Companies, as being one of
the top 25 big companies to wark for in the UK. For us this
is only the beginning. We will work on an action plan in the
coming year to build on our work and aim to come even
higher in 2020.

The Sunday Times Best Companies aims to create a true
measure of workplace engagement to build a happier,
healthier workforce.

fis lists and accreditations are now recognised as
the standard in workplace engagement, with specific
categories for small, medium-sized, large and
not-for-profit arganisations, and one dedicated

to Housing Associations.
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Strategic report

Listening to our stakeholders

Stakeholder engagement is central to
our strategy. We are focused at delivering
positive outcomes for all our stakeholders

Clients

How we engage

QOur clients are from Central Government,
Local Government, Housing Associations
and the NHS. Cur model has always been
based on establishing long-term partnerships
that address the significant challenges

and opportunities faced by our clients.
Transparency and responsibility are &t the
heart of our approach and we focus on
solutions that establish sustainable solutians,
rather than quick fixes.

Stakehoider expectations

The partners we work with expect a trusted
partner that can contribute to strategic
thinking as well as deliver excellent operational
solutions that improve service and lower long-
term cost, Increasingly partners are looking for
good governance, a strong financia! position
and high levels of social responsihility

Relevance to business model and strateqy
We operate as trusted long-term partner

ta the public sector. As partners we have to
demanstrate that our values complement their
own. We are not like many other outsource
organisations, in that both the focused nature
of our services and the cultural fit with our
clients continue te position us te win major
new contracts, such as with the Home Office,
and 1o retain \ong-standing contracts in the
way that we do. We are afso careful to not
continue with contracts where values are not
aligned, as demonstrated by us handing back
sorme Care contracts in recent years.

Tenants and service users

How we engage

We have a lang track record of listening to
the needs of our end customers and having
service solutions that address their needs
effectively. Centrally, we have & national
Change Club, made up of tenants from across
the UK, who look at strategic service issues
and support improvement. At a local level,
every branch is charged with having a plan to
engage with focal peopie This will be through
reguiar tenant meetings as well as learning
from the 80,000+ surveys that we carry cut
each year. We benchmark our engagemnent
methodologies through Tpas and have long
been a leader in this field.

Stakeholder expectatiaons
Our tenants and service users expect to be

part of developing solutions rather than to be
simply a recipient. In Housing, expectations for
engagement are rising, given issues identified
post Grenfell and this is hkely to lead to greater
requirements going forward, which we will

fully support. In Care, every service user has

a personalised care plan, where gach person
directly contributes to the nature of their care

Relevance to business model and strateqy
As an organisation with a clear objective to

e the leader in terms of customer service,
wherever we operate, this cannot be done
without good engagerment. Qur outstanding
customer service performance is a testament
10 ouF SUCCESS
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Communities

How we erigage

I terms of communily commitment, every
branch is tasked with developing a social value
plan for their area, which demonstrates where
we will add value to the community, often
over and abave any contract commitments.
This might be warking with local schools

to encourage and sUPROTT YOUNg womer,
thinking of an apprenticeship, or working with
local charities to support people whao have
become socially isolated. The detail of gur
work is shown in the Sozial value section of
this report.

Stakeholder expectations

Stakeholders expect, given their long-term
caommitment, that we contribute positively to
the communities in which they live. They want
us to help local peaple inta work, to upskill
people and to work with them to address lacal
issues where we can.

Relevance to business madel and strateqy
Being a socially responsible organisation
with a firm commitment to supparting
communities is essential to being a valued
pariner ta our clients. Establishing strong
community links also helps us attract the
right pecple into our workforce and ta
establish links with other community-based
arganisations, which can contrnibute to our
service offer



-

Colleagues

How we engage
We are proud ta be on the list of the Sunday

Times 25 Best Big Companies to Work Far.
We have a national Workforce Group that is
responsible for setting the approach to staff
engagement and each local branch has a
People plan, which sets out what it will doin
each year. We have an Employee Directer who
sits on the Mears Group Beard, which also
helps ensure that the views of the warkfarce
are listened to and actioned.

Stakeholder expectations

Qur staff want to work for an arganisation
that values them and the communities in
which they live. They want an organisation
that treats people fairly and gives them

the opportunity for personal development
Our staff really appreciate the fact that when
they do a good job, they do help make a
difference to society as a whole, given that
better housing and care can make such a
difference to the wellbeing of so many people

Relevance to business model and strategy
Our workforce engagement is built around
the Mears 'Red Thread' model, which works
to establish the type and culture of workforce
that we know will lead to both customer and
financial success

Suppliers

How we engage
We work In partnership with clients and we

reflect this way of working with our suppliers.
We focus on keeping our promises to them,
be that how we pay them or the commitments
we make in tarms of helping them grow their
business. We challenge them to operate to

the same social value approaches that we do
and have a clear supplier Charter that sets out
our expectations from them. We recognise
that all suppliers cannot be at the same level
as ourselves but will support them where we
can to improve. As you would expect, we set
appropriate controls to ensure work guality
and complance standards are defivered to
our expectations. We also have an established
approach to setting up new suppher
arrangements, to ensure that both parties are
clear on responsibilities and risks.

Stakeholder expectations

The most important thing for our suppliers

is that we keep the promises that we make to
them. This means that we set out clearly what
is expected in conjunction with our supply
partners and that we keep our part of the
arrangement in a fair and transparent way

Relevance to business model and strategy
Our supply chain s fundamental to the
success of our business, both in the provision
of materials and in the delivery of services
under our leadership.

©),

Investors and bankers

How we engage

The Company is committed to maintaining
good communications with investors. There is
an active programme of communication with
existing and potential shareholders. There is
increased dialogue with institutional investors
following the publication of final and interim
resutts, which is facilitated through a series of
formal presentations. The Company has also
looked to hold additional investor days during
the year to ensure that they are better infarmed
of market and Company developments.

The Group reqularly receives and responds to
questions raised by small private shareholders
through the investor enquiry portal within the
Group's website The Group holds regular
meetings with its funding partners.

Stakeholder expectations

Qur sharehalders and bankers expect the
Group to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance. Mears recently achieved a very
high rating from FTSE4Good, which assesses
listed company policies and procedures on
secial impact, environmental impact and
governance. Our shareholders require Mears
to deliver sustanable profitable growth,

with good generation of free cash flow and
dividend growth.

Relevance to bysiness model and strategy
Qur funders are fundamental to the Group's
success. Mears has utilised equity to complete
a nurnber of acquisitions, most recently MPS,
ILS and Marrison. The Group's arganic growth
strategy has been funded through both debt
and retained earnings, none of which could
have heen delivered without shareholder and
banker support.
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Strategic report
Our market drivers

Responding to a

changing environment

Housing market

Expenditure - by Local Autharities and private
Registered Praviders in England, Scotland and Wales
(based on official estimates):

2015/16 201617 2017118 2018/19
Housing
Management £7.1bn £7.0bn £7.0bn £7.0bn
Reparrs &
Maintenance £4.5bn £4.5bn £4 4bn £4.4%n
Capital works/
major repairs £1.70bn £15bn £1.4bn £14bn
Total £13.4bn  £13.1bn  £32.8bn  £1Z.8bn

The market for our housing services is stabie with
potential for growth. Currently £12.8bn is spent on
housing management, maintenance and major works.
Following the publication of the Social Housing Green
Paper with a broad commitment from Government to
social housing, we anticipate that dernand from Local
Government partners and Housing Associations will grow.

Social housing build is seen by Government as an
engine to reach ambitious housing build targets.

The Green Paper discusses the next stage of the Decent
Homes Programme and the Treasury has committed
funding to social housing build through the Housing
Infrastructure Fund.

The debate around homelessness has been recognised
an the political agenda, supported by the Homelessness
Reduction Act 2017. But this is an issue which is
growing, with 95,792 households in temporary
accommodation in the UK. With no commitment for
funding of temporary accommodation new build, we
must continue to find innovative solutions from cusrent
stock alongside our partners.
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Care Mar kel

Value of supply of homecare and supported living by
sector and age, England and UK estimate 2016/17
(source Laing Buisson):

Allclients  All clients
aged aged Total
18-64 65+  cliepts
Total market value
{UK estimate) £3,926m  £5,182m £9,109m

The market for our Care services is also growing,

with the homecare and supported living market value
estimated at £9.1bn. Funding for care has increased in
bath cash and real terms since 2016 and we expect this
trend to continue.

An ageing population means the need to find new
solutions for caring for people in older age is pressing.
The number of people eligible for social care will
ingrease by 30% by 2022. Forecasts predict there wil}
be a more than 20% increase in people aged aver 85 by
2028; by 2039, the average number of households with
people over 75 is predicted to double.

We need legislative change urgently to place sacial
care on a sustainable funding settlement. The Social
Housing Green Paper on funding and sustainability
has been delayed since summer 2018 and is now
expected to be published in the coming manths.
Legislative certainty on funding will provide our care
business with the certainty the whole market needs
to continue to grow.




Mears'

market
position

i

Best placed to deliver housing Market-leading and sustainable
growth and repairs care provider

Being a strategic partner to the public sector, in Care, we provide a comprehensive range
we are uniquely placed to meet the challenges of homecare and complex care services ta

of affordable housing and social care in the aver 15,000 people a year, enabling older and
21st century. The Government has committed disabled pecple to continue living in their own
to provide a boost to the number of social homes. This amounts to over 5.5 million hours
homes and a "deepening commitment to of care delivered per year.

those who hive in them”. The Social Housing
Green Paper refers to the next stages of the
Decent Homes Programme and the expansion
of the housing supply.

(&

A 4

Best placed partner for repairs Leading provider of housing with care
Mears is the clear leader with a market We have built on our work to integrate Housing
share of circa 10% and growing, following and Care cantracts, at the front line delivery
our acquisition of MPS. of service but also in the creation of new

specialist accommaodation, such as supported
living housing and extra care property.

S ;

Largest provider of innovative Largest private Registered
solutions to tackle homelessness Provider in the UK

Almost 79,000 households are currently living Mears owns and operates two not-for-
in temparary accommodation, including bed profit Registered Providers, Plexus and
and breakfasts, hostels and private rented Omega Housing. Our partnerships allow
accommodation. This s an increase of 4,000 us, as a Registered Pravider, to contract
since last 2018, Mears is the leading provider with Councils to provide homelessness
of innovative solutions alongside our partners prevention, with settled and temporary
in Local Government accommodation solutions.
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Strategic report
Our market drivers continued

Critical market factors that
influence performance

Drivers Potential opportunities and risks

Political and economic fandscape ~ Greater commitment to affordable and social

~ Social Housing Green Paper published - includes housing evident ) )
more powerful tenant voice and regulation; lays ground - Commitment tn implement the Hackit! Review
for next stage of Decent Homes Programme and of Building Regulations and Fire Safety in full
safety; expanding hame ownership; and treatment ~ Nerenf Hnme:s Programme next stage likely
of complaints 10 create additional workstrcams

~ Green Paper on Social Care expected in coming months ~ Some workforce issues and delays ta legisfation
~ Brexit uncertainty as a result of the distraction of Brexit

~ Mergers of larger Housing Associations

~ Impact of Grenfell tragedy

~ End of austerity spending from Government

Ris[ng leve]s of homelessness ~ Inhevative and rapid sululivng needed yiven likely

. continued slow growth on new hyuild provision
due to housmg shortage ~ Homelessness still growing - 79,000 in 2018

~ Target to build 300,000 homes per year and
planning reforms ta streamline process
~ Brexit creating some funding uncertainty

Demog;aphic change ~ More specialist housing needed to limil escalating
cost to the NHS and social care sector

~ Care spend rising in cash and real terms — Social
Care Green Paper is overdue but its eventual
publication will provide the opportunity to create
a long-term and sustainable funding regime

~ The pace of change an ¢care funding is slower
than needed

Rising customer expectations ~ Customers' quality, communication and speed
~ Collapse of Carillion wapevlations continuc fo inoreaso

~ Rising tenant expectations - Stronger tenant voice demanded by Social Care
~ Post-Grenfell focus on social value across the market Green Paper )
~ Some reluctance ta autaource following Carillion
~ Opportunity to demonstrate the core strengths
of our hiisineas madel
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Mears’ response

= Continuing o deliver market-leading service and not ~
campromising on pricing
Fully enyayed un Sucidl Housing Lreen Haper to ensure ~
best outcomes ~
~ Growing our share of the repairs market with the acquisition
of MPS
~ Market-leading approach to workforce engagement shown
by Sunday Times Best Companies accreditation

Addressing client pressures from growing regulation
and compliance

Range of outsourcing madels to suit varying client requirements
All divisions ready to capitalise on Government spend increase

~ Increasing the supply of more affordable homes ~
~ We have haroma tha loading provider of cosl-effeclive ~
homelessness solutions

~ Creating temporary accommodation from current building ~
stack rather than waiting far pipeline

Broadened footprint to areas of specific need e.g. MoD, Asylum
Improving planning efficiency through the national

Planning Portal

Our housing providers Plexus and Omega now represent the
largest Private Registered Social Landlard in the UK

~ Focused involvement with homecare, where Councils ~
are creating a more sustainable model ~

Development of specialist housing solutions such as extra care
Championing social care reform

~ Mears’ single focus on the tenant in their home ~

~ Renchmarking against the best across all ndusiries ~

~ Supporting regulatory chanye thal gives service users ~
a bigger voice

~  Proactively demaonatrating our approach tu vulseurcing ~

Working to continuously improve tenant engagement
Highlighted by accreditation from Tpas

Centinuing to support better communities in which service
users live

Commitment to social value and tenant engagement
through Change Club and other partnerships

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018
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Strategic report

Our business model
~ Manage housing stock
~ Innovative funding
~ Planning support

We focus on long-term
outcomes and positive
social, economic and
environmental impact

Our key resources and relationships

Outstanding partnerships

We wark with Central and Local Government as well HOUSiﬂg

as Housing Associations. Qur end service users are the .
recipients of housing services and care in the home. Strateglc
Exceptional people development
We recognise our staff ag our greatest asset.

Mears employees are skilled in delivering an excellent
service whilst showing a strong customer service ethos
and an empathy for our service users.

Market-leading technology

Qur performance is built on a hedrock of first class
IT platforms giving market-leading capability and
driving innovation.

Supply chain partners

We choose suppliers who share our values and meet
our standards. We work closely with suppliers to
develop innovative services and integrate them with our
care systems.

Financial stability

We receive funding through shareholder capital, retained
profits, debt and cash generation to run our business
and fund its activities. We have a long track record

of maintaining solid margins even during difficult
trading conditions.

Innovation

The challenge of delivering service improvements at
lower cost requires innovative thinking and the use
of technology We create and lead best practicein
our markets.

U e e g g [
S i
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Community outcomes

O
oﬁ Better place to live

-
How we
Reduced
homelessness generate
revenue
Reduced pressures
on the NHS and
more efficient public
sector spend )
Mears' revenue is generated
Improved life from payments from
chances for Government, Local Authority,
individuals Housing Association and NHS

Trust clients in respect of its
Housing and Care services.
Whilst the end service users
are at the centre of our
business model, they rarely

g pay for the service directly.
st =
~ Regenerate, refurbish’ 0
and re-purpose stock’ g
~ Intelligent maintenanée =
: - ' m The value we share
How
Investors and bankers proﬁts
@ Read more on page 25
convert
Suppliers tO CaSh
@ Read more an
pages 24 and 25
We have a long-standing
Clients record of converting profit into
&B read more on cash, utilising strong ﬂnan;ial
pages 24 and 25 management combined with
good relationships with clients
Communities and supply chain.
@ Read more on
pages h2-61
Culleagues
@ Read more on
pages 52-61

Tenants and service
HRArS

@ Read more on
page 24
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Strategic report
Our strategy

Investing in our strategy

Strategic pricrities Performance in 2018

~ Winning our biggest ever contract with the
Home Office
’ ~ Developing the national Planning Portal
~ Continued growth of our Housing Management
and New Build divisians
~ Significantly increased care margins

Deepening our client relationships
in both Care and Housing

~ 93% rated our service as excellent
_EI_ ~ CSE accreditation

Increasing quality leadership

~ Reached Sunday Times list of 25 Best Big Companies
lw Work For

@ ~ Achieved Housing Diversity Network accreditation
w ~ Recruited an Employee Director

Developing our people
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Focus in 2019 Link to KPIs Link to risks

~ |mprove win rates ~ Extending services with existing clients ~ A number of existing contracts will be

~ Create more housing with ~ Retaining contracts at sustainable pricing retendered over the next 18 months
care opportunities ~ Winning work with new clients that share ~ Continued delays in decision making

~ Continue to grow our Housing our values related to Brexit and uncertain
Management capability palitical environment

~ Ensure we mobilise the Asylum ~ Service user and client feedback ~ We continue to demonstrate that quality
contract well leads to long-term cost reductions

Ensure all MPS Housing contracts
perform to Mears service
standard expectations

Continue to improve staff retention ~ Staff retenticn ~ Uncertainty created around Brexit
Ensure that we recruit effectively to ~ Benchmarking v other organisation

maobilise new contracts ~  Ability to fill vacancies cost effectively

Continue to increase diversity at alt levels ~ Margin improvements

in the organisation

Ensure we successfully integrate
MPS staff into the overall Mears
Group, achieving efficiencies and
enhanced performance

@ Read more on pages 34-37 @ Read mare on pages 41-42
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Strategic report

Key performance indicators

Measuring our progress

Non-Financial

.

Excelient’ service tatin

(Housing)

In order for customers to recommiend us, we
must deliver excellent service. We randomly
conduct around 80,000 customer surveys
per year

Customer complaints
{Housing)

Incidents resulting from poor service result in
a complaint. We are committed to desling with
all complaints on an individual basis.

Carer churn

{Care)

The carer churn figure is calculated as the
total number of leavers during the year as a
proportion of the average carer headcount.

Results from the year

93%
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We are delighted that our service delivery has
remained at a high level. Strong performance
will ensure competitiveness as we continue to
be ranked above our peers. Our target for 2079
IS to do even better.

How we performed
2018 target

92%
o Outperformance

2019 target

>93%

\J‘Ill Linked to Directors’ remuneration

- read more on page 89

Results from the year

0.25%
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We are committed to providing our colleagues
with the skills and equipment to deliver great
service We seek to identify trends in order to
improve our overall service quality.

Results from the year

46%
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The rmain challenge in Care remains the
sourcing and retention of sufficient care
workers of good quality and this is an area
that continues to receive significant attention
The carer churn measure increasing 1s very
disappointing but we have already put in place
actions to improve this.

How we performed

20181arget

<0.27%
o Qutperformance

2019 target

<0.25%
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How we performed
2018 target

o)
30%
o Underperfarmance

2019 target

40%




Business development

New contract success

{Housing)

Contract success is measured by results of
tender by contract value. We typically tender
around £1bn of new opportunities each year
The average contract length is around six
years. In order to achieve our organic growth
forecasts, we monitor the proportion of new
contracts secured as a proportion of total
tendered works.

Qrder book
(Group)

Our arder book provides us good visibility of
those revenues secured for future periods

Itis helpful that we have long-term contracts
that allow us to plan with confidence, in the
knowledge that we have significant revenues
already contracted Itis also positive for all our
stakeholders, providing stability to our supply
chain, funders and, most impartantly, for
recruiting and motivating our workforce.

Results from the year

40%
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The Housing Maintenance division’s new bid
conversion rate was below historical norms.
We are not worried by this There has been no
lack of good quality opportunities to bid and
we are pleased with the quality of our tender
submissions Positively, we secured three
regions of the new Asylum contract, valued
at £1bn over the ten-year term. Given its size,
this has skewed the new cantract success
rate. We are pleased to have delivered against
target, but equally realise we must perform
better in 2019.

Results from the year

£3.2bn
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The order book increases as the Group
secures new works and reduces as revenues
are delivered. It will be challenging to grow the
order book in 2019 given the timing of new
bids, but we are delighted to have grown the
order book so strongly in 2018 and we would
also hope to see an increase in 2020 when the
McD tender pracess reaches its conclusion.

How we performed

2018 target
0
33%
o Qutperformance

2019 target

33%

How we performed

2018 target

£2.6bn
o Qutperformance

2019 target

£2.7bn

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018
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Strategic report

Key performance indicators continued

Financial performance

Revenue growth
{Housinqg}

Revenue represents the amounts due for
services provided during the year. In order
to measure organic growth, we deduct

incremental revenue ariging from acquisitions.

We believe thal organic growth gives a better
indication of business performance, asitis a
purer aggregation of market growth, success

in new contract bidding and contract retention.

Adjusted operating margin
{Graup}

Operating margin s the KPI used to measure
and understand the profitability of our
activities. This KPlis used to continually
monitor our Costs to ensure services are being
delivered efficiently.

Average net debt
{Graup)

Good working capital management rermains

a cornerstone of the business. The Group's IT
systerns are designed to deal with the challenges
of high volume and low value activities.

This is particularly relevant to the Group's care
Maintenance, Management and Care activities
The Group has utilised debt to find acquisitions
over the last five years of circa £60m which is
reflected in the increasing average net debt

Results from the year

-2%
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The revenue for the year is slightly lower
than our expectation In Maintenance, some
revenues expected to be delivered in 2018
were re-phased and will be delivered in 2019,
Our Development activities experienced a
challenging last quarter, with a significant
slowdown in sales activity impacting
negatively on both revenues and working
capital With the acquisition of MPS together
with the mobilisation of the Asylum contract,
growth expectations for 2019 are high

Results from the year

4.7%
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The Housing division contributed an operating
margin of 5.0%, with second half margin
reporting a small reduction following the
acquisition of MPS and costs expensed in
respect of the Asylum mobihsation. However,
Care margins increased to 3.3% (2017 0.4%)
reflecting the continued focus on service delivery
and sustainatile marging rather than revenue
growth. The blended margin fell short of target,
but did show an increase on the prior year which
is pleasing. The 2019 target is set lower reflecting
the decision to refocus the Development
activities, combined with the new Asylum

contract which is expected to break even in 2019,

Results from the year

£113m
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In 2019, we will refocus our capitat allocation
on those areas with the lowest working
capital requirement and the Board will take
active steps to reduce debt over 2019 and
2020 The release of cash from the unwinding
of Development may be phased over time,
soitis prudent 1o assume that 2020 may
shaw a mare significant reduction in net

debt than 2019,

How we performed

2018 target
0,
0%
o Underperformance

2019 target

15%

How we performed
2018 target

>5.2%
o Underperformance

2019 target

4.5%
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How we performed

2018 target

£110m
o Underperformance

2019 1arget

£105m




Growth in narmalised diluted EPS
(Group}

Normalised earnings are stated before
exceptional costs and exclude the
amertisation of acquisttion intangibles
together with an adjustment to reflect
a full tax charge.

Health and safety

Accident frequency rate

(Greup)

Providing our employees with a safe working
environment remains paramount. Qur accident
frequency rate (AFR) is calculated as the
nurmber of reportable incidents (by both
employees, service ugers and third parties)
divided by the number of hours worked,
multiplied by 100,000.

Results from the year

4%
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MNormalised diluted earnings per share of
29.06p (2017: 28.05p) reflected the increase
in profits, increasing by 4% The target for
2012 has been set to maintain earnings at this
level to reflect the expected loss in respect

of refocusing the Development activities

and the break-even forecast for the new
Asylum contract.

Results from the year

0.22
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We are proud of our record in this area and

we continue to invest in our health and safety
training, which is delivered through ourin-
house registered training provider. We place
emphasis upan all accidents and near misses,
however trivial, being reported and properly
captured, which naturally impacts negatively
on this measure. Much of this increase relates
to ah improved reporting regime. Whilst we
have fallen short of our stretch target, our
accident rates are already at very low levels
for our sector. However we will continue to
strive to deliver further improvements to this
critical area.

How we performed
2018 target

[»)
>5%
o Underperformance
2019 target
+3%
O (before impact of iIFRS 16)

|_J‘lli Lirked to Directars’ remuneration
- reagd maie on page 89

How we performed

2018 target

0.16
o Underperformance

2019 target

0.21

“."" Linked to Diectars’ rermuneration
- read more on page 89
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Strategic report
Risk management

Effective management of risks and
opportunities is essential to the delivery
of the Group's strategic objectives, the
achievement of sustainable shareholder
value and maintaining good standards
of corporate governance

Risk management process

Strategic governance

The Board

) . Namination Remuneration The Chief

Operaticnal and First line Second line Third fine
financial governance of defence of defence of defence
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The Senior Management Team

The Senior Managernent Team reviews and identifies
the key risks which may impact upon the achievement
of the Group's strategic geals and will consider how thase
risks are developing with changes in the operations,
markets and the requlatory environment.

The nature of the risk Is reviewed, mcluding the possible
triggering events and the aggregated impacts, before
selting appropriate mitigation strategies directed at

the causes and conseguences of each risk. Therisk s
assessed in relation to the likelihocd of occurrence and
the potential impact of the risk upon the business, and
assessed against a matrix scoring system which 1s then
used to escalate risks within the Group as appropriate.
The Senior Management Team has responsibility far
managing the Group's key risks.

The Board

The Board has overall responsibility for determining

the nature and extent of risk it is willing to accept within
the agreed strategy, and ensuring that risks are managed
effectively across the Group.

Risk is a regular agenda item at Board meetings and is
closely aligned to strategy review.

The Board also reviews reports on the effectiveness
of the systems and processes of risk management and
internal control.

The Audit Committee

The Audit Committee monitors the Group's key risks
identified by the risk assessment processes and reports
findings to the Board. 1t also has delegated responsibility
far reviewing in detail the effectiveness of the Group's
system of internal control policies and procedures for
the identification, assessment and reporting of risk.

Compliance Committee

Created in 2017 a5 a sub-committee of the Audit Commitiee,

its purpase is ta continue to Increase the Board's focus on
health and safety strategy and performance, regulatory
compliance and related risk management and provide

a closer link between the Board and the aperations.

Risk management function

The Group risk function, headed by the Group's Chief

Risk Officer, supports the risk management process by
oroviding guidance and support to management Group risk
also acts as the central point for the coordination and initial
review of risk assessment and risk manitaring procedures
To ensure our risk management process continues to

drive improvement, the Group risk function manitors the
onhgaing status and progress of mitigation plans on a
quarterly basis.

The Group outsources elements of internal audit and
cyber-security to external advisers. The control environment
is underpinned by a detailed scheme of delegated
respansibilities that defines processes and procedures

far the approval process in respect of decision making.
This ensures that decisions within the arganisatian are
made by the appropriate level of managament

Risk management approach

The Group’s appreach to nsk management i1s targeted
towards early identification of risks and mitigation of those
risks to reduce their {ikelihood and impact.

The Group is committed to protection of its assets through
an effective nsk management process, supported by
insurance where appropriate. Examples of assets within
scope include human, intellectual, physical property and
financial resources.

Reporting within the Group is structured so that key issues
can be escalated rapidly through the management team
to the Board where appropriate. Risks are continually
monitored, contingency plans are provided and this
information is reported through established procedures.
There 15 extensive fieldwork undertaken by risk auditors
incorporating systems review, branch visits and ¢ross-
business surveillance.

The internal control approach is destgned to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure and thus can only provide
areasonable, rather than absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss.
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Strategic report
Risk management continued

Risk management process are callated and reviewed by the Audit Cornmittee
The respaonsibility for risk identification, analysis, evaluation The financial and nan-financial risk registers are reviewed
and mitigation rests with the line management of the to maonitor the status and progression of mitigation plans;
businesses. They are also responsible for reporting and the key risks are reported to the Board on a regular basis.
rmanitoring key risks in accordance with established
processes under the Greup operational policies. Principal risks

The Board has carried out a robust assessment of the
ldentified risks are documented in risk registers shawing;: principal risks facing the Group, including those that
the risks that have been identified, characteristics of the threaten the business madel, strategy, future perfermance,
risks; consequences of the risks; the basis for determining solvency and liquidity. Risks have been identified as
the mitigation strategy; and what reviews and monitoring ‘principal’ based on the lkelihood of occurrence and
are necessary. The person(s) accountable for assessing the severity of the impact on the Group, and have
and monitaring each risk is hoted. been identified through the application of policies

and processes previously outlined. The Board is keen
We continue to drive improvements in our risk management  to simplify the reporting of risks, to ensure the risks

process. We also review our business model, core markets disclosed to shareholders are those that are considered as
and business processes to ensure that we have properly business critical or potentially catastrophic. Therefare no
identified all risks We continually review our mitigating additional risks have been disclosed in this Annual Report
actions to ensure that they are sufficient to minimise our These business-as-usual risks are monitored by

residual nsk. Key financial and non-financial risks identified divisional management.
by the business from the risk assessment processes

Prioritising our risks

The Group's risk register rates risks on a matrix scoring systerri based an their likelihood and impact,

i.e. potential severity. This severity can be measured using life and limb, financial, customer service, growth,
regulatory compliance and reputationa! criteria. Therefore, Mears measures more than simply the financial
impact of the risk. These scares are used to escalate risks and to drive the mitigation plans.

Key

Reputation . . IT and data Gross fisk

Net risk
. Health and safety

. . Peaple '

"o (O iTanddata

@©
o
c
2
5
Q
Q
[=}
k]
=
[=]
o
=
E
-
Low Moderate Seriaus Critical
>y
7
Severity of impact
U‘ll' Read more in the Corporate &%) Read more in the Report of the

governance section on page 69 Audit Committee on page /7

40 Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018



Strategic report
Principal risks and uncertainties
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Key risk movements g.

Each principal risk is considered in the context of how It relates to the achievement of the Group's strategic objectives. The risk discussion @

includes assessment of gross risk and net risk. Gross risk reflects the exposure and risk landscape before considering the mitigations in place, g

with net risk being the residual risk after mitigations. The gross risk mavement from the prior year for each principal risk has heen assessed and =

is presented below.

Mitigations in place supporting the management of the risk to a net risk position are also described for each principal risk. ::?
@
=
Q

Reputation Increased gross nisk exposure o a

Definitien Mitigaticn Well-cammunicated policy for dealing with press %

We recognise the significant commercial ~ In-house IT system developed to provide enquiries and incident management. 3

value attributable to the Mears brand operational management with a real-time ~ Care risk plans for dealing with vulnerable %.

Our success in securing larger and mare dashboard of service delivery indicators customers. 3

ggmz‘z’: ?ﬁ;g:g;ss' fhueC:sakS;PSene? f\syiulm ~ Internal augiting of KPI reporting including ~ Compliance management of bribery and

g ' putatiana mystery shoppers. corruption legislation and whistleblowing
damage in the event of failure. ‘ ) |

p ‘ I 4 d ~  Strict process in place for vetting and approval palicy

oor service defivery would camage our of subcontractors ~ Weinduct and train all new starters, This

reputation. Both our Housing and Care ‘ | : ) induct that all |

s e oo ot where© YeEoodue Sl gar s yocion eyl s

examples of poor performance are quickly _\rst,t 1518 COon mua Vy reinforced throug u ; 2]

internal communications. Group's culture.

communicated widely
~ We ensure that staff are properly trained for

their roles. We ensure that we deliver relevant
training and implement best practice,

In the environment of caring for vulnerable
people, there 1s a risk of isalated incidents
of abuse and neglect, which rightly receive
significant press coverage with the
inevitable reputational damage.

KPls asscciated with risk:
~ 'Excellent’ service rating

~ Customer complaints

~ Carer churn
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Strategic report

Principal risks and uncertainties continued

People

Definition

The Group employs over 10,000 peeple
who are critical to the success of our
contract performance. Attracting and
maintaining good relations with employaes
and the investment in their training and
development are essential 1o the efficiency
and sustainability of the Group's operations.
Delivery of strategic ohjectives increases
our abllity to attract, motivate and retain
talent. In addition, the Care division is facing
a challenging environment where the ability
to recruit and retain carers is restricting
performance,

KPls associated with risk:
~ 'Excellent’ service rating

~ Customer compiaints
~ Carer churn

Mitigation

We induct and train all new starters. This induction
ensures that all new employees understand our
strategy, vision and values. All Care staff have
access o NVQ training.

~ We regularly review and benchmark our
remuneration packages to ensure that they
rermain competitive. In Gare, we are investing
in an innovative recruitment process 1o ensure
an increase in the volume and quality of carers.
Local Care branches are targeted on a monthly
basis in the areas of recruitrent and retention.

~ At the senior end of the business, we have
increased our focus on succession planning
and increased our invastrment in senior
management development. Our senior
teadership programme has identified & cross-
section of the Group's brightest talent that we
would envisage will play central roles in our
future business.

Expansion of apprenticeships.

No change e

An annual appraisal process is completed for

all employees to ensure that all people receive
feadback in respect of their performance and

to identify future training and developrment
reguirements. We hold a nationaf accraeditation
as an Investor in People. We are continually
looking to improve our position as an ermployer of
choice by improving the level of engagement with
our employees through formal communications,
awards to recognise success, local events and
farnily fun days.

~  We are coritinually monroring our future skills
requirements.

- We reguiarly undertake empioyee surveys
to gauge employee satisfaction and
engagement, and any barriers to high level
performance

Health and safety

Definition

Prevention of injury or ioss of hife for both
employees and customers is of utmost
importance. In addition, it 1s vital to maintain
the confidence our customers and clients
have In our husiness

KPis associated with risk:
~  Accident frequency rates

~  Customer complaints
~ ‘Excellent’ service rating

Mitigation

Significant investment in the centraliged health,
safety and environment (HSE) function to
maintain consistency and quality,

~ We have comprehensive safe systems of work
which are well communicated through a robust
and coordinated internal training regime.

~ We have robust processes for inducting new
staff to ensure the importance of health and
safety 1s emphasised together with detailed
method statements for warking safely

- Creation of a Campliance Committee ta
monitor and oversee health and safety strategy
and performance, reguiatory campiiance and
risk management.

Mo change e

Closer review of huildings safety compliance

{past Grenfell} in higher nsk areas, e.g Housing

Management

~ Reqular HSE training and updates are held,
predominantly delivered by the in-house
training function.

~ Independent review of health and safety
cases by Insurers where recommendations
of change are implemented.

~ Internal health and safety auditing takes place
using third party validation.

~ A Group health and safety strategy and plan
are produced annually.

IT and data

Definition

A major incident or catastrophic event
could impact on the Group's ahility to trade.
in addition, it is essential that the security
of custamer, employee and Campany
confidential data is maintained. A major
breach af information security could have
a major negative financial and reputational
impact on the business The risk landscape
of IT and data is constantly increasing with
deliberate acts of cyber-crime becoming
maore sophisticated and frequent across

all markets,

Mitigation

The Business Continuity Plan is constanily

reviewed and frequently tested to ensure it is fit

for purpose.

~  Business continuity and IT disaster recovery
rmanagement resource is convened at short
notice to manage the response and any
associated risk ia the Group.

-~ General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR}
staering group.

Increased gross risk exposure

Information security penetration is externally

tested to recomimend improvernents which are
then implementad.
- Data Security Commiltee in place to monitar
and review hoth physical data securily and T
data security.

- GDPRimplementation pian and steering group

42
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Strategic report

Business planning and financial viability

Business planning
and financial viability

In accordance with provision C.2.2 of the UK Corporate
Governance Code 2074, the Directors have assessed the

viability of the Group over & five-year pericd A period of five

years has been chosen as it reflects the average contract
length, being a blend of an average contract length of six
years in Housing and three years in Care. Whilst the Group
halds contracts which extend beyond this time haorizan,

a period of greater than five years 1s considered too long,
given the inherent uncertainties involved

The Board considered its key risks. The principal risks are
set out on pages 41 and 42 and the most relevant of these
risks on viability were considered to be:

~ @ service delivery failure, possibly resulting in the death
or harm of a service user, with significant negative
publicity and lang-terrn reputation damage;

~ ahealth and safety failure resulting in serious persanal
injury or death of an employee or service user, leading
to significant financial penalties and significant
reputational damage, and

~ afailure in our IT systems impacting upon our ability to
deliver our services. We provide services to vulnerable
people and even 8 short period of downtime could
cause severe reputation damage. A serious system
failure could have significant impact to invoicing our
customers and collecting cash

A financial model has been built on a contract-by-contract
basis for the next 12 months and extended on a business-

by-business basis for the following four years. The five-year

plan considers cash flows as well as financial covenants.
Consideration was given to a number of key assumptions,
namely future revenue growth, operating margins and
warking capital management The assumptions were

set at levels which were broadly in-line with the current
run rates. Sensitivity analysis was undertaken to stress-
tast the resilience of the Group and its business model

to the potential impact of the Group's principal risks, or a

combination of those risks The Board overlaid the potential

impact of the principal risks which could affect solvency or
liquidity in 'severe but plausible’ scenarios.

Three scenarios were modelled:

- Scenario 1: As reported in detail in the Annual Report,

the Group has been awarded a contract in respect

of Asylum Accommodation and Support Services.

The contractis large in size, in excess of £100m per
annum. Whilst this award is of significant strategic
importance to the Group, in the event of any failure in
mobilisation, service delivery or pricing, this contract
could impact negatively on both reputation and financial
viability. A key assumption underpinning the contract
pricing relates to occupancy rates; the tender model
assumed the requirement for around 4,500 properties,
accommodating 15,000 service users. This scenario
assumes a significant deterioration in occupancy rate,
resulting in an increase in the number of properties
required by circa 30%, at an additionai cost of around
£19 5m per annum. The additional cost flows directly
ta aperating profit although the model assumes that no
steps are taken to either drive operational improvement
ar take other mitigating steps.

Scenaric 2: This scenario 1akes a negative stance in
respect of Housing Maintenance contract renewals.

As detailed within the Annua!l Report, 2020 and 2027 will
experience a high level of existing contracts coming up
for re-bid. The annualised value of these re-bids, over the
course of two years, 1s circa £225m. The Group has a
solid track-record of re-securing waork on re-bid. For the
purposes of considering the viability of the Group, the
madel has assumed that all material contracts that
come up for re-bid over this 24-maenth pericd are lost.
This loss of revenue results in a reduction in Housing
gross margin and an under-recovery in central support
overhead, resulling in a reduction in net prefit margin
from 5.0% to 4 6% 1n year 5 of the maodel

Scenario 3: a combination of both scenario 1 and 2.
The combination of both significant loss in margin
from scenano 1 and reduced revenues and operating
leverage triggered in the event of scenario 2, the
combined scenario results in a profit margin reduced
from 5.0% to 2.6%.
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Strategic report

Business planning and financial viahility continued

All scenarios showed that the Group would remain viable
even in the event of a severe business failure over an
extended period. No mitigating actions were included
within elther scenario, which was considered conservative
but not entirely realistic. Whilst the Group's operations are
entirely based in the UK, the large network of branches
reduces the risk of serious business interruption thraugh
a single failure. In addition, the Group has a broad spread
of customers — ihe largest single client is now 10% of
Group revenues, being the Asylum contract. All scenarios
have providad comfort that, while significant, the loss of a
majar client would not impact on the Group's wider viabiiity.
The Group’s existing debt facilities run {o Navernber 2022,
The future viahility review extends narrowly beyond this
date and therefore assumes that there will bhe sufficient
appetite from our existing or new funders ta provide the
required level of funding on similar terms, The Group's
average daily net debt w1 2018 was circa £113m. In all three
cases, It is forecast that the Group would have delivered

a reduction in its debt lavel at renewal cornpared with

the balance today, and it could be in a position 1o seek a
reducition in the facilities required at renewal
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The Board also considered the impact of Brexit on the
business and does not envisage any significant negative
effect impacting on the Group's viahility for the period
under review

The Board is mindful that there has heen a significant
increase in the fines that can be levied upon companies

for non-compliance in areas such as health and safety,
and data protection. Fines are discretionary based on the
nature, gravity and culpability of the company but fines are
applied based upon a percentage of Group revenue. th a
low margin business such ag Mears, any single fine could
have a significant and disproportionate impact o retained
profits. The Board taok the viaw, hawever, that, whilst such
an event could be damaging, it would not ultimately impact
on the long-term viahibty of the Group. Both health and
safety, and |T and data feature high on the Group's risk
regisier and we continually review cur mitigating actions to
ensure that we minimise our residual risk.

The Board accepts that uncertainty of results increases as
the projections cover a five-year period. However, the Board
concluded that there was a reasonable expectation that the
Group would continue in operation and would be able to
continue to meet liabilities as they fell due over the five-year
periad of business planning



Strategic report

Financial review

The Directors are taking a number
of active steps to progressively
reduce debt

e

Andrew C M Smith
Finance Director

29.06p

Narmalised
diluted EPS

22.91p

Statutory
diluted EPS

This section provides further key information in respect
of the financial performance and financial position of the
Group to the extent not already covered within the Chief
Executive review.

Alternative performance measures (APM)

APMSs used by the Group are detailed below to provide

a reconciliation for each non-IFRS measure to its IFRS
equivalent and an explanation as to why management
considers the APM to provide a better understanding as te
the Group's underlying performance. The APMs are used
externally to meet investor requirements and also used
when reporting financial performance internally.

The Group defines normalised results as excluding the
amartisation of acquisition intangibles and exceptional
costs and adjusted to reflect a full tax charge and uses
these results are used for reporting all profit and EPS
measures. This aids consistency when comparing with
historical results and enables performance to be evaluated
before non-recurring items. Investars typically reguire
results to be reported hefore the amortisation of acquired
intangibles and the Group's adjusted earnings measure
reflects this.

Amortisation
Normalised Full tax of acquired Statutory

result for year charge fntangibles Exceptional  (all activities)
2018 £'000 £°000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Sales revenue 869,843 - - - 869,843
Cast of sales {662,825) - - - (662,825)
Gross profit 207,018 - - - 207,018
Total administrative costs (166,177) - {4,434) {5,657} (176,268)
| operating profit 40,841 - (4,434) (5657) 30,750 |
Finance income 1,154 - - - 1,154
Finance costs (3,473) - - - (3,473)
| Profit for the year before tax 38,522 - (4,434) (5,657) 28,431 |
Tax expense (7,231) 2,310 - 1,315 (3,606)
Profit for the year 31,291 2,310 {4,434) {4,342) 24,825
Earnings per share
Basic 29.24p 222p (4.25p) {4.16p) 23.05p
Diluted 29.06p 2.20p (4.22p) (413p) 2291p
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Strategic report
Financial review continued

£22 5m Amortisatioh Statutory Statutary
. o Normalised of acquired (continuing  (discontinued Statutory
fnitial consideration result for year  Fulltax charge intangible activities) activities)  (all activities)
for MPS acquisition 2017 £000 £000 £'000 £ga0 £'000 £'000
Sales revenue 900,184 - ~ 900,184 - 900,184
£11.1m Cost of sales (676,482} - ~ (676,482) - (676,482)
Final Deferred Gross profit 223707 - -~ 223,702 - 223,702
consideration Total administrative costs {184,551} - {10,638) {195189) - (195,189)
in respect of :
Operating profit 39,151 - 10,638 28,513 - 28,513
Ornega acquisition L a 9P ! ( ) J
Finance income 751 - - 751 - 751
Finance costs (2,780} - - {2,780} - (2,780)
Profit for the year before tax 37122 - (10,638} 26,484 - 26,484
Exceptional items - - - {16,500) (16,500)
Tax expense (6,682) 2,367 - (4,315) 3176 {1,139)
Profit / {lass) for the year 30,440 2,367 (10,638) 22169 (13,324) 8,845
Earnings per share
Basic 28.29p 23p {10.32p) 20.28p (12.93) 7.35p
Diluted 28.05p 2728p {10.23p) 2010p (12 81) 7.29p
Acquijsitions Contingent consideratian is payable 1 2021, up to a
{i).Certain business assets and contracts from the maximum of £12.5m, based upon a multiple of three times
property services division of Mitie applied to the total net profits generated by the acquired
In Novernber 2018, Mears completed the acquisition of business during the 24 manths following completion,
certain business assets and contracts fram the property and after deducting the initial consideration of £22 5m.
maintenance business of Mitie, with the acquired business Based upon the forecasts prepared for the earn-out period,
branded as MPS Housing (MPS"), as detalled in the Chief the Directors have astimated that further consideration will
Cxecutive Review. The initial cash consideration was £22.5m be payable of £2.0m and which would become payable
and was funded through an issue of approximately 6.8mnew 2027,
ordinary shares, The business was acquired on a cash free,
debt free basis, with a target net asset value, based on the (ii) Omega Group of companies
sellers” accounting policies, of £12 3m In January 2018, deferred consideration of £11.1m was
paid in full and final settlament of all deferred consideration

Whilst the acquisition was a share transaction, there

was a business transfer into a newly incorporated

vehicle immediately prior to completion This transaction
structure added a layer of cornplexity but positively
reducedthe Group's exposure 1o risks associated with
share capital transactions, such as pensions, taxation and
legacy activities.

The fair value of the net assets acquired, hased upon Mears
accounting policies and reflecting a level of conservatism,
is estimated to be £7.1m and after recognising intangible
assets of £17.4m and deferred tax of £3.3m, goodwill of
£3.3m was recorded. Given the proximity of the acquisition
to the year end, the Directors have not concluded their
assessment of the assets and liabilities acquired and this
estimate remains provisional and will be finalised during
2019 Ingvitably there will be both positive and negative
variances as judgernents and estimates are revised in light
of changing circumstances,
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relating to the 2014 acquisition of Omega.

Exceptional items
Exceptional items are items which are considered outside

normal operations They are material to the results of the
Graup either through their size or nature, These iterns
have been disclosed separately on the face of the income
Staternent to provide a better understanding as to the
underlying performance of the Group

2018 2017

£m £m

Restructuring costs 3.6 -
Non-trading legal costs 21 -
5.7 -

The Group has carried out a review of its central support
structures to ensure they reflect the changing nature of
the business and that they are efficient and deliver value.
The review identified annualised savings of approximately
£5.0m and these have been secured in the year. The costs
associated with this restructure of £3.5m have been
accounted for within exceptional items,



£4.4m

Acquisition
intangible
amortisation

£2.3m

Net finance charges

The legal costs relate to two matters. Firstly, the Group
committed to enter into a lease on a property in the
course of construction. The property required completion
by September 2018. Mears has incurred litigation costs

of £1.8m as the construction of the property was not
complete by the contractual date and is not compliant with
fire safety regulations leaving the Group no option but to
defend its position robustly The Group will not compramise
the safety of tenants for any reason The Directors are very
confident as to a successful outcome to this litigation and
a proportion of these fees would be recoverable in such

an event. Given the size of this single item, and the unique
circumstances of the matter in dispute, the Directors
believe it should be accounted for as an exceptional item.
Costs of £0.4m relating to the acquisition of MPS are also
included as exceptional on the basis they are non-trading

Amaortisation of acquisition intangibles

2018 2017

£m £m

Carrying value at 1 January 9.6 198
Rewvisians / disposals - 04

Recogrised on acquisttions during

the year 18.0 -
Amortisation (4.4) (10.6)
Carrying value at 31 December 23.2 96

A charge for amortisation of acquisition intangibles of
£4.4m {2017 £10.6m) arose in the year. The charge

has reduced significantly on the prior year reflecting

few acquisitions over the last three-year period and

the subsequent reduction in carrying value of acquired
intangibles. The acquisition of MPS in late 2018 will result in
anincrease In amortisation in 2019 to 2021 The remaining
unamortised value of £23 2m (2017: £9.6m), predominantly
relating to order book and custorner relationships, will be
written off over their estimated lives.

Net finance charge

2018 2017

£m fm

Finance costs {3.5) (2.8)
Finance income 0.4 0.3
Pension income [1:) 05
{2.3) 2.0

A net finance charge of £2.3m has been recognised in the
year (2017 £2 0m). The finance cost in respect of bank
borrowings was £3.5m (2017: £2 8m), reflecting a higher
level of average debt.

The Group held two interest rate swaps covering 2018

The first, which ran throughout the yvear, fixed a rate of
0.84% on £40.0m of borrowings and expires in December
2020. The second, which commenced in August 2018, fixed
arate of 096% on £30.0m of borrowings The remaining
debt bore a variable LIBOR rate. The Group pays a margin
of 1720-220bps over and above LIBOR, subjecttoa

ratchet mechanism.

The net finange costs also includes a net credit generated
from defined benefit pension accounting of £0.8m
{2017, £0.5m).

Tax expense

2018 2017
£m fm
Current tax on continuing
activities recognised in
income statement (1.2) 5.3

Deferred tax on continuing

activities recognised in

income statement 4.8 (1)
Current tax on discontinued

activities recognised in

income staternent - (3.2}

Total tax expenses recognised In
Income statement 3.6 11

Profit before tax and
amortisation of acguired

ntangibles 38.5 371
Profit before tax on continuing

activities 28.4 26.5
Effective current tax rate

on continuing activities (4.1%) 201%
Taxes paid / {received) (0.7} 38

The headline UK corporation tax rate for the year was 19.0%
(2017-19.3%) The total tax charge for the yearrelating to
continuing operations was £3.6rm (2017: £4.3m) resulting
in an effective total tax rate of 12 7% (2017: 16.3%). The key
reconciling iterns to the headline rate were the utilisation of
brought forward losses where the deferred tax impact had
not previously been recognised, an annual corporation tax
deduction in respect of share options and adjustments in
respect of the prior year estimated tax charge. The current
tax credit for the year on continuing operations was £1.2m
(2017 £5.3m charge), which represents an effective tax
rate of (4.1%) (2017: 20.1%). The current tax credit was
generated through the impact of IFRS 15, resulting in a
large creditin the current year, offset against the unwinding
of the deferred tax balance recognised on transition to the
new standard.
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Strategic report
Financial review continued

£1 1 3 2m Mears does not engage in inappropriate or aggressive tax
N planning arrangements. Where appropriate, the Group

Daily average ) .
v g takes advantage of available statutory tax refiefs The tax

net debt - B . .
position in any transaction is aligned with the cormmerciel
reality and any tax planning undertaken is consistent with

£65.9m the spirit as well as the letter of tax law. In situations where

Net debt at material uncertainty exists around a given tax position,

31 Decerriber 2018 the Group engages with expert advisers and, where

appropnate, advance clearance s sought from HMRC
inorder to establish the most appropriate treatment.

We value our low risk assessment from HMRC and will
continue 1o work to maintain this status through continual
review of our controls and processes.

Biscontinued activities

The results for the previous year reported a loss from
discontinued activities of £16.5m. This was in relation
1o the Mechanical and Electrical division which was

the subject of a disposal in 2013 and included an entity
operating in the United Arab Emirates (UAE). As part of
that disposal, the Group ultimately retained a beneficial
interest in 1% of the share capital of this UAE Company
due to the Group still carrying a number of perfarmance
guaraniees, which unwind as the underlying contracts
reach the end of their defects liability peried. In 2017,

a number of the performance guarantees were called,
and the Group made a provision against the outstanding
performance guarantees.

A balance is owed by the UAE company to the Group in
excess of £14m however this balance is fully provided
against. During the year, the Group has incurred cash costs
of £1.7rmin respect of the costs of litigation assaciated
with the performance guarantees. The Group is carrying
aremaining provision of £2.2min respect of the two
outstanding performance guarantees, amounting to

£3 9m, resulting in a residual contingent fiability of £1.7m
Mears does not believe that there is any justification for
the guarantee holders making a call on these guarantees,
given that the cantracts to which they are attached were
concluded several years ago However Mears is also
mindful of the challenges in managing this process in

a country that follows very different legal and business
practices Mears believes the current pasition is sufficiently
conservative, however If both bonds were to be called,
and in the event that Mears recovered none of the debtor
balance owed, this would result in a further loss to be
recognised of £1.7m This provision of £2.2m is reported
within ather creditors. The £1 7m is disclosed as a
contingent liability
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Earnings per share (EPS)
2018 2017  Change
p p %

Diluted earnings per share* 22.91 2010 +14%
Normalised diluted earnings
per share* 29.06  28.05 +4%

*Continuing activites

The weighted average number of shares for EPS purposes
was 105.1m (2017: 104.0m). The increase is predominantly
due ta the issue of ¢. 6.8 millan shares in November 20718
in relation to the acquisition of MP3 the effect of which is
pro-rated for the part-year following issue.

The statutory diluted EFS measure allows for the potential
dilutive impact of outstanding share options and reflects
the exceptional ioss reported in through discontinued
activities. The normalised difuted EPS increased by 4%
1029.06p {2017: 28.05p). Normalised earnings are based
upon continuing activities hefore the amortisation of
acquisition intangibles together with an adjustment to
reflect a full tax charge of 19.0% (2017 19.3%). We believe
that this narmalised diluted EPS imeasure better allows the
assessment of operaticnal performance, the analysis of
trends over time, the comparison of different businesses
and the projection of future performance.

Cagh flow and net debt

As referenced in the Chief Executive Review, the Board
recognises that operating cash performance is an area
which requires improvement. When the business was
simply Housing Maintenance and Gare, cash movements
were relatively predictable and whilst the focus on the
cash balance on any single day was perhaps simplistic,
nevertheless the position at the interim and year end date
was viewed as a key perfarmance metric.

As the husiness has evolved, this single day position

has become less appropriate and relevant The Housing
Development activities do not generate uniform cash flows
and the timing of payments can also have a significant
impact upon the period end metric. Accordingly, this is why
the Group has consisiently ensured that its daily average
debt measure is also disciosed The average daily net

debt will be used as the primary performance measure
going forwards

The average daily net debt for the year, excluding the
praperty acquisition facility, was £113.2m, narrowly
behind the target of £110.0m set a1 the start of the year.
The net debt at the year end was £659m (2017 £25.8m).
The property acguisition debt at the year end was £15.0m
(2017 £13.9m), with an average balance of £24.0m

(2017 £1.2m) in the year.



£210.3m

Net Assets

£0.7m

Corporation tax
inflow following
adaption of IFR515

Mears has always fostered a strong ‘cash culture, whereby
the Group operations understand that invoicing and cash
collection are intrinsically linked and that works are not
complete untii the sales cycle is completed. While the
headline cash metrics in recent periods have not been

as goad as the business would like, our core activities
continue to utilise working capital at relatively low levels.

It is pleasing that the average recevables outstanding
through 2018 showed a reduction in the three high

volume activities of Maintenance, Management and Care

2018 — 12-month average

This demonstrates our operations have good controls and
robust disciplines, supported by I T systems As discussed
in the Chief Executive Review, the warking capital absorbed
within the Development activity has been a chalflenge in
the year with average receivables increasing to £271 2m
{2017: £9.5m). The Development receivables balance
outstanding at 31 December 2018 was £33.3m which was
much of the cause for the average debt being narrowly
higher than target and the cash flow generated from
operating activities being low

2017 = 12-month average

Met working Net working

Receivables Payables capital Recevables Payables capital

£m £m £m fm £m £m

Maintenance 123.2 (104.2) 19.0 1257 (116.4) 93
Management 21.0 (19.3) 1.7 216 (21.0) 05
Development 21.2 (5.6) 15.6 a.b (2.7} 6.7
Care 19.0 (5.4) 13.6 21.7 (8.3) 135
Total 184.4 {134.5) 49.9 178.48 (148.5) 300

A summary of the consolidated cash flow is detalled below together with explanations in respect of the major movements:

2018 2017
£m £m Note
Operating profit 30.8 285
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles 4.4 1086
Depreciation and amartisation 8.2 8.3 1
EBITDA 43.4 474
Other adjustments 0.6 {0
Change in inventories (11.0) {7.5) 2
Change in operating receivables (13.9) a1
Change in aperating payables {12.5} (1.0 3
Cash inflow from operating activities 1.6 28.7
Taxes paid Q.7 (3.8} 4
Cash outflow from discontinued operatians (1.6) (@.4) 5
Capital expenditure {10.8) {92} 6
Purchase of subsidiary undertakings (37.8) (5.0 7
tssue of shares 22.1 19 8
Dividends {13.1) {12.7) 9
Interest received / (paid) (3.2) {22
Other financing and nvesting activities 2.0 (16 10
Change innet debt (40.7) {13.4})
Opening net debt (25.8) (12.4)
Closing net debt {65.9) (25 8)
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Strategic report

Financial review continued

The major movements in the year are:

1

Depreciation of £5.8m, amartisation of other intangible
assets of £2.4m and share based payments of £0 6m.

. The outflow in regpect of inventories 15 entirely

due 1o working capital absarbed in Housing
Development activities.

. The change in operating payables reflects both the

changing sales mix and good payment practices.

. Relates to the carporation tax deduction in respect

af IFRS 15, resutting in a refund of corparation tax
previously paid.

Legal and other professicnal costs incurred in the
year in relation to the discontinued M&E activity
based in the UAE. There was no impact to the income
statement. Due to release of a provision attached to
performance guaraniee.

Balance sheet
A summary of the Group Balance Sheet is detailed below together with explanations in respect of the most significant
balances and the major movements

Rl

10.

. Tangible fixed asset additions of £8.7m (2017: £8.1m)

and T development costs of £3.1m (2017, £3.7m)
however the cash flow statement only reports the cash
flows attached to this expenditure and therefore differs
from the balance sheet additions which are recognised
an an accruals basis.

Initial consideration of £22.5m in respect of the
acquisition of MPS and deferred consideration of
£11.1min respect of Omega

. Primarily the eguity placing associated with the

acquisition of MPS; £22.5m was raised less costs

and a small number of share optians exercized duning
the period.

The £12 5m paid to Mears sharehclders and £0.6m paid
inrespect of non-controlling interests,

Property assets held for resale, loans to other entities,
and discharges of finance lease liabilities.

Adjustrents

Reported MP3 Pre-MPS 2017 as for IFRS 2017 as

2018  acquisition 2018 restated 9415 reparied
£m gm £m £m £m £m Note
Goodwill and intangible assets 228.6 (21.5) 2071 2109 - 2109 1
Property, plant and equipment 25.0 (0.3) 247 22.0 - 220 2
Inventories 29.8 - 298 187 - 187 3
Trade receivables 178.2 (37.6) 140.6 1220 (31.6) 1536 3
Property assets held for resale 12.4 - 12.4 138 - 139 5
Trade payables (180.4) 277 (152.7) (167.8) - (167.8) 4

Operating net debit (65.9) 28 631} (25.8) - (25.8)
Property scquisition facility (15.00 ~ (15.0) (139) — (13.9) 5
Deferred consideration (2.0} 20 0.0 m — 11 6
Other payables {12.4) - (12 4) {10.6) - (10.6) 7
Net pensian 13.6 - 13.6 22.3 - 223 8

Taxation (1.6) 34 1.8 33 6.0 27

Net assets 210.3 {23.5} 186.8 183.9 {25.6 209.6

The major movements in the year were:

50

1.

The carrying value of goodwill of £1971m

(2017, £193.6m} is not amortised but is reviewed for
impairment on an annual basis or mare frequently
where there 1s an indication of impairment

The headroom between the carrying value of the Care
asset and anticipated future value that will be delivered
by the Care division has been low aver a number of
years. The increase in goodwill during the period relates
to the acquisition of MPS.

Group capital expenditure of £8.7m {2017: £8.1m}
includes an addition during the year of £3.6m (2017 £nil)
relating to the development of 70 maodular homes which
are currently under construction which, upan completion,
will be used to deliver a homelessness solution within
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our Housing Management activities. The homes are
expected to be completed in November 2019 ata
total cost of £5.8m. Mears is tocking for a fong term
funder to acquire these properties upon campletion.
Afurther £2.0m is expected to be capitalised during
2019. Excluding the investrment in modular homes,
the remaining expenditure of £5.1m (2017 £8.1m)
relates to IT hardware, other office equipment and the
refurbishment of new office premises. The level of
capital expenditure in respect of property, plant and
equipment in any single year has a close correlation to
the nurber of new contracts mabilised in that period.
The low level of investment in 2018 reflects a quiet
periad of new contract mobilisations.



£20.6m

taxes incurred and
pald to HMRC

£95.6m

taxes collected and
paid to HMRC

In addition, intangible assets includes the capitalisation
of expenditure incurred on developing our in-house

IT platform. Additions in the year amounted to

£31m (2017.£3.7m) with a carrying value of £8 4m
(2017. £7.7m), which is amorused over five years
Having made significant investment in our T systems
over a number of years, we are starting to see a
reduction in our development expenditure moving
forward and this is reflected in the 2018 amounts.

The majority of plant utilised by our operational teams
1s subject to short-term hire arrangements and motor
vehicles are subject to operating leases, hence neither
are included within capital expenditure or recognised as
an asset within the balance sheet. Similarly, the Housing
Management business has a large number of short-
term property leases which are similarly not carried

on the balance sheet The new accounting standard,
IFRS 16 Leases, will impact upon this treatment as
discussed below.

Trade receivables and inventaries increased to
£208.0m (2017: £172.3m). This predominantly relates
to an increase in warking capital associated with the
Housing Development activities which accounts for an
increase of £20.7m. The IFRS15 adjustment resulted in
a reduction of £31.4m whilst balances acquired on the
acquisition of MPS resulted in an increase of £37.6m

Trade payables reported an increase to £180.4m

(2017: £187.8m), however the acquisition of MPS

brought a balance of £27.7m As such, there was an
underlying reduction in payables by £16.2m refiecting
changing sales mix and good payment practice.

. The Group has secured a property acquisition credit

facility of £30m to acquire and build portfolias for
resale. At 31 December 2018, assets held for resale
utilising this facility amounted to £12.4m (2017: £13.9m)
AL 37 December 2018, the associated draw-down for
these acquisitions was £15.0m (2017: £13.9m), funding
both these assets for re-sale together with also part-
funding the modular homes included within fixed assets
as discussed above,

6 InJanuary 2018, deferred consideration of £17.1m

was paid in full ard final settlement of all deferred
censideration relating to the acquisition of Omega
in 2014. The balance at 31 December 2018 relates
to the contingent consideration in respect of the
acquisition of MPS and, subject to performance,
would be due for settlement in 2027.

Other payables predominantly refates to provision for
expected losses in relation to the insurance captive which
rnanages the Group's insurance risks. Finance lease
liabilities are also included within this category.

. The Group participates in two principal Group pension

schemes (2017. twa) together with a further 28

(20717: 28) individual defined benefit schemes where
the Group has received Admitted Body status in a Local
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).

The Group holds a number of pension arrangernents with
Local Government Pension Schemes. The accounting
treatment for these schemes follows the guidelines

set for defined benefit schemes. This does not present
the commercial reality for @ number of our LGPS
arrangements, where the Group holds back-to-back
indermnities from its clients in respect of bath 1ts exposure
to changes in pension contribution rates and to future
deficit risk These have been identified in the table below
as 'limited risk’. For the remaining LGPS arrangements
where the Group does not henefit from indemnities,

the risks attaching to these schemes matches the time
horizon of the underlying contract which, whilst not
removing all risks, does reduce the period over which

a deficit can arise. This secaond category has been
identified In the table below as ‘'medium term'’. The Group
schemes are typical defined benefit arrangements
where the Group is ultimately responsible for any deficit
resulting from movements in discount rates, interest
rates, mortality rates and investment performance.

This last category has been classified as ‘long-term’.

Group LGPS
schemes schemes LGPS

(noindemnity)  (no indemnity)  {(indemnified)

long-term  medium-term lirited-nisk Total
Number of schemes 2 13 15 30
Assets £m 1529 621 2175 4325
Liabilities £m (136.5) 64.9) (217.5) (4189)
Net surplus/{deficit) £m 16.4 (2.8) - 136
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Strategic report

Financial review continued

£13.6m

pension net surnlus

£25.6m

opening reserves
adjustment resulting
from adoption of
IFRS 9 and 15

Changes to accounting standards
IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’

Inrespect of IFRS 9, Mears does not hold complex
financial instruments and the impact of this standard on
its hedging instruments is not material. However, included
within financiat assets are trade and other receivables,
From 1 January 2018, Mears is required to recognise a loss
allawance for expected credit losses on these financial
assets. The new standard states that if the credit risk on a
financial instrument has significantly increased since initial
recagnition, the loss allowance must be reasured using
the lifetime expected gredit loss.

Given the significant majarity of our involcing is to public
sector clients, assessed 10 have a very low credit risk,
expected credit losses to this customer type are deermed
to be neglgible. However, Mears provides requlated
services to private individuals in both its Housing and Care
businesses and, as such, services cannat immediatety

be withdrawn when the Group becomes aware of an
increased credit risk. Mears has bath a moral and (egal
ohligation to cantinue to provide services whilst alternative
arrangements are heing made for thesa service users.

The difference between the previous carrying amount
and the carrying amount at the beginning of the reporting
period under IFRS 9 is recoagnised as an adjustment ta the
apening balance of equity. The impact of ihis change at

1 January 2018 is a reduction in the opening balance of
equity of £2.3m.

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’

IFRS 15 changes the timing of recognising revenue and
costs in respect of certain long-term contracts In the

case of the targe majority of aur contracts, the accounting
methodalogy will be unchanged. Mears has typically leoked
to recagnise revenue and cost at the individual works order
level, whether that be a singular maintenance order or care
visit. This has ensured that the valuation of working capital
balances is straightforward and contains fewer areas of
significant judgrnent.

However, there are a smali number of arrangements where
the Group has accounted for multiple service contracts by
treating them as a single supptly of a service This occurs
where local contract mechanics were not easily aligned
with the commercial framework of the contract. The new
accounting standard requires Mears to allocate the total
transaction price to each distinct performarnice obligation.
(n addition, a number of confracts include variable
consideration, where revenue and profit are inked 1o the
achievermnent of performance targets and milestones.

The new standard requires more detaled analysis

in deterrmining the appropriate timing of recognising

this reverive
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IFRS 15 has been applied using the modified retrospective
approach on transition which results in an adjustment to
the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2018 and no
restatement of the prior pericd. The impact of this change
in 2018 will see & reduction in the apening balance of
equity of £239m. The change to IFRS 15 has no impact
on the lifetime profitability of the contracts and there are
no cash flow impacts, although the change will drive better
alignment between the timing of profit recognition and

its associated cash Now. Moving forward, it is expected

ta have a positive impact in respect of operating profit
from 2018 through to 2027, as performance obligations
are satisfied. The impact of adopting IFRS 15 has been

o increase the operating result for 2018 by £09rmn

IFRS 16 'Leases’

The new leasing standard, \FRS 16 Leases, 15 effective from
1 danuary 2019 and will have a significant impact on the
Graup's Batance Sheet, principally due to the use of leased
vehicles and residential property for the operational defivery
of Housing Maintenance and Housing Management.

The standard provides a single lessee accounting model,
requiring lessees to recagnise assets and liabilities for all
leases unless the lease term is under 12 manths or the
underlying asset is of a low value

The Group will use the modified retraspective transition
method on adoption. Under this method, the asset is
calculated as if IFRS 16 had always been applied, however
the liability is calculated as if all leases start on 1 January
2019, which will resuit in no change to comparative
numbers but an adjustment within the reserves of

the Group

Under IFRS 16, a lessee wili recognise its right to use a
leased asset and a lease fiabilty representing its obligation
to make lease payments The depreciation cost of the
newly recognised right of use’ lease asset will he charged
1o profit within administrative costs, whilst the interest cost
of the newly recognised lease liability will be charged to net
finance costs. On the basis that depreciation is required

to be charged on a straight-line basis, whilst the interest
element is charged on a reducing balance basis, this results
In a higher charge being applied to the income staterment
in the early years of a lease, with this impact reversing over
the later years. The profil impact over the life of a lease is
neutral and IFRS 16 has no cash impact.

The Group is in the process of finalising its wark in applying
the new requirements of IFRS 16. As a result, it is possible
that there may be changes 1o estimates and judgerment
used in applying this new standard. These will be finalised
prior to the release of the Graup's 2019 interim results Jater
in the year



yod3isibaens

The current estimate of the impact of IFRS 16 to the Group, o
at the point of transition, i1s detalled below %
a
1. From a balance sheet perspective, the transitional %
adjustment will see a nght of use asset recognised of g
c.£118m, and an associated lease lizbility of ¢.£125m, g
being the present value of future lease payments z
The net liatility being recognised on transition resuits S
It an adjustment to Gpening reserves.
2. Interms of the income statement, and based on the -
existing business at the date of transition, the impact will E'
be anincrease to £BITDA by in the region of £35.0m per S
year, as the operating lease charge previousfy applied is :’T
replaced by a depreciation charge applied on a straight 8
line basts ta the right of use asset. The impact to PBT is B
expected ta be broadly neutral as leases reach maturity, 1:'3.
however the impact is not linear due to increased lease @
liability interest cost in earlier years of leases, and this
will result in a smalf reduction in profit in 2019 with this w
impact unwinding in later periods. E,::-
The adoption af IFRS 16 is particularly relevant to the :ﬁ'
Group's new AASC contract which will see the Group entar §
into around 4,500 residential property leases. It is not g
possible to estimate the balance sheet impact without an g
accurate assessment of the mix of lease lengths. However, E
as detailed abave, the impact of IFRS 16 on profits from §'

a contract of this nature I3 that profit generated in the

early years of the contract will be reduced by a higher
interest cost. However IFRS 16 should not be considered in
isolation Securing goad quality properties, cost effectively
over the long-term is a key elerment of delivering operational
outperformance and increasing the financial return,
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Stirategic report
Social value and impact

Delivering social
value in practice

Our strategy

For us, social value is not something
we simply pay lip service to. 1t is part
of our DNA, completely embedded in
everything we do. We work in some of
the most socially deprived areas of the
country and we feel a strong sense of
responsibility towards finding ways to
improve the long-term prospects of the
people who live in these communities
that make a real and positive difference
to people’s lives.

Highlights
2018: A year of growth
We have been recognised as an organisation whichis

delivering on the social responsibility agenda, but we
are never content 1o rest. During 2018, we increased
the number of social value projects we are engaged
in by 10% and continued to develop our strategy and
framework to ensure social value is truly embedded
in the Mears culture.

At a strategic level, we see social value as part of the
‘Red Thread' that binds Mears employees together
and defines the values and behavicurs we exhibit as
we go about our dajly work. Qur employees set high
standards, focusing not just on providing customer
sarvice excellence but also on acting as role models,
We believe that these values are not predicated by
academic achievement or social position, but instead
are influenced by attitude, character and the strong
wark ethic of our teams.

This is translated into practical action which delivers
outcomes through a framework of approaches to
effactively engage with communities on the ground
and robust mechanisms for measuring the sacial
impact that is created.
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Our goals
Qur work continues to be aligned to our four Mears’ Social
Value Priorities:

1. Fair for all

Reducing prejudice, improving
understanding of differences,
supporting social inclusion

2. Championing local

Improving the wellheing of
people and the communities
we serve

3. Creating ¢hances

Providing career, skilis and
employment opportunities

4. Healthy planet

Making a pasitive contribution
1o our planet




Our governance

How do we ensure we continue to do the right things?

Ta drive social value throughout the business, we continue
to operate cur Social Value Board, which is endorsed and
chaired by our Executive Management Team Our Social
Value Board ensures we take a strategic approach to
corporate sociat responsibility and embed it into every area
of our business. The board is endorsed by three external
experts whose role it is to challenge us to drive forward our
sogial value agenda and ta hold us to account.

Meet our Social Value Board external experts

Going forward
Focus areas for the Social Value Board in 2018 and beyond:

-~ Ensuring measurement continues to be relevant and
real. Measuring the right things within the social value
frarmework is key, to drive outcomes and impacts that
are real and long lasting.

~ Making a real impact through the Group brand, to
reinforce Mears as a leading socially responsible
business. 2019 will see us building on this through a
series of national theme campaigns developed with
the members, demonstrating the overarching work
of the Group on employability, wellbeing, diversity
and inclusicn.

Richard Kennedy
Richard is chair of the board

for Social Value UK and co-chair
of Social Value International

(4

Mears Group is an organisation which
truly understands the importance

of the social value they create both
through their core business and
community activities. In my opinion
this will future proof the business for
shareholders, customers, and the
communities in which Mears operates.

Keith Edwards

Keith is the lead associate for
the Housing Quality Network
in Wales and author of several
reports for local authorities,
national bodies and the Welsh
Government, and previously
Director of the Chartered
Institute of Housing (CIH)
Cymru for 14 years

(4

In my book we need to take a longer-
term view and make sure that what we
do has a positive impact on people and
communities. | think Mears gets this
and that’s why | am pleased to be part
of the Social Value Board.

Barry Malki
Barry is Head of Communities

for HAGT, an innovation agency
supporting the housing sector.
QOutside of this he serves on the
boards of several youth charities
and acts as a speaker for Save
the Children

(4

I hope that by working with Mears as
part of its Social Value Board, we can
steer the business to maximise the
benefits to the communities in which
it operates.
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Strategic report
Social value and impact continued

Non-financial statement

We aim to cornply with the Non-Financial Reporting requirements contained in sections 414CA and 414CB of the Companies Act of 2006.
The below table and information it refers to is intended to help stakeholders understand our position on key non-financial matters.

Commitments Community comimitment

Environmental matters

Human rights, anti-
corruption and anti-bribery

We have a clear social value plan
with four strategic priorities:

Policies and

Mears recognises and is
fully committed to reduce its

Our policies include:

~ maodern slavery and

dlhgence 1. Fair for all: Reducing impact on the environment. human trafficking;

prejudice, improving We are determined to minimise  ~ preventing engagement
understanding of differences, our carbon footprint and of child labour;
supporting social inclusion. minimise waste to landfill. ~ whistleblowing policy;

2. Championing local: Improving  \we have a commitment to ~ anti-bribery; and
the wellbeing of people and reduce landfill by 5% per year ~ gender equality.
the communities we serve. and to achieve or exceed a

3. Greating chances: diversion rate of waste from
Providing careet, skills and landfill of 95%.
employment opportunities. L i

4. Health\gr planet; Making a Our policies include:
positive contribution to ~ delivering environmental
our planet, supply chain.

We have a Social Value Board - ﬂee.t environmental p.olicy.

with independent Directors. ~ environmental reporting.

StatUS In 2018 we generated in excess We have set environmental Mears is proud of our Souial .
of £24m in social value. targets to reduce our waste to Mobility Champion status,
Mears Group has been landfill each year and we are Crealing oppur lunilies and
recognised for its outstanding cunently auliieving over 95%. enabling pcople to develop
environmental, social and Our water/effluent discharge is new skills in some of the most
governance practices by gaining only though our sthices and on- dicadvantaged and marginalised
a place in the FTSE4Good Index site colleagues. Medts Group cutnnunilies iy e UK.

- which places Mears in the top PLC doesnolielvase walel by we are commutted to ensuring

9% of companies in the index any other source. that there is na modern slavery

which measures commitment In 2018 we recycled 31,698 ar human trafficking in our

to envirohmental, social and tonnes of waste, a diversion supply chains or in any part of

governance practices. from landfill of 95.88%. our business. We are committed
Mears Group has full to acting ethically and with
visibility of its waste disposal integrity in all our business
processes across the relationships, and implementing
whole company, including and enforcing effective systems
our subcontractors. and controls.

Descnptlon Of @ Read more on pages 30-37

principal risks and
impact of business

activity

Non'ﬂnanC|aI @ Read mare an pages 30-37
key performance

indicators

Business model o

s Read mare on pages 30-31
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Employees

Health and safety

We want to be a great place to work and to place our colleagues at the very heart
of what we do.

Our policies include:

~ whistleblowing;

~ family friendly;

~ safeguarding;

~ equality, diversity and inclugion: and

~ approach to labour standargs compliance.

We aim to be industry leaders in creating a safe
working environment.

Mears aperates a full health and safety
training programrne. We fully meonitor accident
frequency rates and have a proud record on
safety within our workplaces and contracts.

Qur policies include:

~ reducing accidents by 10% per year;

~ implementing a behavioural safety and
change pregramme; and

~ increasing near miss reporting.

Mears aims to be a great place to work and we have recently heen awarded a place in the 25
Best Big Companies to Work Far in conjunction with the Sunday Times. We are accredited
as an Investar in People and have been awarded Diversity Netwark Accreditation.

Our employees are at the heart of our business and we provide staff benefits, a
commitment to a transparent pay palicy and a2 commitment to training and development.
Red Thread

Wearing the Mears badge rarries a lat of responsibility. All Mears colleagues are bound by
a common set of behaviours. We call this the Red Thread. It is in our DNA and it helps us
achieve more as individuals, as ateam, and as a compuny.

~ Mativation: There are ng limits; we can all reach our personial yoals and aspirations.
Individually and collectively we can deliver the services our custoliw s expect a ittle bit
better every day,

~ Empowerment: Great leaders are not barn; they grow, We urge cmployees Lo Llake the

Initiative, take ownership and take responsibility, and support them every step of the way.

~ Customer focus: It is very simple; we are here to serve. The success of Mears is built
on 360-degree service and appreciating that the needs of clients and customers are
complex and multi-dimensional,

~ Role models: Everyone who represents the Company is fvpected to lead by exaisple,
whether they are looking after vulnerable people or making sure the homes of clderly
tenants are properly maintained.

~ High standards: We set industry-wide standards and encourage everyone to work hard,
present themselves well and keep raising the bar. If we do, success is gquaranteed.

In 2018 we reduced Accidents Rates by over 10%
and achieved the RoSPA Highly Commended
industry Sector Award {16 consecutive Golds),
for our continued commitment to accident and
ill-health prevention.

We successfully continued our certification 1o
IS0 9001, IS0 14001 and OHSAS 18001, We also
attained a diversion to landfill of over 95%.

Qver the year we have carried out over 50,000
hours of training to ensure we continue our
commitment to improving the skills and
awareness of all employees.

We continue to improve our working practices
and monitoring regimes to ensure that we
continue to improve and look at additional ways
in which to create a safer and environmentally
friendly environment for all of our emplayees
and partners to wark.

In 2019 we will continue to challenge our
standards and look to continuously improve the
safety environment for all of our employees.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018
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Strategic report
Social value and impact continued

Felix Road charity

Delivering social value in practice
Mears Foundation

The Mears Foundation is chaired by Bob Holt, former
Chairman of Mears Group PLC, with committed support
from norninated board members from across the business
It was estabiished to help improve the lives of yaung people,
vulnerable groups, the elderly and those with significant
hiealth issues, in the UK and abraad, through practical

help, support and intervention. It aims to provide support
through volunteering and hands on help for nominated
causes, not just financial suppert. This year, teams across
the Group have been taking part in a variety of events,
specifically focusing on social isolation

Making a difference: Who has henefitted?
Silver Surfer Computer Cluh

This club supports service users to develop basic comptiter
and internet skills ta enable them to surf the net, shop
online, access social networks, hebbies and interests and
Support groups.

The idea came about when a member of staff purchased
a laptop for his 82 year old father. He realised that there
was na support available to help him learn the basics

of how to use the computer or the internet. Qur staff
member provided the support himself, helping his father
becorne proficient, even develop a foliowing on Facebook!
Seeing the impact this has had on his father’s life, the
staff member warited to provide the same benefit to gther
residents of Mears' extra care schemes.

The project aims to utilise the skills of the Mears IT team
to provide a helpline which provides basic 1T advice and
support Longer term, it hopes o work in collaboration
with a charity such as Alzheimer's Society to develop the
use of assistive technology to try and help people with
rmemory 0ss.

iPads for Young Bristol
Mears Foundation delivered iPads for Young Bristol,

a youth-driven charity working in the city.

Party time for Meet and Mingle, Stowmarket
The Mears Foundation generously donated £500 to

the Mears Care, Stowmarket's Meet and Mingle group.
This group was set up to heip with social isalation in the
local community; over the last few years day centres
have been clasing so this group has heen a big asset

to the community.

Felix Road charity
The Mears Foundation delivered a cheque to the Felix

Road charity to support its adventure playground project.
The charity opens the playground for children to use for free
and runs self-defence and martial arts classes for children
and adufts

Sacial value at Mears

Nothing demonstrates the way we are delivering social
value like the real stories of how our work is impacting
people and communities on the ground. The following
pages describe our approach and tell just some of the
stories of how we are delivering social value under each
of our four priority areas.
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Our commitment and approach to diversity and inclusion:

Gender diversity table

Addressing the shortage of women in trades
A staggering 99% of tradespeople are male; this does not

look set to change any time soon with low numbers of
women taking up apprenticeships in this area. At Mears
we are working to address the issue, along with our
social housing partners, threcugh our Tradeswomen

into Maintenance project which is working with women
to identify the barriers to getting and retaining jobs in
Repairs and Maintenance, raise awareness about the
opportunities available to wornen in the sector, and
support women already employed in trades roles.

Sarah's story
Sarah Bull is an apprentice plumber working for Celtic

Horizons, in partnership with United Welsh.

“I've always enjoyed manual work and plumbing, but |
never thought it was possible because | had never seen a
woman plumber,” she said.

"| attended college, working towards level 1 and instantly
loved everything about plumbing. While completing level
2, 1 was lucky enough to get an apprenticeship with Celtic
Horizons. While at Celtic Horizons, | have also had the
opportunity to be a Tradeswoman Ambassador for the
Tradeswomen into Maintenance project.”

Caand

R

l%@'

2017 Male Female
Board 8 3
Senior Manager 24 7
Employee 5222 6,353
2018 Male Female
Board 8 3
Senior Manager 26 8
Employee 4,789 5304

I've alwaye 2

possible bec ad never s2en .
woman piuimber,

Sa oo oull

Apprentice plumbe
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Providing career, skills and employment
opportunities

Creating chances

Mears works in some of the most marginalised
comrnunities in the UK. We recognise that we can make
a positive difference by creating chances for learning
and career development, providing individuals in those
communities with entry routes into employment.

Over the last 12 months, Mears has developed and
implemented programmes to upskilt the existing Mears
workforce as well as individuals living in the local
community who are not employed by Mears.

Heather Hughes, Head of Training and Development,
said, "l am delighted to see Mears has made a difference
to peoples' fives and provided new opportunities; it's an
incredibly worthwhile investment.

“Our training facilities and resources have been used
by various stakeholders in local communities for wide-
ranging apprenticeships and other courses, enabling
s0 many people to progress. it has been great to see
the diversity of programmes we have on offer, and the
innovative work to address the under-representation
of women in construction.”

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018

Chief Executive Officer David Miles says there are clear
business benefits for investing in apprentices.

“It's a great way of growing our own talent within the
business,” he says. "Our apprentices bring fresh ideas
and enthusiasm and keep our qualified staff up to date
with modern technology and practices. The result

is a highly skilled, loyal workforce, trained to work in
the Mears way. Ultimately, that helps us to deliver the
very best service to our customers”. David goes on to
explain that Mears' drive for running apprenticeship
programmes is not confined to business outcomes:

4

We work in some of the most
marginalised communities in the
country. At the heart of everything
we do is the desire to make a positive
difference in those communitias.
Giving people the opportunity to
learn a skill and build a career is

a great way to do that.

David Miles
Chief Executive Officer
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Improving the wellbeing of people and the
communities we serve

We work clnseby with o o inere and ollents to identity
local social value projects to get involved in

this local approach makes all the difference. Through the
revelnpment of branch social value plans, we can pusl
ha buundarles to debver real mpact, enalding indiviguals
and the communities in which we operate to flourish

and thrive.

Food-wige classes in Lambeth

Wellbeing Is a key focus, so a recent project to deliver
food budgeting, cookihg and nutrition classes in Lambeth
was a great success, with groups coming together to
learn some key skills to support their lifestyle, making
healthy meals for only £1.00.

Art sessions are a hit with young and old

A new project running at Blaise Weston Court in Bristol is
using art to bridge the generation gap between members
of the local community.

Since it started in October, the Paint Pals project has heen
bringing together the clder residents of the care scheme
and young peopte from Torwood House School each
month to work together to produce beautiful works of art.

The project was started with a £1,500 grant from the
Bristol Ageing Better Community Kick-Start Fund.
Memhers of the Blaise Weston Social Club applied for the
money, which will pay for a year of manthly art sessions,
culminating in an exhibition of the works later this year.
Beyond this, the group hopes te find additional funds to
continue the project into the future.

Bridging the generation gap

Learning key skills

Supporting the homeless in Glasgow

Qur Glasgow branch decided to help and support
the homeless people in Glasgow for many reasons.
But one event really brought it to life for us.

James's story
James, one of our carers working in Glasgow, was

supporting a wheelchair service user one day when
he found himself in a situation in a busy Glasgow
street where the wheel had come off the wheelchair
and he was struggling to get help.

The service user himself was unable to hefp because of
his lack of mobility and the pair watched as numerous
people just passed by. This was very distressing for
James as he knew he was not able to fix the chair alone
and if they were to remain in this situation, the service
user would have been at risk of harm.

Then one person did stop; a young homeless man
who came over and helped James re-align the wheel
on the wheelchair and then walked the pair to the
taxi rank to ensure that no further help was needed.
He even offered James the £5 note he was carrying
to help pay for the taxi fare tc take the service user
home. James thanked him but declined the offer

of money.

This made us all think: why had anly the vulnerable
homeless person stopped? And what could we do as
a branch to help repay the kindness of this person?

So, we decided to support two small local charities
that wark with peaple who are homeless: Alt 2
together now and H4TH (Help for the Homeless).

Fundraising, donated clothing, sleeping bags and
toiletries poured in from the teams to help support the
two charities and the people of Glasgow.

Over 100 winter survival packs, which will help peaple
living on the streets to get through the Scottish winter
were purchased from donations and fund raising.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018
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Strategic report
Social value and impact continued

Creating chances
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»

Providing career, skills and employment
opportunities

Creating chances

Mears works in some of the mest marginalised
communities in the UK, We recognise that we can make
a positive difference by creating chances for learning
and career development, providing individuals in those
cammunities with entry routes into employment.

Focus on

Over the last 12 months, Mears has developed and
impletmiented programmes to upskill the existing Meats
workforce as well as individuals living in the local
community who are not employed by Mears.

Heather Hughes, Head of Training and Development,
said, "l am delighted to see Mears has made a difference
to peoples’ lives and provided new oppaortunities; it's an
incredibly worthwhile investment.

“Qur training facilities and resources have been used
by various stakeholders in lacal communities for wide-
ranging apprenticeships and other courses, enabling
s0 mahy people to progress. It has been great to see
the diversity of programmes we have on offer, and the
innovative work to address the under-representation
of women in construction.”

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018

Chief Executive Officer David Miles says there are clear
business benefits for investing in apprentices.

“It's a great way of growing our own talent within the
business" he says. “Our apprentices bring fresh ideas
and enthusiasm and keep our qualified staff up to date
with madern technology and practices. The result

is a highly skilled, loyal workforce, trained to work in
the Mears way. Ultimately, that helps us to deliver the
very best service to our customers”. David goes on to
explain that Mears' drive for running apprenticeship
programmes is not confined to business outcomes:

4

We work in some of the most
marginalised communities in the
country. At the heart of everything
we do is the desire to make a positive
difference in those communities.
Giving people the opportunity to
learn a skill and build a career is

a great way to do that.

David Miles
Chief Executive Officer
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Skilled workforce trained 10 work in the Mears way

staking a nositive contibuiion
1o our planet

Mears is responsible for the maintenance of 15% of all
sacial housing in the UK — mare than 700,000 homes.
We visit more than 30,000 people several times a week to
deliver care and support in their homes. We recognise we
have a big responsibility to minimise the envirenrmental
impact of our activities. For an crganisation of our size,
even small changes can deliver big impacts.

Mears’ approach to positively impact supnly chain
environmental value

Delivering social value with our supply partners
At Mears, we believe we are more effective in delivering

social value where we can share resources, skills,

experience and financial support with our supply partners.

Ta ensure a consistent approach throughout our supply
chain, we expect our suppliers to have or adopt similar
husiness principles to our own. Our suppliers are required
to acknowledge the significance of social, environmental
and ethical matters in their conduct and must have

a commitment to working towards improving quality
standards and performance in these areas.

Above all, we expect suppliers to be able to demonstrate
compliance with all the UK, EU and international
legislation that applies to business operations from
modern slavery, anti-bribery and health, safety and
wellbeing laws to product specific regulations.

Saocial value: what is the future agenda focus?

Whilst the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 is
making a difference, with a greater proportion of public
sector provurernent spend being shaped by the Act and
increased focus from organisations to support individuals,
local communities and economies, more can be done.

2018 announcements from the Minister for the
Cabinet Gffice say the Act will be extended to ensure
that all Government departments explicitly evaluate
social value when commissioning services, as
opposed to considering social value when awarding
Central Government contracts. This provides

a positive indicator for later extension to Local
Government contracts and the public sector to follow.

The Social Housing Green Paper provided a sound
platform for the voice and engagement of residents
to come back to the fore, in shaping and responding
to service in their communities — again, a further
positive move to progressing the social value agenda.

Mears is excited by these positive indicators and has
already started to put plans into place to actively and
cantinually deliver more impact, at a national and
local level, through our social value activities.

We are proud of our reputation as a company that
makes a POSITIVE difference; enabling individuals
and communities to flourish and thrive.

Together we really can make Mears a
better business.

We work closaely with aur suppiiers,
who see this as & great opportunity
io collaboratively invest for tha
improvement of our commgaiiies,
We have a conynitment In
continuously increase the s
of local SME suboomiracivis
auy approved ist, ensuring
& propei fion of conbiact npend
remaing within zhe §{xf“~%s e u,.uswg
by supporting &

generation an:
employm:

T ¥
Procurement Director
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The strategic report trom pages 1 to pages 63 was approved by the board and signed on its behalf by:

D J Miles
Chief Executive Qfficer
22 March 2019
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Corporate governance
Introduction to corporate governance

An effective culture
of governance

T

Kieran Murphy
Chairman

Dear shareholder,

On behalf of the Board, am pleased 1o present my

first corporate governance report for the year ended

31 December 2018. As in previous years, we report against
the UK Corparate Governance Code {the ‘Code’) issued

ty the Financial Reporting Councit (FRC). | am pleased to
confirm that during 2018 we have fully complied with the
provisions of the Code.

Effectiveness

The Board continues 1o set itself high standards of
corporate gavernance. Qur corporate governarce report,
issuad within our Annual Report, details how we approach
governance and the areas of focus for the Board in

2018 and into the future. The Board utilises the Group's
established governance framework, based upon the Code,
to support the operation of good governance practices
throughout the Mears business

In accordance with the Code, the performance of the
Board, its Committees and individual Directars is evalualed
on an annual basis, with the 2017 evaluation being
externally facilitated.



Changes to the Board
At the 2018 Annual General Meeting (AGM), the Board

said farewell to Peter Dicks, Non-Executive Director.
Having reached nine years' service, Peter did not stand
for re-election.

In Juty 2018, as part of the continuing evolution of the
Roard, the then Chairman, Bob Holt, indicated his intention
to the Board not to stand far re-election at the 2019 AGM
The Board commenced a considered, competitive and
structured process for the recruitment of the new Chairrman
and | was delighted to be offered the position during
December 2018. [ would like to place on record rmy tharks
to Bob Holt, who joined the Group in 1995 shartly before

its flotation far his many years of service.

Engage our workforce

In June 2018, the Company became one of the first Iisted
companies in the UK to appoint an Employee Director,
Amanda Hillerby, clearly underlining the Campany’s
commitment to progressive business practice and
corporate governance Mears understands the vilal rale
that aur warkforce plays in the success of the Group.

Succession

Under the Code, succession planning is one of the

maost impartant roles vested in non-executive directors.
Your Board recognises this rale wholeheartedly and this
has been clearly demonstrated in recent years with your
Board evolving steadily, reflecting the development of both
the Company and its key operating markets, and bringing
valuable relevant sector experience and knowledge to

the Board.

The evolution and succession within the Mears
boardreom has been a continuous process and one
which the Company intends ta continue in line with the
Group's development.

Shareholder engagement
The Board continued to engage with sharehalders

in an open and meaningful way throughout 2018.

Since my appointment, | have met with each of cur major
shareholders to understand their views and concerns

| have also been present at a Capital Markets Day, attended
by ali our major shareholders, hosted by the Chief Executive
Officer. | hape sharehalders take the opportunity to meet
other Board members at the 2019 AGM.

K Murphy

Chairman
kieran.murphy@mearsgroup.co.uk
22 March 2018

(4

In June 2018, the Company became
one of the first listed companies

in the UK to appoint an Employee
Director, Amanda Hillerby, clearly
underlining the Company’s
commitment to progressive business
practice and corporate governance,
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Corporate governance
Board of Directors

The right skills and experience
to deliver our strategy
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1. Kieran Murphy
Non-Executive Chairman

Age: 60

Tenure: 3 months

Skills and experience:

Kieran has spent much of his career working in
finance, holding senior positicns. At Kleinwort
Benson, he built a market-leading corporate
finance advisory business in the buillding and
construction sector and became a member
of the bank's Investment Bank Management
Committee. More recently, at Gleacher
Shacklock, the bautique corparate finance
advisory firm, Kieran extended his advisory
work into the business services sector.
Principal external appointments:

Aliaxis SA.

Ordnance Survey

University of London

2. David J Miles

Chief Executive Officer

Age: 53

Tenure: 22 years {12 years on the Board)
Skills and experience:

David joined Mears in 1996 and, prior to his
appointment to the Board in January 2007,
was Managing Director of the Mears Social
Housing divisicn. Prior to jeining Mears, David
held a senior position with the Mitie Group.
His background I1s in electrical engineering.
Principal external appointments:

None

3. Andrew C M Smith

Finance Director

Age: 46

Tenure: 19 years (12 years on the Board)
Skills and experience:

Andrew joined Mears in 1999 and, prior o

his appointment to the Board, was Finance
Director covering the Group's subsidiaries
Andrew qualified as a Chartered Accountant in
1994 and worked in professional practice prior
to joining Mears.

Principal external appointments:

Nane

4. Jason Burt

Non-Executive Director

Age: b3

Tenure: 2 years

Skills and experience:

Jason was a senior partner at Plexus Law and
has 32 years experience of defending complex
regulatory prosecutions and employers’ and
public liability claims, bringing significant
experience in the area of health and safety
Jason chairs a Health, Safety and Environrment
core group (Compliance Committee),

driving good working and health and safety
practices into the Group’s governance
structures. Jason 1s also a member of the
Audit Commiittee.

Principal external appointments:

None

5. Roy Irwin
Non-Executive Deputy Chairman

Age: 64

Tenure: 2 years

Skills and experience:

Roy has significant experience in the sacial
hausing sectar, having lately been Chief
Inspector of the Audit Commission following
a career of aver 30 years in public sector
housing. Since 2013, Roy has held the position
of Non-Executive Chairman of Plexus and
Omega Housing, being Mears' Registered
Providers of social housing with the Regulator
of Social Housing.

Principal external appointments:

None

6. Julia Unwin CBE

Non-Executive Director

Age: 62

Tenure: 3 years

Skills and experience:

Julia is former Chief Executive of the Joseph
Rowntree Foundation and the Joseph
Rowntree Housing Trust. She has significant
experience inthe housing and care sectors,
having been a member of the Housing
Corporaticn Board for ten years

Principal external appointments:

Yorkshire Water Services Limited

Financial Reporting Council

7. Alan Long
Executive Director

Age: 56

Tenure: 13 years (9 years on the Board)

Skills and experience:

Alan joined Mears in 2005 and, pricr to his
appointment to the Board in August 2009, was
Managing Director of the Group's Care division,
having previously held the position of Group
Sales and Marketing Director Prior to joining
Mears, Alan held senior roles at Britannia
Building Society, Mars and Smith & Nephew.
Principal external appointments:

None

8. Geraint Davies CBE

Non-Executive Director

Age: 64

Tenure: 3 years

Skills and experience:

Geraint is a fellow member of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales. He was previcusly a partner far a
leading professional practice for over 25
years. His commercial experience includes
working with Registered Social Landlords
and a number of organisations in the
healthcare sector.

Principal external appointments:

Cardiff International Alrport Limited

9. Elizabeth F Corrado

Non-Executive Director

Age: 53

Tenure: 1 year

Skills and experience:

Elizabeth was until recently an Executive
Director of the Power to Change charitable
trust, with a focus on creating innavative
projects inhousing and energy, enabling
investment into UK communities at scale
and generating hoth financial and social
returns for investors and local communities.
Liz previously held senior positions in
investment banking providing advice and
structured finance to both the Government
and a range of business sectors.

Principal external appointments:

None

16. Amanda L Hillerby
Employee Nominated
Non-Executive Director

Age: 30

Tenure: S manths

Skills and experience:

Amanda has worked for the Group since
2071, commencing her career on the Group's
graduate management programme during
which she worked across all areas of the
business including Care, Housing and Central
Support. Amanda is currently delivering a
national role of Quality Manager within the
Care division.

Principal external appointments:;

None

11. Ben Westran

Company Secretary

Age: 47

Tenure: 15 years

{4 years as Company Secretary)

Skills and experience:

Ben is a Chartered Accauntant and, prior to
his appaintment as Company Secretary, was
Group Financial Controller and Director of a
number of the Group's subsidiaries. Ben joined
the Group in 2004 having previously worked in
professional practice.

Principal external appointments:

None
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Corporate governance
Corporate governance report
Leadership

How the Board operates

The Board leads and provides strategic direction
o the Group and carries ultimate responsibility
for management of the Group's activities and
financial performance. The Board acknowledges
accountability to shareholders for proper
conduct of the business, and responsibility for
the long-term success of the Group, having
regard to the interests of all stakeholders.

The Board’s prime objective is to ensure the ongoing commercial and
financial success of the Group The Board provides entrepreneurnial
leadership of the Group within a sound and prudent risk management
framework using effective internal control systems which enable risk
to be assessed and managed. The Board sets the Group's strategic
objectives, and the nature and extent of principal risks it is willing to take
in achieving these strategic objectives, and ensures that the necessary
financial and human resources are in place for the Group to meet these
ohjectives. The Board sets the Group's values and standards, and
ensures that the Group’s obligations to its shareholders and others

are understocd and met,

68 Mears Group PLC Anpual Repart and Accounts 2018

Corporate governance framework

As a Board we aim to be sector leaders in our
standards of corporate governance across
the business.

The governance framework extends 10 operational activities,
a5 outlined in the risk management process on pages 38 to 42,

Leadership and effectiveness

Our Board

" Role dnd responsibilit

~ Develop proposals on strategy and deliver value
to shareholders and stakeholders.
~ Monitor management activity and performance
against targets.
~ Provide constructive challenge to management,
~ Setparameters for promoting and engaging the interest
of shareholders and investors.
~ Ensure satisfactory dialogue with shareholders
takes place.

~ Group strategy, business objectives, long-range plans
and annual budgets.

~ Annual and interim resuits approval.

~ Material acquisitians, disposals and contract
bidding approval.

~ Major changes to internal controls, risk management
of financial reporting policies and procedures.

~ Changes to advisers.

~ Setting the risk appetite of the Group.

~ Changes to capital and management structure,

~ Suecession planning for the Board and senior management,

~ Board appointments and independence.

~ Appointment, termination and remuneration of Directors
and the Company Secretary.



T'he Chairman

Key responsibilities

~ ls responsible for the leadership of the Board and ensuring its effectiveness.

~ Sets the Board's agenda and ensures adequate time is available for discussion of all agenda items.

~ Ensures all discussion is in the context of the long-term success of the Group.
~ Promotes a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the effective contribution

of Non-Executive Directors.

~ Ensures that the Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information.
~ |s responsible for designing a rigorous annuyal evaluation of the performance of the Board

and individual Directors.

Audit Committee

Key objective

The Audit Committee is
respansible for effective
corporate governance

in respect of financial
reporting, agreeing the
scope of the external audit,
the setting of the auditor's
remuneration and reviewing
the effectiveness of the
Group's internal controls,
risk management and
internal audit processes.

@
Read the Report of the
Audit Committee on
pages 74 to 78

Key objective

The Board

Remuneration
Committee

Key objective

The Remuneration
Committee is responsible
for setting, reviewing

and recommending the
remuneration policy and
strategy in respect of
Executive remuneration.

@
Read the Report of the
Remuneration Commitiee
on pages 79 to 91

Divistanal Boards

Carries out activities delegated by the Board, including:
~ Day-to-day operational management of the business.
~ Monitoring service delivery performance measures and driving improvements.

~ Financial performance reviews and comparison to forecasts and updated forecasts.

~ Business development activity not subject to Board approval.

Nomination

Committee

Key objective

The Nomination Committee
is responsible for ensuring

that the Board comprises
a high level and range

of business experience,
skills and diversity to
enable the Group to be
managed effectively.

Y
Read the Report of the
Nomination Committee
on pages 72 and 73

The Chief
Executive Officer

Key responsibilities

~ Manages the day-
to-day business
operations of
the Group.

~ Ensures that
the appropriate
standards of
corporate governance
permeate throughout
the organisation.

~ Recommends key
strategies and is
responsible for
execution of those
agreed by the Board.

~ Takes aleading role in
the relationship with
all external agencies
and in promoting
Mears Group PLC.

~ Directs the risk profile
of the Graup in line
with the risk appetite
and categories of
risk identified and

accepted by the Board.

®
Read the Review
of operations on
nages 16t 21
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Corporate governance

Corporate governance report continued

L eadership

Board compaosition and meetings in 2018

Governance framework

Qur governance framework supports the development of good governance practices throughout the Group. No one individual has unfettered powers
of decision The Board works closely with the Executive team which ensures Board behaviours and culture are effectively communicated and
embedded within the Group. Regular updates are received from the Executive Directors in order to keep the Non-Executive Board members informed

of how the business is progressing

Role Potential  Attended  Responsibilities include

Chairman

Kieran Murphy 0 0 ~ Promoting a culture of challenge, debate, openness and support.
Bob Holt 6 & ~ Leadership of the Board and ensuring its effectiveness.

Ensuring Directors allocate sufficient time to the Company to discharge their responsibilities effectively.
Effective communication between the Board, the sub-committees and its key stakeholders.
Ensuring the Board demonstrates culture, values and behaviours of the Group.

Ensuring the Board presents a falr, balanced and understandable assessment of the position and
prospects of the Group.

Senior Independent Director

Peter Dicks
Julia Unwin

2
6

Being the principal conduit between the Chairman, Non-Executive Directars and shareholders.

Leading the annual performance evaluation of the Chairman, including collecting the views of the
Executive Directors.

Providing & sounding board for the Chairman.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Jason Burt

Ray Irwin

Julia Unwin
Geraint Davies
Elizabeth Corrado

6

[=AN o N & N

6

[o 00N Ne e

Promoting the highest standards of integrity, probity and corporate governance throughout the Group
and the Board

Constructively challenging decisians proposed by the Executive Directors.
Assisting in developing proposals on strategy

Contributing to the performance evaluation of the Chairman.

Briefing the Board on decisions made and key issues from each Committee Chair.

Non-Independent Non-Executive Directors

Amanda Hillerby 3 3 ~ Promoting the highest standards of integrity and probity.

~ Agsisting in developing proposals on strategy.

~  Ensuring that the Board receives full, apen and honest insight and views from its workforce on how

strategic initiatives are being implemented.

~ Helping to provide the wider workforce with a better understanding of how the Board aperates.
Executive Directors
David Miles 6 6 -~ Managing the day-to-day running of the business in line with the strategy and objectives set by the Board
Chief Executive ~ Ensuring the Board is supplied with sufficient and appropriate information on a timely basis.
Officer ~  Leading the business within the scope set by the Board.

~ Developing strategy and setting objectives to meet the Group strategy.

~ Managing the Group's operation to ensure it meets the nsk appetite set by the Board.
Andrew Smith 6 & ~ Supporting the Chief Executive Officer in developing strategy and meeting objectives
Group Finance ~ Establishing stroang control processes.
Director ~ Managing the treasury activities in accardance with the credit risk appetite set by the Board.

~  Supporting the Chief Executive Officer with investor relations.

~ Leading the development of talent within the finance function.
Alan Long 6 6 ~ Supporting the Chief Executive Officer in developing strategy and meeting objectives.

Group Executive
Director

Supporting the Chief Executive Officer in manading external communications and investor relations.
Setting the Group social value policies and procedures.
Leading the operational lzadership and development function of the Group

in addition 1o planned Board meetings, the Chairman meets with the Non-Executive Directors to discuss, on a less formal basis, Group performance,
strategy, governance and Board succession plans. The Executive Directors do not attend these meetings

The Board considers all Non-Executive Directors who served during the year to be independent in terms of judgement and character and free from
any relationship that might materially interfere with the exercise of independent judgement

70 Mears Graup PLC Annual Repart and Accounts 2018



Hodal s1baens

Activities of the Board during the year

Board discussion during 2018 to deliver strateqgic priorities

Strategy Corporate governance

and risk management

FIUBUIBAOD 21BI0CI0D

~ Reviewed and considered
matters discussed at Audit

~ Discussed perfurinance of hath
operating segmentls.

-- Discussed strategy to ensure the Deliver Committee meetings n
. . ] . —_— . - . N 3
Group is W.e!l pldc_ed as lhe mérket our strateaic Selection arjd ap_pomtment of new 3
evolves, will particular focus in ————g— Non-Executive Directors. g.
interdependencies belween 1 lousing ~ Reviewed statutory policies such @
and Care. as tax strategy, anti-slavery, %
and gender pay policy and g
disclosure requirement. a.
~ Reviewed risk register and associated
mitigation strategy.
)
0
w
@
=
J
o
o :
Neepening our client relatienships Values and ethics g
in hoth Care and Housing g
Reinforcing the Red Thread principles §'

which set out the behaviours

Financial perfarmance

4

and values underpinning the
Increasing quality leadership Group’s culture.

~ Review of output from employee
satisfaction survey.

~ Approval of 2018 budget

~ Reviewed performance by
business segment.

~ Approval of 2017 Annual Report

Developing our people

and dividend.
~ Approval of announcement of final
results for 2017. @
Rrad ahout our etrategic prinrities Stakeholder engagement
on pages 32 and 33

~ Engaged with private shareholders
at AGM.

~ Reviewed and considered investor
feedback following tinal and interim
results investor roadshows.
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Corporate governance
Corporate governance report continued
Effectiveness

Board performance evaluation overview

The performance evaluation process included:

~ areview of the areas of Board roles and responsibility;

~ an internally facilitated review by the Chairman, which included
meeting with all Board members individually;

~ the structure and composition of the Board and its
Committees and the performance of the Committees;

~ the quantity, quality and scope of information pravided to
the Board;

~ an assessment of the appropriateness of Directors' terms
of reference;

~ the content of Board meetings and presentations to meetings;
and

~ the openness of communications between the Board
members and the Executive Management team.

Director information, induction and development

It is 2 key responsibility of the Chairman to ensure all Non-Executive
Directors recelve appropriate training and development to ensure they
can discharge their duties to the Board and the Cammittees to the best
of their ability. Nan-Executive Directors are fully engaged with their
angoing development, which is discussed when each Nan-Executive
Director has their annuzl individual meeting with the Ghairman

All Directors have access to the Company Secretary, who is respansible
for all Board compliance requirernents, 1o ensure they are updated on
all legislative developrments. In addition to this, the Company Secretary
ensures the Board agenda and papers are provided at least seven

days in advance of the meeting. Minutes and actions from previous
meetings are distributed an a timely basis. As per the Board policies
and procedures, any Non-Executive Director may, on request through
the Company Secretary, meet with any member of staff in the Group
Non-Executive Directars are able ta request the suppart of an
independent adviser from the Company Secretary.

The quality and timeliness of information provided by the Company
Secretary was included as part of the Board evaluation. The findings
waere thatinformation was thorgugh and relevant, and in all instances
provided suitably in advance.

There were no new appointrnents during the year. However, since

the year end, Non-Executive Chairman, Kieran Murphy, received an
Individual induction, which included meetings with senior management,
advisers and shareholders, Kieran also attended the Group's annual
conference which provided access to a cross-section of the colleagues
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Board appraisal
Performance evaluation of the Board, its Committees and individual

Directors takes place on an annual basis Every three years, the

review 15 externally facililaled with the last external review being 2017.
Board performance evaluation was externally facilitated. Each Board
member provided feedback and key observations on the Board's
effectiveness as well as suggestions for further enhancement

The Chairman reviewed the range of feedback provided and identified
some broad thermes. Some recammendahons were proposed which
have been impiemented, but the overall conclusion was that the Board
is working effectively. In addition, the performance of the Chairman is
evaiuated by the Senior Independent Directer, having collected the views
of the other Directors

Independence of Non-Executive Directors and re-election of Directors
The Board adopts the principles of the Code regarding tenure of the
board, and seeks to strike an appropriate balance between continuity of
experiance and refreshment. Rigarous review is applied in assessing the
continuous independence of Directors having served for over nine years,
with attention to ensuring that they remain independent in character and
Jjudgement, and continue to present an objective constructive challenge.
In respect of Peter Dicks, the Board recognises that independence
cannot be determined arbitrarily an the basis of a set period of time,

The Board concluded that Peter Dicks remained independent for the
report period

To promote best practice governance, and in accordance with the
requirements of the Code, each of the current Directors will offer
themselves far re-election annually. Following the evaluation of

the Board's performance during the year, itis confirmed that the
performance of each of the Non-Executive Directors continues to be
effective and that they are considered to demonstrate appropriate
commitment o the role. The AGM papers include an accompanying
statement as to why the Board believes each Non-Executive Director
should be re-elected.

Indemnifications of Directors

In accordance with our Articles of Association and 1o the extent
permitted by the laws of England and Wales, Directors are granted

an indemnity from the Company in respect of liabilities incurred as a
result of their position in office. However, our indemnity does not cover
Directors or officers in the event of being proven of acting dishonestly
or fraudulently.



Shareholder engagement

Principal methods nf rommynication with investors
- Annual Report and Accounls

~ fnilern statements,

~ Trading updates.

~ Quarterly newsletters.

~ Group website (www mearsgroup.co 1ik)

Investor relations

The Campany is committed to maintaining good communication

with investers. Normaf shareholder contact is the responsibility of

the Executive Directors, who respond on a daily basis to queries

from ingtitutional and private investors. The Chairman, the Senior
Independent Director and ather Non-Executive Directors are available
to shareholders t¢ discuss any matters they wish to raise. The Directors
regularly meet shareholders at operational locations, which both parties
find more rewarding as it provides greater insight into the business and
its processes. All Directors ore avnilahla at each AGM and shareholder
participation is encouraged

The Board 1s commutted Lo maintaining regular contact through the
provision of the Annual Report, regular Interim Repor ts and regular
trading updates. This information can be found on the Group's website
(www mearsqroup.co.uk).

There is an active programme of communication with existing and
potential shareholders. There is increased dialogue with institutional
investors following the publication of final and intenim results, whictiis
facilitated through a series of formal presentations. The Company has
also looked to hold additional investor days during Lhe year to ensure
that they are better informed of market and Company developments.
A Capital Marksts Nay in . June 2018 covered 'The changing nature of
affordable housing in the UK A further day in February 2018 provided
background information on the Asylum Accommaodation and Support
Serviges Contract {ASSC) award and the Mitie Property Services
acquisition (MPS).

The Group regularly receives and responds to guestions raised by small
private shareholders through the investor enquiry portal within the
Group's website. In addition, a number of private shareholders attend
the Company's AGM.

Feedback from communication with shareholders and other investors,
where necessary, is discussed at Board Meetings. Feedback from this
years' shareholder dialogue included the following:

~ Shareholders are generally supportive of the progress made by the
Groug in respect of Housing Maintenance and Management.

~ Thereis arange of differing views in respect of Care but a large
number of shareholders are negative in respect of this area,
given challenges of recruitment and retention together with risks
to reputation.

~ Shareholders have been critical of the Group's financial performance,
in particular the reliability of forecasts and cash generation.

~ Views on succession planning and a feeling that there is less reliance
on the Group Chief Executive Officer.

The Group also has regular dialogue with its banking partners, valuing
the close retationship with Barclays and HSBC.

J Unwin

Senior Independent Nan-Executive Director
julia.unwin@mearsgroup.co.uk

22 March 2019
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Q12018

tnvestor meetings prior te the clese period.

Feollowing release of final results for 2017, investor roadshow
spanning six days, meeting with both ‘buy’ and 'sell’ sides.

Q2 2018

Regular update meetings with existing and

prospective shareholders.

AGM held in June 2018, providing an oppaortunity to meet a

number of private investors.

Capital Markets Day held in June 2018 to focus on The chanrging

nature of Affordable Housing in the UK.

Q3 2018

Following release of interim results for 2018, investor roadshow
spanning five days, meeting with both ‘buy’ and ‘sell’ side.

Q42018

Reqular update meetings with existing and prospective shareholders.

Investor lunch providing cross-sectien of fund managers to meet
the key management beneath the PLC Board.

Total shareholdings over 1.5%

82.5m

PrimeStone Capital

Shareholder Value Management
Majedie Asset Management

Artemis Investment Management
Heronbridge Investment Management
Fidelity Management & Research
Legal & General Investment Management
Dimensional Fund Advisors

Columbia Threadneedle Investments
Close Asset Management

Montanaro Asset Management

@ M.G Ihvestment Management

Slater Investments

15.0m
12.8m
10.5m
7.9m
7.2m
5.3m
5.1m
4.7m
4.3m
2.6m
2.5m
2.4m
2.2m

13 6%
11.6%
95%
1%
6.5%
4.8%
46%
4.3%
29%
23%
22%
22%
2.0%
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Caorparate governance
Report of the Nomination Committee

J Unwin
Normination Committee Chairman

Meeting attendance

J Unwin *0e
R Holt [ Y 1
K Murphy -

A Hillerby (Non-independent, in attendance)

Key
Attended @  Ahsent @
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Uuring the firsL quarter of 2018, the Group advertised internally for

an Employee Director. The Board understands the vital role that our
workforce plays in the success of the Group. The Board believes that
this role will ensure that the Board receives full, opcn and hanestinsight
and views from its workforce an how strategic initiatives are being
implemcnted and will pravide the workforce with a better understanding
af how the Beard operates. The interview process was very nrgactive,
with applicants delivering presentations to the panel. In June 2018,
Amanda Hillerby was appointed to the Board. Mears is one of the

first listed companies 1o take this bold step. | firmly befieve that betier
employee represchtation can improve Lhe guality of decrsion making.
The benefits of listening to employees and engaging them in both
consultation end decision making are already widely recognised.

In July 2018, as part of the continuing evolution of the Board, the
Chairman, Bobr Holt, indicated his intention to the Board not 1o stand

for re-election at the 2079 AGM. The Board commenced a rigorous
appointment process tfilising the expertise of an extarnal recruilrnent
consuitant and open advertising. The external recruitment consultants
used have no connection with the Company The external recruitment
consultant assisted with short-listing candidates, Following this rigorous
process, Kieran Murphy was appointed to the Board in January 2019.

We have considered the culture of ihe Board and the Group as a whole
during our discussions this year. The Mears culiure is articulated in the
Sacial value section of the Strategic Renort, which can be found on pages
5210 61. The Nomination Committee plays a vital role in embedding

a positive culture throughaout the Group. This is done by ensuring our
succession planning and appointment processes identify candidates
who demonstrate our vision, values and desired culture. This will cantinue
to be an area of focus for the Nomination Committee going forward.

Role of the Cammittee
The Nomination Commitiee's responsibilities include:

~ keeping under review the composition of the Board and succession
1o it, and succession planning for senior management positions
within the Group;

~ making recommendations to the Board concerning appointments to
the Board, whether of Cxecutive or Non-Executive Directors, having
regard to the balance of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity
of the Board,

~ reviewing the length of service of Non-Executive Directors to ensure
a progresaive refreshing of the Board, whiist retaming the correct
level of experience;

~ making recommendations o the Board concerning the re-
appointment of any Non-Executive Director at the conciusion of his/
her gpacified term and the re-election of any Director by shareholders
under the retirement provisions of the Company’s Articles
af Association;

~ managing a formal, rigorous and fransparent procedurc for any
appointments of new Directors to the Board;

~ prior to the appointment ul a Directer, requining that the proposed
appontee discloses any other business inlerests that may resuit in
a conflict of interest and reports any future business interests that
could result in a conflict of interest; and

~ ensuring that, on appointment to the Board, Non-Executive Directors
receive a formal letier of appoinrtment setting out clearly what is
expected of them in terms of time commitment, Committee service
and involvement outside Board meetings



Activities during the vear
- Reviewed Board effectiveness, Board governance, Executive and
Nan-Executive Director succession and deliberation of person
requirements for the appointments to the Board.
-~ Carried out appointment process for Employee Director.
~ Carried out a rigorcus appomtment process to appoint a
replacement for Bob Holt, recornmended to the Board the
appointment of Kieran Murphy as the new Non-Executive Chairman
~ Recommended to the Baard that all Directors stand for re-election.
~  Reviewed the performance of the Committee against its terms
of reference.
Reviewed and discussed the internal leadership and development
programme to ensure its apprapriatenass for succession to
the Board.

Diversity

We have a number of active diversity initiatives across the Group,
including the Tradeswomen into Maintenance project and our sacial
mobility focus, as mentionad in the Chairman's introduction to
corparate governance.

The Committee receives updates on all diversity initiatives, and monitors
the level of engagement and investment. The Executive Directors are
chalienged by the Nomination Committee (0 engure that these diversity
initiatives remain high profile.

The appointments in 2018 have increased the diversity of our Board
In terms of gender and experience. | am delighted that the Board
now comprises 30% female Directors, which falls broadly in line with
the recommendation of the Hampton-Alexander Review (o target
33% female board representation by 2020. Notwithstanding this,
the Commitiee follows a ngorous appointment process which the
Committee feels is free from hias

Director induction

Fallowing Board approval, a tailored inducticn programme is developed
between the Committee and the Group's insourced leadership and
development team

The terms and conditions of each appointment of Non-Executive
Directors are made available an request of the Company Secretary,
and are available for inspection at the AGM.

J Unwin

Nomination Committee Chairman
julia.unwin@mearsgroup.ca.uk
22 March 2019
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Corporate governance
Report of the Audit Committee
Accountability

G Davies
Audit Committee Chairman

Meeting attendance

G Davies 200000
JBurt 000000
E Corrado 08000
Key

Atended @ Absent @
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This report sets out how the Cammittee has fulfilled
its responsibilities during the year. This report also
sets out, in refation to fittanciul reporting matters, the
significant issues that were considered and how they
were addressed.

A new committee dealing with health, safety and environmental risks
has been formed, This Compliance Committee is a sub-comrmittee
of the Audit Cornmittee and is chaired by Jason Burt. With his
detailed knowledge of the factors which cause and drive regulatory
prosecutians and enpluyers’ and puabiic lability ¢laims he 1s 1deal tor
the role. The extent to which the full integration of health, safety and
environmental risks are now embedded in the governance structures
of the Group 18 highfighted by the members of the Compliance
Committee who include: the Group's Chief Executive Officer, Chief
Risk Officer, Health and Safcty Director and Heallr and Safely
Suliciior. The Compiiance Committee has detailed terms of reference
which include:

~ to review and monitor the Group's policies in relation to health, safety
and environmental (HSE) matters;

~ toreview HSE rigks and risk assessnients on the Group risk register
and mitigation actions and controls related thereto including
subcontractor controls and related procurement; and

~ 1o review Graup buildings campliance and safety including fire and
other rigks.

I have continued to have a number of detalled review meetings with the
Chief Risk Qfficer.

In relation ta financial reporting the two primary significant judgements
remain the carrying value of Care goodwill and revenue recognition.
Both of these continue to have a high leve! of materiality and carry

a significant level of judgement. Inreaching its conclusions the
Committee has had very detailed discussions with management and
gained assurance from the detailed procedures carried out by the
externat auditor, Grant Thornton UK LLP.

A third key judgement is the assurnptions surrounding the defined
benefit pension valuations. Despite the valuations being prepared by
independent actuaries the Committee (s very awate Lhal, in a volatile
economic environment, assumptions around bond rates and discount
rates are less predictable and small movements in these assumptions
can result In a material change to the carrying value of assets and
liahilities in areporting period. Given the reguirement that the Annual
Report is fair, balanced, concise and understandable, the Committee
supports the analysis prepared by the Finance Director on pages 45
te 51 which enables stakeholders to understand the differing risks
associated with our LGPS and non-LGPS pension schemes and the
impact of gender equalisation.

In relaticn to risk management and interna! cantrols, the Chief Risk
Officer manages an extended internal audit team whose annual plan

is based on the Group risk register and is approved by the Committee.
The 2018 Annual Internal Audit Report, presented to the Committee for
approval in February 2019, included more coverage than ever befare.
bwas particularly pleased 1o note the extent 1o which management has
responded positively and guickly to the system changes suggested by
the internal audit work.



During the year, the audit engagement was tendered. Following a
rigorous process which is discussed in greater detall later in this

report, the Audit Committea chose Grant Thornton UK LLP to retain

the audit, which was ratified by the AGM. As Grant Thornton UK LLP
was reappointed the Audit Committee has reviewed the independence
regulations and recommended to the Board that the audit be retendered
far the years beginning 1 January 2022 at which time Grant Thornton
UK LLP will nat be invited to retender. The Committee will continue

to review the independence and effectiveness of its external audit on

an annual basis. The review process includes reviewing the external
auditor's plan, and subsequent reports and discussion by the Committee
of the appropriateness of audit pracedures and processes.

Role of the Committee

The Committee has access to the financial expertise of the Group and
its auditor and, if required, can seek further professional advice at the
expense of the Group

The key responsibilities of the Committee are to:

~ consider the appointment of the external auditor, its reports to the
Committee and its Independence, including an assessment of its
appropriateness to conduct any non-audit work,

~ review the financial statements and announcements relating to the
financtal performance of the Company;

~ review the internal audit pragramme and ensure that the internal
audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing
within the Company;

~ discuss with the external auditor the nature and scope of the audit,

~ review, and challenge where necessary, the actions and judgements
of management, in relation 1o the interim and annual financial
staternents before submission ta the Board,

~ formally review the effectiveness of the external and internal
audit processes;

~ consider management’s response to any major external or internal
audit recommendations;

~ review the Company’s plans for business continuity,

~ review the Company’s plans for prevention and detection of fraud,
bribery and corruption,

-~ review the effectiveness of the whistleblowing arrangements; and

~ report to the Board on how it has discharged its responsibilities.

The Committee's terms of reference are available on the Company's
website and on request from the Company Secretary.

Committee meetings

The Committee met five times duning the year with attendance by all
members These meetings were alsg attended by the Group Chief
Executive Officer, the Group Finance Director and the Chief Risk Officer
as required by invitation frarm the Chairman of the Audit Cormmittee.
The external auditor, Grant Thornton UK LLF, was invited to all meetings.
There was also significant dialogue outside formal meetings between
Committee members, Executive [Yirectors and the external auditor,
particularly during the audit process and the preparation of the Annual
Report. The Audit Committee Chairman meets with the external auditor
regularly threughout the year

Main activities of the Committee during the yvear

Financial and business reporting

The Audit Committee shares the responsibility with the Board for
reviewing the appropriateness of the Annual Report and half-year
announcements, to ensure that they properly reflect the Group’s
business maodel, strategic priorities, key risks, and financial and non-
financial performance. Consideration is given ta the reasonableness
of the accounting policies, adherence ta accounting standards, and
sufficiency and clanty of the information disclosed.

The primary areas of judgement cansidered by the Committee in
relation 1o the 2018 accounts, and how these were addressed, were;

Carrying value of goodwilt

Far the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at

the lowest level for which there are separately identifiable cash flows;
these are termed as cash-generating units (CGUs). Due to the Board
successfully integrating the newly acauired Care business into the
existing Care business, there have been two CGUs identified: Social
Housing and Care Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimate of the value in use of each of the CGUs to which goodwill has
been allocated. The value-in-use calculation invalves an estimate of the
future cash flows of the CGU and also the selection of an appropriate
discount rate to calculate present values. Future cash flows are
estimated using the current one-year budget, extrapolated for five years
to December 2023 using specific rates with a general terminal growth
rate being used thereafter, This has been derived fram the extensive
business planning process described in greater detail within note 13 to
the financial statements on pages 128 to 130. Estimated growth rates
over each period are based on past experience and knowledge of the
individual sector's markets. The Directors cansider that the estimates
and judgements involved in determining the value in use of the Care
CGU goodwill are the most significant to the Group and they have
therefore utilised the services of an external consultant to assist with
this iImpairment review, The value in use 1s most sensitive to changes
in the terminal growth rate, the explicit growth rate during the forecast
period and the discount rate.

The sensitivity to changes in these estimaticns i1s detailed in note 13 to
the financial statemeants. The Audit Committee takes reassurance from
the previous year's Impairment review, where the key assumptions have
subsequently been found to have been reasonably conservative and that
the actual results in the subseguent year have delivered better outcomes
than anticipated. The headroom in the period, being the excess between
value in use compared with carrying value, has reduced and the Audit
Committee is mindful that there is still significant uncertainty in the Care
sector and the key assumptions could change and materially impact on
the carrying value of the Care business.

The Audit Committee addressed this area of judgement by reviewing the
key assumptions proposed by management, notabiy forecast growth
rate, discount rate, terminal growth rate, and carer recruitment and
retention rates

~ The Committee reviewed the disclosure in the notes to the
financial statements.

~ This area represented a prime area of audit focus and Grant
Thaornton UK LLP provided detailed feedhack to the Committee.
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Corporate governance
Report of the Audit Committee continued
Accountability continued

Revenue recognition

The Audit Committee reviewed in detail the impact of the new
accounting standard, IFRS 15, which came into effect on 1 January
2018 and will impact on the timing of recognising revenue and costs on
a small number of contracts, whilst being mindful that the comparative
figures continue to be prepared using accounting policies under [1AS 18
The key changes are as follows

~ Previously 1AS 18 'Revenue' and JAS 11 ‘Construction Contracts’
allowed contracts with a variety of services to be combined in certain
circumstances in determining the percentage of completion of those
multi-service contracts. Disaggregating these contracts to determine
the satisfaction of performance ohligations, as detailed above,
significantly changes the timing of revenue recognition. £19.1m of
the reduction in the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2018
relates to the disaggregation of contracts previously combined.
The total transaction price of these contracts does not change under
IFRS 15

~ The Group's assessment of variable consideration revenue
recognition yunder IFRS 15is detailed above. The judgement applied
under IFRS 15 mare closely aligns timing of revenue recognition with
cash inflows where the contractual mechanism containg uncertainty.
Previously, the Group utilised expected value caleulations in
determining the variable consideration revenue 1o be recognised.
£4.8m of the reduction in the opening balance of equity at 1 January
2018 relates to the Group's application of IFRS 15 in relation to
variable consideration.

The Audit Committee addressed this area of judgementin the
following ways:

~ The Commuttee reviewed the key judgements report prepared by
rmanagement which provided a detailed explanation in respect
of the valuation of unbilled works and the recognition of revenues.

~ The Committee took comfort fram the contract managernent
systern which is central in generating the valuation of works (both
billed and unbilled) and the integrated process that follows to ensure
an aceurate cut-off so that revenue is appropriately matched to
cost. Grant Thornton UK LLP tested these systems during its audit
fieldwork and provided feedback to the Committee on this crucial
area, and this area represented a prime area of external audit
focus. Grant Thornton UK LLP carried out both controls-based
and substantive testing of the amounts recoverable on contracts,
adopting a blend of risk-based and random sampling approaches
t0 testing, and provided detailed feedback te the Committee in this
area. Grant Thornton UK LLP's comments can be seen on page 98
Grant Thornton UK LLP also carried out a detailed review of the
impact of the adoption of IFRS 15.
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The acquisition of MP3 Housing and MPM Revenue recegnition

In November 2018, the group acquired the entire share capital of

MPS Housing Limited and Mitie Property Management Lirmited.

This acquisition has had a material impact on the financial statermnents,
resulting in the recognition of goodwill and intangible assets of

£21.5 million. The goodwill measured at the acquisition date is the fair
value of the consideration, including the estimated value of contingent
consideration, less the net recognised amount of identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. The Committee was also mindful of
the proximity of the acquisition to the year end which was considered to
add further risk. Although the estimates are provisional for 2018 and will
be finalised during the course of 2019, significant judgement is required
In deriving the value assigned to contingent consideration and the
identifiable assets.

The Audit Committee addressed this area of judgement in the
following ways

~ abtaining an understanding of the acquisition through review of legal
agreements and discussion with management. The Committee
took comfort from the fact that the acquired activities are very
similar in nature to the Group's core activities, and management
have been shown over many years to a high level of expertise in this
area. This was reflected in a goad understanding of the underlying
contracts and the bases for valuing unbilled waorks;

~ cansidering the assumptians set by management in respect of

digcount rate, customer attrition and long term growth rate through

the sales pipeline. These are the mast sensitive assumptions

which impact upon both the estimated vaiue of the contingent

cansideration and the recognition of acquired intangibles; and

this area represented a prime area of external audit focus and Grant

Thornton UK LLP provided detailed feedback to the Committee.

!

Defined benefil pension valuation
A number of key estimates have been made, which are given below and
which are largely dependent on factors outside the conirol of the Group

~ Inflation rates

Mortality.

~ Discount rate

Salary and pension increases

2

¢

Details of the particular estimates used are included in the pensions
note fnote 29) fo the finanoial statemenis on pages 144 1o 147

Where the Group has a contractual right fo recover the costs of making
good any deficit pension scheme, the fair value of that asset has

been recognised and disciosed. The rignt 1o recover costs is imited

to exclude situations where the Group causes the scheme to incur
service costs in excess of thaose which would have been incurred were
the members employed within Local Government The Directors have
made judgements in respect of whether any of the deficit is as a result
of such situations

The right to recover costs is also limited 1o situations where the cap

on contributions payable by the Group is not set so as to contribute to
reducing the deficit in the scheme. The Directors, in conjunction with the
scheme acluaries, have made judgements in respect of the predicted
future service cost and contributions to the scheme to reflect this in the
fair value of the asset recognised



The Audit Committee addressed this area of judgement fn the
following ways:

~ The Committee reviewed the key assumptions proposed by
management, notably assumptions in respect of discount rate, RFI,
CPi and future salary increases. Given the maternality of this area, the
Committee reviewed a report prepared by PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP which validated the assumptions set by management and
provided a comparison with ather quoted companies.

-~ The Committee reviewed the accounting treatment of pension
related transactions. Full disclosure has been provided within the
pensions note (hote 26) to the financial statements on pages 144
to 147 and the Committee concurred with the analysis provided an
pages 47 and 50 of the Financial Review in regpect of defined benefit
scheme pension obligations.

~ @iven the technical nature of this area, the Committee placed
reliance upon the actuarial reports prepared by the respective
scheme actuaries in respect of each of the defined benefit pension
schemes, including an assessment of gender equalisation.

New standards and interpretations not vet applied

The Group is reguired to disclose information on standards that are
in issue, not yet effective that have not been early adopted in the
financial statements.

The Committee has met with management to discuss management's
interpretation and proposed implementation of IFRS 16 ‘Leases’.
Following these discussicns, the Committee reviewed the disclosures
within Principal Accounting Policies on pages 105 and 114.

The Committee satisfied itself of the appropriateness of the disclosures
after the discussions with management and the review of the
disclosures by the external auditor.

Internal controls and risk management

With respect 1o 1ts oversight of risk management and internal

controls, the Board reviewed and discussed a wide range of matters
with management, internal audit and external audit, as appropriate.
This extends to cover all material controls, including operational,
compliance and financial contrels and risk management systems.

The Directors are satisfied that procedures are in place to ensure that
the Group complies with the Guidance on Risk Management, Internal
Control and Related Financial and Business Reporting published by the
Financial Reporting Council in September 2014

The Board has delegated some of these responsibilities to the Audit
Committee which has reviewed the effectiveness of the system of
internal controls and ensured that any remedial action has been or

1s being taken on any identified weaknesses. The system of internal
controls is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable, but not
absclute, assurance against material misstatement or loss. It includes
all controls including financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management procedures.

In addition, the Audit Committee has a new sub-committee, the
Compliance Committee. An overview of the terms of reference of

this Cammittee is included within the Audit Committee Chairman's
introduction; the Compliance Committee reports ta the Audit Committee
under these terms of reference.

The Group has an ongaing process for identifying, evaluating and
rmanaging the significant risks fased by the Group. The Group
endeavours to ensure that the appropriate contrals, systems and
training are in place and has established procedures for all business
units to operate appropriate and effective risk management.

The processes used to assess the effectiveness of the internal control
systems are angoing, allowing a cumulative assessment to be made,
and include the following.

~ Delegation of day-to-day management to operational management
within clearly defined systems of contro!, including:

+ theidentification of levels of authority within clearly identified
organisational reporting structures;

- the identfication and appraisal of financial risks both formally,
within the annual process of preparing business plans and
budgets, and informally, through close monitoring of operations;

a comprehensive financial reporting system within which actual
results are compared with approved budgets, quarterly reforecasts
and previous years' figures on a manthly basis and reviewed at
both local and Group level, and

an investment evaluation procedure 1o ensure an appropriate level
of approval for all capital and revenue expenditure.

~ Discussion and approval by the Board of the Group's strategic
directions, plans and objectives and the risks to achieving themn,
combined with regular reviews by management of the risks to
achieving objectives and actions being taken to mitigate them.

~  Review and approval by the Board of annual budgets, combined with
regular operational and financial reviews of performance against
budget, prior year results and regular forecasts by management and
the Board.

-~ Regular reviews by the Board and the Audit Committee of
identified fraudulent activity and actions being taken tc remedy any
control weaknesses

~  Regular reviews by management and the Audit Committee of the
scope and results of internal and external audit work across the
Group and the implementation of recommendations.

~ Consideration by the Board and by the Audit Committee of the
major risks facing the Group and of the procedures in place to
manage them and to ensure controls react to changes in the
Group's overall risk profile These include health and safety, people,
legal compliance, quality assurance, insurance and security, and
reputational, social, ethical and environmental nisks.

-~ Discussion relating to a presentation from the IT Director on
cyber-security, including an assessment of vulnerabilities and the
pregrammes being implemented to protect the Group against this
evolving and potentially catastrophic risk.

~ Consideration and discussion relating to regular updates from the
Finance Direcior regarding developments within the finance function.

The Board has reviewed these procedures and considers them
appropriate given the nature of the Group's operations. The Chief Risk
Gfficer and the Finance Director presented a report on the robustness
of the internal controls for the year and an internai audit plan for 2019
The Committee has concluded that the system of intermal controls and
risk management 15 embedded into the operations of the Group and the
actions taken to mitigate any weaknesses are carefully monitored.
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Corporate governance
Report of the Audit Committee continued
Accountability continued

The key controls in place are:

~ adefined organisational structure and an appropniate level of
delegated responsibility 1o operational management,

~ authorisation limits for financial and non-financial transactions;

~ wriiten operational procedures,

v archust system of financial budgeting and forecasting;

~ g robust system of financial reporting with actual results compared
to budget and forecast results; and

~ regular reporting of operational performance and risks to the Board,
including the work of the Compliance Committee.

In 2014 a detailed review of nternal contrals was perfarmed by
independent internal audit outsourced partners KPMG This work
was commissioned on a risk-based approach and was performed to
provide the Committee with independent assurance over the quality
of risk management and strength of internal controls The procedures
performed by KPMG were undertaken within inherently risky areas that
would affect KP performance. This assignment was finalised during
2015 and the independent view of internal controls was that controls
were generally adeguate, though improvements were suggested.

The improvements have been implemented as envisaged in the

2016 Annual Report; KPMG, as outsourced internal audit resource,
carried out an updated review of ¢entralised cortrals and processes.
Management has accepted recommendations from the 2017
updated review.

The Company has in place internal control and risk management
systems in relation to the Company's financial reporting process and
the Group's process far the preparation of consolidated accounts.

The consolidated financial staternents are produced by the Group
finance function, which is respansible for the review and compilation
of reports and financia! results from each of the operating subsidiaries
in accordance with the Group reporting procedures. The consolidated
financial statements are supported by detailed working papers.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing and monitoring
these processes, which are designed to ensure that the Cornpany
complies with relevant requlatory reporting and filing requirements

As at the end of the period cavered by this report, the Audit Cornmittee,
with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and the Finanice
Director, evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of
disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that infarmation
required to be disclosed in financlal reports is recorded, precessed,
summarised and reporied within specified time periods

The Committee carried out a review of its effectiveness with input from
Caommittee and Board rmembers, management and the external auditor.
The review concluded that the Audit Committee members had sufficient
expertise and cornmitied time to discharge their responsibilities.
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External audit related services

As noted in the Annual Report last year and approved by shareholders at
the AGM last June the audit was tendered during the year Two 'Big Four’
firms and the incumbents, Grant Thornton UK LLP, having confirmed
their interast in tendering, were contacted in January 2018 and invited

to meet key personnel including the Group Finance Birector, the Chief
Risk Officer and myself ag Chaw of the Audit Committee during February
and March The firms were asked for their written submissions in April
2018 with their fee proposals provided separately in a sealed envelope.
The fee proposals were anly opened after the Audit Committee had
scored and ranked the quality of the written proposals and subsequent
presentations and interviews, so that the focus of the Audit Cammittee
was on the guality of the submissicns being presented.

The Audit Committee determined the key criterfa for the appointment
wauld include: audit professienal scepticism and challenge of the
executive; husiness understanding and sector knowledge; seniority and
experience of the audrt leam to be deployed; transitional planning where
applicable; the depth of involvernent of the proposed Senior Statutory
Auditor; and detalled confirmation of the independence of tha hath the
firm and the individual working directly on the audit,

After the presentations and interviews the Audit Committee chose Grant
Tharnton UK LLP to retam the audit based on the overall highest scores.
The fee proposal was then reviewed, which did not alter our view

The Audit Committee then recornmended Grant Tharnton UK LLE to the
Board which confirmed its appointment, which was ratified by the AGM

As Grant Thomton UK LLP was reappointed the Audit Commitiee has
reviewed the independence regulaticns and recommendead to the Board
that the audit be retendered for the years beginning 1 January 2022 at
which time Grant Tharatan UK LLP will not be invited ta retender

The Company has adopted a strict policy of prohibiting the external
auditor from carrying out nan-audit services, in order to safeguard

audit objectivity and independence The Committee is responsible for
approval of all non-audit services provided by Grant Thornton UK LLP;
however, this is considerad to be in exceptional circumstances only

In such an exceptional event, the Audit Committee would approve only
where the Company would be disadvantaged by engaging an slternative
provider, for instance where Grant Thomton UK LLP possesses a
detailed knowledge of the structure of the business or an understanding
of the rarkets thal the Group operates in. Mo non-audit services were
provided by Grant Thornton UK LLP during 2018.

G Davies

Audit Committee Chairman
geraint.davies@mearsgroup.co.uk
22 March 2019



Corporate governance

Report of the Remuneration Committee

i
R Irwin
Remuneration Committee Chairman
Meeting attendance
R Irwin aaas
JUnwin o0
K Murphy -
P Dicks 0
A Hillerby (Non-independent, in attendanca) ®

Key
Attended @ Absent @

Dear shareholder,
| am pleased to deliver my firsi report since taking over as
Committee Chairman.

The Directors’ remuneration policy report sets out the Company's
rermuneration policy for Directors. This policy was subject to a binding
vote at the 2017 AGM and will remain unchanged for a period of at least
three years. For completeness, the policy is detailled in full within this
Annual Report.

The Annual Report on Remuneration sets out payments and awards
made to the Directors and details the link between Company performance
and remuneration for the 2018 financial year. This repart, together with
this fetter, is subject to an advisory shareholder vote at the 2019 AGM.

You will have read earlier in the Annual Report that 2018 has been a
solid year, The financial results were satisfactory although shareholders
have been critical around the cash flow, and the working capital
absorbed in areas such as Housing Development. The Group did
register significant success in the period in securing three regions of
the Asylum Accomrmaodation and Support Contract The contract is
vafued at £1bn over the ten-year term and was the key sales target for
the year. Another highlight was completing the acquisition of certain
business assets from the property maintenance business of Mitie.

The transacticn took several months to complete, and the finat valuation
and deal structure is credit to the Executive team.

The Directors’ achievement against their key performance indicators

is detailed on pages 34 to 37 The Committee, in reviewing the
performance of the business, concluded that no award should he
made under the EIP in respect of 2018, a view with which the Executive
Directors agreed.

I am mindful that the Directors’ remuneration pelicy is not delivering the
desired outcomes in terms of motivation, retention and alignment in the
interests of senior management with sharcholders. Itis my intention

to commenge dialogue during 2019 to ensure that we have a revised
remuneration policy before the start of 2020, which will be ratified
through a binding vote at the 2020 AGM

The Remuneration Committee is acutely aware of the sensitivity around
increasing pay levels in excess of the general workforce. In this regard
we have broadened the Committee terms of reference and strengthened
its membership through the inclusion of our new Chairman Kieran
Murphy and also, from last autumn, our Employee Girector Amanda
Hiflerby. The Executive team is also mindful of the pay structure of the
wider workforce, and has emphasised its desire to ensure that, where
possible, resources are targeted to those at the lower end of the pay
scale. No pay increases are propased for the Executive team for the
coming year.

I hope you find the information in this report helpful and | look forward
to your suppart at the farthcoming AGM. | am always happy to hear
from the Company's sharehaolders and you can contact me direct, or via
the Company Secretary, Ben Westran, if you have any guestions on this
repart ar more generally in relation to the Company’s remuneration.

R Irwin

Remuneration Committee Chairman
roy.irwin@mearsgroup.co.uk

22 March 2019
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Corporate governance
Remuneration policy

Directors' remuneration policy

Remuneration policy and philosophy

Remuneration policy

How is this achieved?

A simple and transparent remuneration structure that retains and ~
motivates Executives while being sympathetic to Mears’ operating
environment from both an external and internal perspective. -

Conservative levels of fixed remuneration balanced with one annual
incentive strongly linked to performance.

The performance element of the annual incentive incorporates robust
financial, eperaticnal and strategic KPIs that are aligned with an
evolving business strategy in an uncertain econcmic environment

All incentive payments are deferred into equity over a five-year period
ensuring clear alignrent with shareholders' interests and ‘at-risk’
remuneration.

A proportion of each Executive's total compensation should be linked to ~
perfarmance related pay and the provision of equity.

Allincentive payments are delivered in "deferred’ shares. At stretching
performarnce, around gne third of the Executive Directors’ {otal
remuneration is based on the achievement of key corporate metrics
that are aligned to the Company's lang-term strategy.

There should be a commitment to fostering a performance culture that ~
aligns an individual's rewards with the key corporate metrics that drive
sharehalder value creation.

The performance measures used in the Executive Incentive Plan are
directly aligned with our corparate goals and as such ensure that there
is ho payment for poor performance.

The Committee will ensure that the remuneration package does not
lead to irresponsible hehaviour and that 1t takes appropriate account
of rigk.

Executive Directors
The table below sets out the key elements of the policy for Executive Directors:

Objective and

link to strategy

Qperation

Performance measures

Maximum opportunity and assessment

Base salary

The purpose of the
base salary is to:

The Committee reviews base salaries annually
in April.

~ help recruit The Committee will retain the discretion to increase
and retain key an individual's salary where there is a significant
individuals; difference between current levels and a market

~ reflect the
individual's
experience, role and
contribution within -~ ~
the Group; and

~ ensure fair reward ~
for ‘doing the job'

competitive rate. When determining base salaries
and whether to increase levels the Commiittee will
take the following into consideration:

the performance of the individua! Executive
Director,;

the individual Executive Director’s experience
and respensibilities;

~ the impact on fixed costs of any increase;
~ pay and conditions throughout the Group, and
~ the economic environment.

When setting the salary levels for the Executive
Directors, in addition to the factors summarised
above, salary levels paid by companies of a similar

size and complexity io Mears are taken into account.

The annual increase will not
exceed 10% of annual base
salary

The Committee is guided by
the general Increase for the
broader employee population
but may decide to award a
lower increase far Executive
Directars or indeed exceed this
to recognise, for example, an
increase in the scale, scope or
responsibility of the role and/
or to take into account relevant
market movements,

Net applicable.

The Company will set

out in the section headed
Statement of Implementation
of remuneration policy, in the
following financial year, the
salaries for that year for each
af the Executive Directars.

Other benefits

To provide benefits
that are valued by
the recipient and
are appropriately
campetitive.

The Executive Directars receive additional benefits
including a company-provided car or ar allowarce

Other benefits may be provided where appropriate.
Benefits in kind are not pensionable.

in lieu, Iife assurance and private medical insurance.

Benefit values vary year on year Not applicable.
depending on premiums and

the maximum potential value is

the cast of these provisions

Pension

To provide a framework
to save for retirernent
that is appropriately
competitive.

All Executive Directors receive a contribution into
their respective defined contribution plans, which
are subject to periodic review 1o ensure that they
remain in line with rates applicable in the market.
Only the base salary is pensionable.

The Executive Directors receive  Not applicable.
a contribution of 15% of salary.
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Objective and
link to strategy

Operation

Maximum opportunity

Performance measures
and assessment

Executive Incentive Plan (EIP)

To provide a link
between reward and
corporate performance
in order 1o appropriately
retain and motivate the
Executive Directors and
senior management
who are critical ta
executing the business
strategy.

To align the interests of
Executive Directors and
senior management
more closely with
shareholders over the
longer term and provide
a greater exposure to
share price movements
over this period

Annual awards of nil-cost options will be made
based an the achieverment of annual performance
measures.

Awards will be made in two parts:

~  50% of the maximum award will be granted
in deferred shares ('Part A}, and

~  5(0% of the maximum award will be granted
based on the achievement of a range of annual
performance measures (‘Part BY)

Both awards will vest 60% after three years, with
a further 20% after four years and the remaining
20% after five years.

The Committee may award dividends/dividend
equivalents on shares to the extent that the
shares vest.

in exceptional circumstances (such as recruitment)
the Committee retains the discretion to provide an
element of the award in cash.

Further details of the operation of the EIF, including
the perfarmance measures for 2019, are set out on
page 90.

Arnual awards made to
Executive Directors will be
capped at a maximum of 200%
of salary. For Part A of the
award, 100% will vest if the EPS
metric is met in full. For Part B
of the award:

~ 20% of the award will vest
for threshold performance,
and

~ 100% of the award will vest
for maximum performance.
There is straight-line vesting
between these points.

The performance measure for Part
A will be earnings per share

The performance measures for
Part B of the 2019 awards are

as follows: earnings per share
(EPS), return on capital employed
{ROCE), cash conversion, customer
satisfaction, and health and safety.

The Remuneration Committee
has discretion to set performance
measures and weightings on an
annual basis, with performance
measures for the next financial
year set out in the Staterment of
Implementaticn on pages 89

and 90.

The EIP contains malus (up to date
of vesting) and clawback (two years
post vesting) provisions

All-employee share plans

Encourages employees
to own shares in order
toincrease alignment
aver the longer term

All employees are eligible to participate in the
Company's Share Incentive Plan (SIP) and
Sharesave Plan (Save As You Eamn).

Under the terms of the Sharesave Plan all
employees can apply for three or five-year options to
acquire the Company's shares priced at a discount
of up to 20%.

Under the terms of the SIP the Company can choose
to offer free shares, partnership shares, matching
shares {up to two for cne on any partnership shares
purchased) and/or dividend shares.

In addition the Company operates a discretionary
unapproved share plan and a Company Share
Option Blan {CSOP). Na awards to Executive
Directors are proposed under these plans.

Under the SIP, Sharesave Plan
and CS0OP, the maximum
amount is equal to the
regulatory limits set frem time
1o time.

Not applicable.

Shareholding requirement

Secures a long-term
locked-in alignment
between the Executive
Directors and
shareholders, ensuring
that they build up and
maintain a minimum
level of sharehalding
throughout their
employment with

the Company.

The shareholding requirement will operate in the

following manner:

-~ only shares unconditionally owned by the
Executive Director will count against the
requirement; and

~ shares can be built up over a five-year period
from implementation of the policy through the
vasting and retention of share awards and/ar
MIP/EIP payments.

Minimum shareholding
requirement is 400% of salary.

Naot applicable
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Corperate governance
Remuneration policy continued

Reasans for selecting performance measures

The Committee wanted to ensure that the performarnce measures
selected provide a holistic assessment of overall carporate performance
and tie in to the non-financial objectives that the Company embraces
throughout the organisation.

EPS growth has been selested as it provides direct alignment to

the Company’s strategic objectives over the long term and is also
transparent, fully understood by participants and an externaily audited
metric over which they have line of sight.

The use of ROCE and cash conversion (previously incorporated
as underpins) ensures that quality of earnings is praotected and the
Company rnaintains strong working capital management.

Customer satisfaction and health and safety performance conditions
are included as these are key KPIs that the Cornpany focuses on and,
by performing strongly in these areas, it will help win new contracts with
end users and support new innovative operating models.

Targets are calibrated to reflect the Committee's assessment of good to
exceptional performance and taking into account internal budgets and
the current economic environment.

Differences in remuneration policy for all emplovees

The Company sets terms and conditions far employees which reflect
the different legislative and labour market conditions that operate

in each of our jurisdictions. We will always meet or exceed national
minimum standards for terms and conditions of ermployment in each
of our business areas. Pay arrangements in our businesses also reflect
local performance with personal increases based on achievement,
individually agssessed. Mears believes in the value of continuous
improvement, both for the individual and for the Company.

In general, all employees receive base salary, benefits and pension, and
are eligible to participate in the Company’s share plans. Share awards
and bonus plans are cascaded down below Executive level to senior
management, aligning the Senior Management Team to deliver value
for the Group.

The remuneration of the Executive Directors and Senior Executives is
mare heavily weighted towards variable pay than for other employees,
with a large proportion of their overall package dependent on successful
and sustained execution of the business strategy over the longer term.
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Comtnittee discretions

The Commttee will operate the EIP accarding to the plan rules.

The Committee retains discretion, consistent with market practice, in a
number of regards to the operation and administration of these plans.
These include, but are not limited to, the following

~ The participants.

~ The timing of grant of an award.

~ The size of an award

~ The determination of vesting.

~ Discretion required when dealing with a change of contral or
restructuring of the Group.

~ Determination of the treatment of leavers based on the rules of the
plan and the appropriate treatment chosen.

~  Adjustments required in certain circumstances (e.g. rights issues,
corporate restructuring events and special dividends).

~ The annual review of performance measures and weighting for the
EiP and exercise conditions.

~ In exceptional circumstances, the payment of a proportion of the EIP
in cash.

These discretions, which in certain gircumstances can be aperated in
both an upward and a downward manner, are consistent with market
practice and are deemed necessary for the proper and fair aperation

of the schemes in arder to achieve their original purpose. It is the
Committee’s policy, however, that there should be no element of reward
for poor performance and any upward discretion will only be applied in
exceptional circumstanges.

lHustrations of application of remuneration policy
For illustrative purposes we set out below how the policy would operate
at three levels of performance:

~  Minimum performance includes only fixed pay (salary, benefits
and pension).

~ Qn-target performance includes Part A of the EIP and 60% of Part B
of the EiP.

~  Maximum performance includes the maximum opporiunity under
the EIP.

Fixed pay is base salary for 2019 plus the vaiue of pension and
other henefits.

The charts demaonstrate the balance between fixed and variable pay for
minimum, threshold and maximum performance for Executive Directars’
remuneration in 2019 in line with the relevant policy



Approach to recruitment remuneration

In the event that the Company recruits a new Executive Director

{either from within the organisation or externally), when determining
appropriate remuneration arrangements, the Committee will take

into consideration all relevant factars {(including, but not Imited to,
guantum, the type of remuneration being offered and the jurisdiction the
candidate was recruited from) to ensure that arrangements are in the
best interests of both the Company and its shareholders, without paying
more than [s necessary to recruit an Executive of the required calibre.

The Committee would generally seek to align the remuneration of any
new Executive Director following the same principles as for the current
Executive Directors (set out in the palicy table on pages 80 and 81)

The elements that would be considered by the Company for inclusion
in the remuneration package for a new Director are in line with those
offered 1o existing Directors (see the policy table on page 84 for
more details):

~ Salary and benefits including defined contribution pension
participation or a salary supplement in lieu of pensicn provision.

~ Participation in the EIP of up to 200% of salary.

~ Participation in al-employee share plans operating at that time.

~ Costs relating to, but not limited to, relocation, iegai, financial,
tax and visa advice and pre-employment medical checks.

The maximum variable remuneration will be 200% of salary.

The Committee may make awards on appointing an Executive Director
1o 'buy out’ remuneration arrangements forfeited on leaving a previous
employer. Awards made by way of compensation for forfeited awards
would be made on a comparahle basis, taking account of performance
achieved (or fikely to be achieved), the proportion of the perfarmance
period remaining and the form of the award. Compensation could be

in cash or shares.

D J Miles
Remuneration {£'000)

1,400
1,200
1,000

800

600

& Annualincentives
B Fixed

A C M Smith
Remuneration (£'600)

1,400
1200
1,000
80c
600
400

200
- Annual incentives

Fixed

a
Along
Remuneraticn (£'004)
1,400
1,200
1,000
800
600
400

200

100%
£254

E: Annual Incentives
W Fixed

Minimum

o]

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018 85

yodas sbaiens

2OUBLLIBACD B)ki0dIo])

SJUBWI)E)S |BloUBL]

UOIIELLIOM| J2P|OYBIBYS



Corporate governance
Remuneration policy continued

Service contracts and paytnent for loss of office

Director

Date of contract/letter of appointment  Notice period by Cornpany or Director

Executive

D J Miles June 2008 Twelve months
A CM Smith June 2008 Twelve months
A Long August 2009 Twelve months
Chalrman/Non-Executive

K Murphy January 2019 Six months

G Davies QOctober 2015 Six months

J Unwin January 2016 Six months

J Burt February 2017 Six months

R Irwin Febrvary 2017 Six months

E Carrado September 2017 Six months

A Hillerby June 2018 Three months

All Executive Directors' contracts are rolling and, therefore, will continue
unless terminated by written notice, In the event of the termination of an
Executive Director's contract, salary and benefits will be payable during
the notice period. There will, however, be no automatic entitiement 1o
bonus payments or share incentive grants during the period of notice.

The rules of the EIP set out what happens to awards if a participant
ceases to be an employee or Director of Mears before the end of the
vesting periad. Generally, any outstanding share awards will lapse on
such cessation, except in certain circumstances.

If the Executive Director ceases to be an emplayee or Director as a
resuit of death, injury, il health, redundancy, retirement, the sale of the
husiness or company that employs the individual or any other reason
at the discretion of the Cormmittee, then they will be treated as a ‘good
leaver” under the plan rules.

Obhjective and
link to strategy

Operation

Undar the EIP, a proportion of a good leaver's award will vest on
cessation of employment by reference to the time elapsed from grant to
cessation. The Committee has discretion to determine the period during
which the good leaver may exercise their award after cessation.

0On a change of control, all awards under the EIP will vest immediately.

Chajrman and Non-Executive Directors

The Board as @ whole is responsible for setting the remuneration of the
MNon-Executive Directors, ather than the Chairman, whose remuneration
is determined by the Committee and recormmended to the Board.

The table below sets out the key elements of the policy for the Chairman
and Naon-Executive Directors

Perfarmance measures
fMaximum apportunity and assessment

To provide
compensation that
attracts individuals with
appropriate knowledge
and experience

Fee levels are reviewed periodically taking
into account independent advice and the tirme
cornmitment required of Non-Executive Directors.

The fees paid to the Chairman and the fees of the

other Non-Exacutive Directors aim to be cormpetitive

with other listed comparies which the Committee
{in the case of the Chairman) and the Board (in
respect of the Non-Executive Directors) consider
to be of equivalent size and complexity

Nan-Executive Directors receive a base fee and
additional fees for the role of Senior Independent
Diractar or tnembership and/or chairmanship of
certain Committees.

The Chairman receives a single fee and does not
receive any additiona! fees for membership and/or
chairmanship of Cormmittees.

Non-Executive Directors also receive
reimbursement of reasonable expenses (and any
tax thereon; incurred through undertaking their
duties and/ar Company business.

Any increase in Non-Executive  Non-Executive Director fees are
Director hase fees or additional  not performance related.
Committee/membership fees  nan-Executive Girectors do
(if introduced) may be above not receive any variable

the level awarded to ather remuneration element
employees, given that they may

arily be reviewed periadically

and may need to reflect any

changes to time commitments

or responsibilities.

The maximum potential value

of any benefits provided is the
cost of these provisions.

The Company will pay
reasonable expenses incurred
by Non-Executive Direclors
Current fee levels are set

out in the Statement of
implementation on page 90.
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Other Non-Executive appointments

Executive Directars have an obligation to inform the Board, specifically
the Remuneration Committee, of any Non-Executive positions held

or being contemplated and of the associated remuneration package.
The Remuneration Committee will consider the merits of each case
and carefully consider the work and time commitment required to fulfil
the Non-Executive duties and the potential benefit t¢ the Group and
then determine whether the remuneration should be retained by the
Executive or passed over 1o the Group.

Consideration of employment conditions elsewhere in the Group

in developing policy

in setting the remuneration policy for Executive Directors, the
Remunerstion Committee takes into account Group and business
unit perfarmance including both financial performance and safety
improvements in the year. Due to the wide variety of labour market
conditions and the markets in which we operate, pay rates are not
normally considered when considering Executive Director base pay
reviews. The Remuneration Committee reviews and notes the salares
of Senior Executives within the Group.

The Committee has not expressly sought the views of emplayees and
na remuneration comparison measurements were used when drawing
up the Directors’ remuneration policy Through the Board, however, the
Committee Is updated as to employee views on remuneration generally.

Consideration of shareholder views

The Committee is committed 10 an ongoing dialogue with shareholders
and seeks shareholder views when any significant changes are being
made to remuneration arrangements. We remain sensitive to the views
of shareholders and sought to consult many of our targest shareholders
regarding the changes we made tc the remuneration palicy in 2017

The Company wili continue to monitor shareholder cormments and
retain an open dialogue as necessary.
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Corporate governance
Annual remuneration report 2018

Annual report on remuneration

This section of the remuneration report cantains details of how the Company's remuneration policy for Directors was implemented during the

financial year.

Single total figure of remuneration (audited)

Executive Directors

The remuneration of Executive Directors showing the breakdown between elements and comparative figures is shaown below. Figures provided have

been calculated in accordance with the reguiations.

Taxable Annual Total

Executive Director {£'000) Year Salary benefits Pensicn incentives  remuneration
D J Miles 2018 387 10 58 - 455
2017 369 19 55 - 443

ACM Smith 2018 258 6 39 - 303
2017 250 7 37 - 294

A Long 2018 211 hh| 32 - 254
2017 205 12 K1l - 248

Non-Executive Directors

The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors showing the breakdown between elements and comparative figures is shown below.

have been calculated in accordance with the regulations.

Figures provided

Taxable Annual Total

Chairman and Non-Executive Director (£'000) Year Salary benefits Pension incentives  remuneration
R Halt 2018 220 - - - 220
2017 233 14 38 - 285

G Davies 2018 70 - - - 70
2017 60 - - - 60

JUnwin 2018 70 - - - 70
2017 60 - - - &0

R irwin 2018 70 - - - 70
2017 42 - - - 47

J Burt 2018 70 - - - 70
2017 58 - - - 58

E Corrado 2018 55 - - - 55
207 14 - - - 14

AHillerby 2018 29 2 - - EYl
2017 - - - - -

K Murphy 2018 - - - - -
2017 - - - - -

P F Dicks 2018 35 - - - 35
2017 50 - - - &0

M G Rogers 2018 - - - - -
2017 20 - - - 20

D L Hosein 2018 - - - - -
2017 20 - - - 20
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Additional details in respect of single total fiqure table (audited)

The performance measures and targets for the EIP for the year ended 31 December 2018 are detailed below. Despite the fact that a number
of performance targets were met, the Executive team requested that no awards are made under the EIP in respect of the 2018 financial year.

Descriptian Weighting Calculation Targets
Earnings per 40% ~ Growth in diluted EPS. Threshold:
share (EPS) ~ Diluted EPS is stated before exceptional costs and ~ B% EPS growth leads to 20% maximum
amortisation of acquisition intangibles and is adjusted contribution.
for a normalised tax charge from 1 January 2018 to Maximum:
31 December 2018, ~ 13% EPS growth leads to 100% maximum
~ Base figure of 30 36p to be used. contribution
~ Straight-line contribution between 8% and 13%.
Return on capital  20% ~ Qperating profit divided by capital employed. Threshold:
employed (ROCE) ~ Cperating profit is stated before acquisition intangible  ~ 15% ROCE leads ta 20% maximum contribution,
amortisation and exceptional costs Maximum.
~ Capital employed is defined as total assets less current | 209 ROCE leads to 100% maximurn contribution.
liabilities less all balances relating to bank borrowings ‘ ‘ L . .
and overdrafts classified within non-current liabllities ~ Straight-line contribution between 15% and 20%
at 31 December 2018.
EBITDA cash 20% ~ Cash inflow from operating activities as a proportion Threshold:
conversion of EBITDA measured at 37 December 2018, ~ 80% cash comversion leads 10 20% maximum
contribution.
Maximum:
~ 100% cash conversion leads ta 100% maximum
contribution.
~ Straight-line centribution between 80% and 100%.
Customer 10% ~ Themeasure is the percentage of customers whorate  ~  Alevel of customer service ‘excellent’ rating
satisfaction our service as ‘excellent” of 90% must be achieved in order to deliver
~ This output is generated from arcund 80,000 customer amaximum contribution.
surveys carned out during 2018.
Health and safety  10% ~ The measure is accident frequency rate (AFR). Itis ~  An AFR below 0.25 must be achieved in order

calculated as the number of reportable incidents divided
by the number of hours worked, multiplied by 100,000

ta deliver a maximurn contribution.

The actual performance achievement is summarnsed below:

% of target

Performance measures Actual satisfied
EPS growth 4% 0%
ROCE 17% 45%
EBITDA to cash conversion 4% G%
Customer service — "excellent’ rating 93% 100%
AFR 0.22 100%

The Remuneration Committee and the Executive team have agreed that no awards will be made under the EIP in respect of the 2018 financial year.
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Corporate governance
Annual remuneration report 2018 continued

Statement of Directors’ shareholding and share interests (audited)

Directors’ share interests are set out below:

Share interests
Vested but

btig}?;;ﬁyf —M imereslsTho;Iadl
Director owned shares Options at year end
D J Miles 175020 164,729 339749
ACMSmith 130,000 69,333 179,333
AlLohg 36,230 56,727 92,957
K Murphy - - -
G Davies 2,500 - 2,500
J Unwin - - -
J Burt - - -
R trwin - - -
E Gorrado - - -
A Hillerby - - -

Sharehoider dilution

In accordance with the Association of British Insurers' guidelines, the Company can issue a maximum of 10% of its issued share capital in a rolling
ten-year period to employees under all its share plans. In addition, of this 10% the Company can issue 5% to satisfy awards under discretionary or

Executive plans. The Company operates all its share plans within these guidelines.

Performance graph and table (unaudited)

The graph below shows the Group's performance, measured by TSR, compared with the constituents of the FTSE All-Share Support Services sector

over the last nine years. The index is the mast relevant to compare the Group's performance against its peers
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The table below shows the Chief Executive Officer's remuneration package over the past nine years, together with incentive payout/vesting as o)
compared to the maximum cpportunity. 2
ﬁ
Long-term 3
Single figure incentive e
of total Bonus payout  accrual rate [as 5
remuneration  (as % maximum % maximum 3
Year Mame (£'000) oppertunily) opportunity) £
iz
2018 D J Miles 455 - - @
2017 O J Miles 443 - -
2016 b J Miles 436 - - -
2015 D J Miles 436 - 20% g
2014 D J Miles 412 - 35% a.
2013 D J Miles 825 - 100% :,i
2012 D J Miles 409 - - o
20M D J Miles 384 - - g
2010 D J Miles 270 - - o
R Holt 600 - - @
2009 R Halt 1095 100% -
Pergentage change in Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration {unaudited} n":;’a
The table below compares the percentage change in the salary of the Chief Executive Officer with that of the wider emplayee population. §
[+]
Remuneration g
Salary Banus/ 5.,
entitlement Benefits Incentives %
Chief Executive Officer - - - z
Office salaries 1.3% - - g

The Chief Executive Officer’s basic salary eguates to 10 3 imes the pay of the average administrative employee, normalised 1o reflect a 60 hour
working week. On a similar basis, the Chief Executive Officer’s pay equates to 15.8 times the lowest paid worker. This will reduce to 15.1 times
following the pay increases to be applied in April 2019,

Relative importance of spend on pay (unaudited)
The table below sets out the relative importance of spend on pay in the financial year and previous financial year compared with other disbursements

from profit.

Disbursements

Disbursements from profit
from profitin In previous
financial year financial year
2018 2017 %
Significant distributions £°000 £'000 change
Total Directors’ pay 1,628 1634 -
Profit distributed by way of dividend 12,539 12,219 +2%
Underlying profit before tax 38,522 37122 +4%
Statement of implementation of remuneration policy in the following financial year
Executive Directors
Salary
The salary entitlements for the forthcoming year are set out helow
2019 2018 %
Executive Director £ £ change
D J Miles 386,817 386817 0%
ACMSmith 257,912 257812 0%
Along 211,019 211,018 0%
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Corporate governance
Annual remuneration report 2018 continued

Pension
Details of pension contributions for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out below:

Executive Director Pension
D J Miles 15%
A C M Smith 15%
A Long 15%
EiP

As set out in the policy table, the EIP is split into two parts: the deferred share award and the performance share award. Set out below is the
maximum opportunity of each part for the year ended 31 December 2018:

Part A - Deferred share award Part B - Performanse share award
(% of salary) (% of zalary}
100% 100%

For the 2019 EIF, the performance share award threshold leve! of vesting is 20% for each measure. The measures and weightings are set out below:

Payout range
(threshold to

maximum
Condition Weighting  opportunity)
EPS 40%  20%-100%
ROCE 40%  20%-100%
EBITDA cash conversion 20%—100%
Other Customer satisfaction 20%  20%—-100%
Health and safety 20%-100%
In setting targets, the Camrnittee takes inta consideration (amongst other items):
~ the Company's business plan;
~ consensus forecasts for the Company; and
- alignment with the Company’s business strategy.
Non-Executive Directors
The following table sets out the fee rates for the Non-Executive Directors:
%
2019 2018 change
Chairman fee 160,000 220,000 7%
Base fee 50,000 50,000 0%
Committee Chairman fee 15,000 15,000 0%
Comrittee membership fee 5,000 5,000 0%

Role of the Committee and activities

The Committee determines the total individual remuneration packages of each Executive Director of the Group and certain other senior employees
{and any exit terms) and recommends to the Board the framework and broad policies of the Group in relation to Senior Executive remuneration.
The Committee determines the targets for all of the Group's performance related remuneration and exercises the Board's powers in relation to all
of the Group's share and incentive plans.

There is a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on Executive remuneration and for determining the remuneration
of individual Directors,

The Remuneration Committee is responsible far:

~ determining and agreeing with the Board the broad remuneration policy for:
the Chairman, the Executive Directors and senior management; and
the Executive Directors’ remuneration and other benefits and terms of employment, including performance related bonuses and share options;
and

~ approving the service agreements of each Executive Director, including termination arrangements.

No Director is involved in determining his/her own remuneration.
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Annual overview
The Committee has continued to work to builld investor confidence with regard to its Executive remuneration palicies and remains committed to the

following actions:

~ Improving the level of openness and transparency in remuneration reporting through a detailed Annual Remuneration Report.

~ Operating a structured incentive arrangement with clear financial performance targets for each year

~ Undertaking a regular review of the remuneration policies for Executive Directors and other Senior Executives within the Group to ensure that they
remain apprapriate to retain and motivate such indwiduals.

~ Considering pay palicies within the Group as a whole when determining Executive Directors’ remuneration packages.

- Encouraging Executive Directors and Senior Executives to bulld up a meaningful shareholding in the Company to more closely align the interests
of shareholders and Executives

~ Being kept fully aware and informed on developments and best practice in the field of remuneration and corporate governance from external
advisers, institutional shareholders and their representative bodies

Notwithstanding the abave, the Committee recognises that the success of the Group is dependent on the efforts of key individuals and that they
should be fairly rewarded for their efforts and contributions in making Mears the successitis.

Statement of voting at general meeting
The table below shows the hustorical voting outcomes in respect of the remuneration palicy and Annual Remuneration Report.

Votes Votes Votes
Item for % against % withheld
To approve the Annual Report on Remuneration 77588906 a3 5,632,133 7 4000

The total number of ordinary shares eligible to vote at the 2018 AGM was 103,621,576. Every shareholder has one vote far every ordinary share held
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Corporate governance
Report of the Directors

The Directors present their report together with the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2018.

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Group are the provision of a range of
outsourced services to the public and private sectors. The principal
activity of the Cempany is to act as a holding company.

Business review

The Company is required to set out a fair review of the business of

the Group during the reporting period. The information that fulfils this
requirement gan be found in the Strategic Report, Review of Operations
and Financial Review. The results of the Group can be found within the
consolidated income statement. Information required to be disclosed
in respect of emissions and future developments is included within the
Strategic Report.

Dividend

The final dividend in respect of 2017 of 8.55p per share was paid in
July 2018 An interim dividend in respect of 2018 of 3.55p was paid

to shareholders in November 2018, The Directors recommend a final
dividend of 8.85p per share for payment on 4 July 2019 to shareholders
an the Register of Members on 14 June 2019. This has hot been
included within the consolidated financial staternents as no obligation
existed at 31 Becember 2018

Corporate governance
Details of the Group's corporate governance are set out on pages 66

to 71

Key performance indicators (KPls)

We focus on a range of key indicators to assess our performance.
Qur performance indicatars are bath financial and non-financial and
ensure that the Group targets its resources around its custorners,
employees, operations and finance. Collectively they form an integral
part of the way that we manage the business to deliver our strategic
goals Our primary performance indicators are detalled on pages 34
10 37

Directors
The present membership of the Board is set aut with the biographical
detail on pages 64 and 65.

In line with current practice, all of the Directors will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves far re-election at the AGM in May 2013

Any person appointed by the Directors must retire at the next AGM but
will be eligitle for re-election at that meeting.

The beneficial interests of the Directars in the shares of the Company
at 31 December 2018 are detailed within the Remuneration Report on
page 88.

The pracess governing the appaintment and replacement of Directors
is detailed within the Report of the Nomination Committee on pages 72
and 73
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Amendment ta Articles of Association

The Campany's Articles of Association can be amended only by a
special resolution of the members, requiring a majonty of not less than
75% of such members voting in person or by proxy.

Share capital authorisations
The 2018 Annual General Meeting (AGM) held in June 2018 authorised:

- the Directors to allot ehares vathin defined limits. The Companies
Act 2006 requires directors to seek this authority and, following
changes to Financial Services Authority (FSA) rules and institutional
guidelines, the autharity was Imited to one third of the issued share
capital, a total of £345 405 plus an additional one third of issued
share capital of £345,405 that can only be used for a rights issue or
similar fundraising;

~ the Directors to issue shares for cash on a non-preemptive basis.
This authority was limited to 10% of the issued share capital of
£103,620 and is required to facilitate technical matters such as
dealing with fractional entitlements or possibly a small placing; and

~ the convening of general meetings (other than an AGM) on 14 days’
notice. This resuits from a European Union directive that became
effective on 3 August 2010 and will override Secticn 307 of the
Companies Act 2006 where the requirement to give 21 days’ notice
far certain meetings has been amended.

Further details of these authaorigations are available in the nates to the
2018 Notice of AGM. Shareholders are also referred to the 2019 Notice
of AGM, which contains similar provisions in respect of the Company’s
equity share capital as detailed helow.

AGM

The 2019 AGM will be held on 31 May 2019 at §.30am and a formal
Notice of Meeting and Form of Proxy will be issued in advance.

The ardinary business to be canducted will include the reappaintment
of all Directors.

Principal risks and uncertainties

Risk is an accepted part of doing business. The Group's financial

risk management is based an sound econcmic objectives and good
corporate practice. The Board has overall responsibility for risk
management and internal controls within the context of achieving the
Group's objectives. Qur process for identifying and managing risks is set
outin more detail within the Carporate Governance Statement, The key
risks and mitigating factors are set out on pages 40 to 42, Delalls of
financial risk management and expasure to price risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk are given in note 24 to the financial staterments

Contracts of significance

The Group is party to significant contracts within each segment of its
business. The Directors do not consider that any one of those contracts
is essential inits own right ta the continuation of the Group's activities.




Payment policy

The Company acts purely as a holding company and as such is non-
trading. Accordingly, no payment policy has been defined. However, the
policy for Group trading companies is to set the terms of payment with
suppliers when entering into a transaction and to ensure suppliers are
aware of these terms. Group trade creditors during the year amounted
to 55 days (2017: 60 days) of average supplies for the year.

Capital structure
The Group is financed through both equity share capital and debt.

Details of changes to the Company's share capital are given in note
2610 the financial staternents, The Company has a single class of
shares — ordinary 1p shares ~ with no right to any fixed incorme and
with each share carrying the right to cne vote at the general meetings
of the Company. Under the Company's Articles of Assaciation, holders
of ordinary shares are entitled to participate in any dividends pro-rata
to their holding. The Board may propcse and pay interim dividends and
recommend a final dividend for approval by the shareholders at the
AGM. Afinal dividend may be declared by the sharehglders in a general
meeting by ordinary resolution but such dividend cannot exceed the
amount recommended by the Board.

Substantial shareholdings
As at 27 February 2019 the Company has been notified of, or is aware of,

the shareholders holding 1.5% or more of the issued share capital of the
Company, as detailed in the table below

Fund manager City  Shares (m) %I1C

PrimeStone Capital London 150 13 6%

Shareholder Value Management  Frankfurt 12.8 11.6%

Majedie Asset Management London 10.5 2.5%

Artemis Investrment Edinburgh, 79 7%
Management London

Heronbridge Investment Bath 72 6.5%
Management

Fidelity Management & Research Boston 53 4.8%

Legal & General Investment Lendon 5.1 4.6%
Management

Dimensional Fund Advisors London 4.7 4.3%

Columbia Threadneedle Londen 43 39%
Investments

Close Asset Management Lendon 2.6 2.3%

Montanaro Asset Management Lendon 2.5 22%

M&G Investment Management Lendon 2.4 22%

Slater Investments London 272 20%

Disabled employees
Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully

considered, bearing in mind the aptitudes of the applicant concerned.

In the event of members of staff becoming disabled, every effort is
made to ensure that their employment with the Group continues and
that appropriate training is arranged It is the policy of the Group that the
training, career development and promotion of disabled persons should,
as far as possible, be identical to that of other employees.

GHG emissions

The Group's carbon emissions data for the year is provided below.
Scope 1 ermissions, which are generated from owned or controlled
sources such as vehicles, have reduced while Scope 2 emissiong, which
are from the generation of purchased energy, have increased. This is

as a result of the change in mix between traditional maintenance work,
which naturally requires significant vehicle usage and management

of properties, which consume electricity. There has also been an

overall reduction as a result of more efficient working practices across
the Group.

These figures have been generated from independently provided
reports of carbon emissions ar energy usage from a variety of sources
and, where necessary, energy usage has been converted inta carbon
emissions using the 20718 dataset provided by the Department for
Environment, Food & Rural Affairs.

Scape units 2017 2078
Scope 1 Tonnes CO»e 19069 17437
Scope 2 Tonnes COze 1482 2008
Scope 1 and Scope 2 2017 2018
intensity tonnes COze/£m Revenue 22.83 2236

Employee information and consultation

The Greup has received recognition under the ‘Investors in Pecple’
award. The Group continues to involve its staff in the future development
of the business Information is provided to employees thraugh a daily
news email, a quarterly newsletter posted out to all staff, the Graup
website and the intranet to ensure that employees are kept well informed
of the performance and objectives of the Group.

CREST

CREST is the computerised system for the setilement of share
dealings on the London Stock Exchange CREST reduces the amount
of documentation required and also makes the trading of shares faster
and more secure. CREST enables shares to be held in an electronic
form instead of the traditional share certificates. CREST is voluntary
and shareholders can keep their share certificates if they wish.

This may be preferable for shareholders who do not trade in shares

on a frequent basis.

Auditor
Grant Thornton UK LLP offers itself for reappointment as auditor
in accordance with Section 489 of the Companies Act 2006.

By order of the Board
B Westran
Company Secretary

ben.westran@mearsgroup.co.uk
22 March 2019
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Corporate governance
Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

In respect of the Directors’ Report and financial statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the
Annual Report, the Remuneration Report and the
financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements far
each financial year. Under that faw the Directors are required to prepare
Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reparting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Unian and have
elected to prepare the Comparny financial statements in accordance with
United Kingdorn Generally Accepted Accounting Practice including FRS
101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework'. Under company law the Directors
must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and profit or loss of
the Group and the Company for that periad. in preparing these financiai
statements, the Directors are required to:

~ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

~ make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

~ state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed,
subject 1o any material deparfures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements, and

~ prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless
it is inappropriate to presume that the Carmpany will continue
in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting recards
that are sufficient ta show and explain the Group's and Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasanable accuracy at any time the
financial pasition of the Group and Company and enable them to ensure
that the financial statements and Remuneration Report cornply with the
Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Campany and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities.

The Directors confirm that.

~ 5o far as each Director is aware there is no relevant audit information
of which the Company's auditor is unaware; and

~ the Directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken
as Directors in order to make themselves aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the auditor 1s aware of
that information.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the corporate and financial mformation included on the Company's
website. Legislation in the United Kingdomn governing the preparation
and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation
in cther jurisdictions.
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To the best of our knowledge:

-~ the financial statements, prepared in accordance with the applicable
set of accounting standards, give a true and fair view of the assets,
habilities, financial position and profit or Joss of the Company and the
undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole; and

~ the Annual Report includes a fair review of the developrment and
performance of the business and tha position of the Company and
the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a wholg,
together with a description of the principal risks and uncertanties
that they face.

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report in
accordance with applicable law and regulations. The Board considers
the Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced
and understandable and that it provides the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Company’s performance, business maodel
and strategy.

Going concern

We principally operate in robust defensive markets, social housing and
care, where spend is largely nan-discretionary and our contracts tend to
be long-term partnerships.

The Group had net deht of £659m at 31 December 2018. The care debt
required ta satisfy the day-to-day requirements of the business is in

the region of £120m. This represents significant headroom against the
£155m unsecured revolving credit facility, with an additional accordion
mechanism allowing the facility to be increased to 2 maximum of £45m,
maturing in November 2022,

After reviewing the Group and Company's budget for the next financial
year and loenger-term plans, the Directors consider that, as at the date of
approving the financial statements, it is appropriate to adopt the geing
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

On behalf of the Board

A C M Smith

Finance Director
andrew.smith@mearsgroup.co.uk
22 March 2019



Corporate governance
Independent auditor’s report
To the members of Mears Group PLC

Our opinion on the financial statements is unmodified

We have audited the financial staterments of Mears Group PLC (the
‘parent company'} and its subsidiaries (the 'group’) for the year

ended 31 Decernber 2018, which comprise the Consolidated income
statement, the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
Consgolidated balance sheet, the Consolidated cash flow statement,

the Consolidated statements of changes in equity, the parent company
balance sheet, the parent company staterent of changes in equity and
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies. The financial reporting framewcork that has been
applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is applicable
law and International Financial Reporting Standards {({FRSs) as adopted
by the Eurapean Union. The financial reparting framewaork that has been
applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements

is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including
Financial Reparting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ (United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our apinion.

~ the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the
group’s and of the parent company's affairs as at 31 December 2018
and of the group's profit for the year then ended;

~ the group financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with {FRSs as adopted by the European Union,

~ the parent company financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice; and

~ the financial statements have been prepared in accardance with the
requirements of the Cornpanies Act 2006 and, as regards the group
financial statements, Article 4 of the |AS Reguiation.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on

Auditing (UK} (ISAs (UK)} and applicable law. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor's responsibilities
for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are
independent of the group and the parent company In accordance with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied
to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsbilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obiained is sufficient and appropriate 1o
provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to principal risks, going concern

and viability statement

We have nothing to repart in respect of the fallowing information in the
annual report, in relation 1o which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to
you whether we have anything material ta add or draw attention to:

~ the disclosures in the annual report set out on pages 38-42 that
describe the principal risks and explain how they are being managed
or mitigated:

~ the directors' confirmation set out on page 40 of the annual report
that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal risks
facing the group, including those that would threaten its business
model, future performance, solvency or liquidity;

~ the directors’ statement set out on page 96 of the financial
statements about whether the directors considered it appropriate
to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
financial statements and the directors’ identification of any material
uncertainties to the group and the parent company's ability to
continue to do sa over a period of at least twelve months from the
date of approval of the financial statements,

~ whether the directors’ statement relating to going concern required
under the Listing Rules in accordance with Listing Rule 9.8.6R{(3) is
materially inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit; or

~ the directors’ explanation set out on pages 43-44 of the annual
report as to how they have assessed the prospects of the group,
over what period they have done so and why they consider that
period to be appropriate, and their statement as to whether they have
a reasonable expectation that the group will be able to continue in
operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of
their assessment, including any related disclosures drawing attention
10 any necessary qualifications or assumptions.

Overview of our audit approach

~ We determined materiality for the audit of
the financial statements as a whole to be
£2.0 million;

~ Key audit matters were identified as
revenue recognition (including contract
accounting, contract assets and contract
accruals), goodwill impairment, defined
benefit pension schemes and acquisiticn
accounting {inctuding valuation of goodwill
and intangibles), and

~ We perfarmed full scope audit procedures
an the financial information of six
companies and specific audit procedures
over certain balances and transactions at
four further companies to gain sufficient,
appropriate audit evidence over all material
balances at both divisional and group levels.
We performed analytical procedures on the
financial information on the remaining thirty
three companies in the group.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those rmatters that, in cur professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of
the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of
material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified.
These matters included those that had the greatest effect on” the overall
audit strategy, the allocation of resaurces in the audit; and directing
the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in
forring our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate cpinicn
on these matters.
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Corporate governance

Independent auditor’s report continued
To the members of Mears Group PLC

Key Audit Matter — Group

How the matter was addressed in the audit — Group

Revenue recognition (including contract
accounting, contract assets and contract accruals)

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to:

Revenue is recognised throughout the group as the
fair value of consideration receivable in respect of
the performance of contracts and the provision of
services. The group adopted International Financial
Reporting Standard (IFRS) 15) 'Revenue from
Cantracts with Customers’ for the financial year
ended 31 December 2018,

Determining the amount af revenue to be recognised
requires management to make significant
judgements and estimates in the application of

the new IFRS, the stage of completion of certain
contracts and the recoverability of work-in-progress,
mobilisation costs and contract assets.

We therefore identified revenue recognition,
including contract accounting, contract assets
and contract accruals, as a significant risk, which
was one of the most significant assessed risks of
material misstatement.

assessing whether the accounting policies adopted by the directors are in accordance
with the requirements of IFRS 15, and whether management accounted for revenue in
accordance with the accounting policies, including the accounting and disclosure for the
transition to the new IFRS;

testing key controls, where applicable, over the recagnition of revenue and the allocation
of costs to the contracts, covering invoicing and cost approvals and for the Care business
unit to timesheet avthorisation;

selecting contracts by reference to materiality and other risk factors including loss making
contracts, contracts with significant aged contract assets and receivables halances or
significant increases in these balances, contracts with disputes, and contracts relating to
site iocations we visited during the year;

selecting s further sample of revenue transactions, contract assets and contract aceruals
balances, to ensure coverage across the group;

~ assessing, for the selected items and samples, whether the revenue recognised is

in accordance with the group's accounting policies by agreeing details to contract

terms, support for costs on which the revenue is derived, re-performing management's
calculations and assessing management's assumptions and assertions underpinning their
forecasts for contracts’ future perfarmance by reference to supporting documentation,
such as contract KPls, historical performance against forecasts, actual performance
against previous estimates and discussions with key contract accounting perscennel;

investigating the recoverability of contract assets and work-in-progress balances by
reference to post balance sheet cash collection, certifications performed by the group or
external quantity surveycrs, reviewing the quality of supporting evidence, including internal
and external legal opinions, expert value reports and correspondence with customers, and
examining the group's historical experience of recovery;

identifying contracts that were at risk of incurring future losses during the remaining life of
the contract. This included assessing all potentially cnerous contracts in the prior year, but
also any that had incurred significant losses during 2018; and

examining such centracts and challenging management's assumptions and assertions
relating to the future results of those cantracts by referance to supporting evidence
such as management’s plans to return the contract to profit, forecast models, previous
history of turning around loss making contracts and correspondence with clients where
appropriate.

The group’s accounting policy on revenue recognition 1s shown in ‘Principal accounting
policies — group’ to the financial statements on pages 108-109 and related disclosures are
included in note 1. The Audit Committee identified revenue recognition as a primary area of
judgement in its report on page 78 where the Audit Committee also described the action that
it has taken to address this issue,

Key observations

Based on our audit work, we did not identify any material misstaterment in the revenue
recognised in the year to 31 Decernber 2018 or in the contract assets and contract accrual
balances as at that date.
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Goodwill impairment

Qur audit work included, but was not restricted to:

The directors are required to make an annual
assessment to determine whether the carrying

value of goodwill of £196.7 milfion is impaired. Past
experience has indicated that there is significant
headroom in the goodwill balance relating to the
Social Housing division Cash Generating Unit (CGU")
but limited headroom in the goodwill balance relating
1o the Care division CGU, which accounts for £112.4
million of the carried goodwill.

The process for assessing whether an impairment
exists under Internal Accounting Standard (IAS) 36
‘Impairment of Assets’ is complex. Calculating the
valuein use, through forecasting cash flows related
to CGUs and the determination of the appropnate
discount rate and other assumptions to be applied
can be highly judgemental and can significantly
impact the resufts of the impairment review.

We therefore identified the impairment review of
goodwill undertaken by management in relation to
the Care division as a significant risk, which was
one of the most significant assessed risks of
material misstatement.

~ assessing whether the accounting policies adopted by the directors are consistent with
the prior year and in accordance with the requirements of 1AS 36;

~ obtaining management’s discounted cash flow forecast for the Care division used in the
impairment review and comparing it to our understanding of the division and recalculating
the arithmetical accuracy of thase calculations;

~ testing and challenging the assumptions utilised in the impairment modets, including the
increase in carer hours, the new contract wing and the ability to pass on uplifts in payroll
costs ta local autharities;

~ considering whether the market level assumptions used were appropriate and where
nossible, benchmarking these assumptions against available industry data including
assessing these against the work done by an external expert;

~ performing sensitivity analysis on the various assumptions used for this model to consider
the headroom levels for various scenarios; and

~ testing the accuracy of management’s forecasting through a comparison of tudget to
actual data and historical variance trends and investigating the cash flows for excepticnal
or unusual items or assumptions

The group's accounting policy on impairment is shown in ‘Principal accounting palicies -

group’ to the financial statements on page 107 and related disclosures are included in note 13.

The Audit Committee identified carrying value of goodwill as a primary area of judgement in

its report on page 77, where the Audit Committee also described the action that it has taken

to address this issue.

Key observations
Based on our audit work, we found the valuation methodolagies and assumptions made in

management’s assessment of goodwill impairment were appropriate. We consider that the
group's disclosure to be in accordance with |AS 36 and have found na material errors
in calculations.

Defined benefit pension schemes

Qur audit work included, but was not restricted to:

The group operates a number of defined benefit
pension schemes and is admitted body of a number
of other defined benefit pension schemes. At

31 December 2018 the defined benefit pension
schemes had a combined net surplus of £20m, of
which £14m is recognised in the financial statements
as recoverable. The gross value of the pension assets
and obligations which form the net surplus amounted
to £439m and £419m respectively.

The measurement of the abligations in accordance
with 1AS 19 'Ernployee benefits’ involves significant
judgement and thelir valuation is subject to complex
actuarial assumptions. Small variations in those
actuarial assumptions can lead to a materially
different value of pension lighilities being recognised
within the group financial statements.

We therefore identified the valuation of the defined
benefit pension schemes obligations as a significant
risk, which was one of the most significant assessed
risks of material misstaterment.

~ assessing whether the accounting policies adopted by the directors are appropriate and
in accordance with the requirements of 1AS 19;

~ tilising the expertise of our actuarial specialists in order to review the appropriateness of
the assumptions used in the calculation of the gbligations and testing the appropriateness
of the valuation methodologies and their inherent actuarial assumptions by benchmarking
key assumptions such as discount rates, wages and salary growth rates and mortality
rates to available market data;

~ testing the accuracy of underlying membership data utilsed by the group’s actuaries for
the purpose of calculating the scheme liabilities by selecting a sample of emgloyees and
agreeing membership to underlying records;

~ directly confirming the existence and valuation of pension scheme assets with asset
managers for group schemes and analysing the movements on assets for admitted body
schemes; and

~ checking the treatment of Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) service cost and ensuring
this has been accounted and disclosed for correctly.

The group's accounting policy on defined benefit pensions is shown in ‘Principal accounting
policies — group' to the financial statements on page 110 and related disclosures are included
in note 29 The Audit Cormmittee identified defined benefit pension valuaticn as a primary area
of judgement in its report on page 78, where the Audit Committee afso described the action
that it has taken to address this issue.

Key observations
Based an our audit work, we found the actuarial assumptions used for the defined benefit

pension schemes to be reasonable. We consider that the group's disclosure appropriately
describes the significant degree of inherent uncertainty in the assumptions and estimates
and the potential impact on future periods of revisions to these estimates. We found no
material errors in calculations.
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Carporate governance

Independent auditor’s report continued
To the members of Mears Group PLC

Acquisition accounting (including vaiuation of
goodwill and intangibles)

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to:

During the year the group acquired the entire share
capital of MPS Housing Limited and Mitie Property
Management Limited. This acquisition has had
amaterial impact on the financial statements,
resulting in the recognition of goodwill and intangible
assets on consolidation of £20.7 million into the
groun.

The group measures goadwill at the acguisition date
as being the fair value of consideration, including
the estimated value of deferred consideration,
transferred less the net recognised amount of
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
Goedwill of £3.3 million was recognised as a result
of the acquisition of MPS Housing Limited and Mitie
Property Management Limited

Under |AS 38 'Intangible Assets’, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination are deemed

1o have a cost to the group equal to thejr fair value
at the acquisition date. Intangible assets of £17.4
million were recognised as a result of the acquisition
These intangibles were valued, based on discounted
cash flow forecasts prepared by management,
which reguire judgement by the Directors around
key assumptions such as revenue growth, discount
rates, customer atirition and long term growth rates

Oninitial recognition, the assets and liabilities
acquired in a business combination are included in
the consolidated balance sheet at their fair values,
which are also used as the basis for subsequent
measurement in accordance with the group
accounting policies. Betermining the fair value of
certain assets and liabilities requires judgement to
be exercised by the Directars, particularly in respect
of estimating the value in use of assets acquired
and capturing contingent habilities not previaustly
recognised in the financial statements

Due to the significant financia! statement impact of
the acquisition, as well as the high level of estimation
required in determining the appropriate accounting
treatment, we therefore identified acquisition
accounting, including valuation of goodwill ang
intangibles, as a significant risk, which was one

of the most significant assessed risks of

material misstaterment

assessing whether the accounting policies adepted by the directors are in accordance
with the requirements of [AS 38;

obtaining an understanding of the acquisition through review of legal agreements and
discussion with management of both Mears and the acquired companigs,

re-performing management’s calculation of the fair value of the consideration, including
the estimated value of the deferred consideration transferred less the net recognised
amount of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumied, ensuring thisis in
accardance with the requirerents of IFRS 3 "Business Combinations”;

using our internal valuation expert to evaluate and assess the assumptions used, incluging
discount rates, growth rates and forecast future trading performance, in the calculation of
the fair value of the intangibles recognised:

testing the accuracy of the data used in the intangibles valuation by agreeing data to
pertinent supporting documentation such as long-term growth forecasts; '
testing significant fair value adjustiments made to the assets and liabilities acquired, and
challenging management’s assumptions in the value in use assigned 1o certain assets;
and

assessing the adequacy of disclosures in respect of the acquisition to ensure these are

in accordance with IAS 38 and IFRS 3.

The group's accounting pelicy on acquisition accounting is shown in 'Pringipal accounting
policies — group’ 1o the financial statements on pages 105-106 and related disclosures are
included in note 28.

Key observations

Based on aur audit work, we found that the assumptions and judgements used in
management’s accounting treatment of the Mitie acquisition were reasonable. We also
note that the valuation of goodwill and intangibles is not materially misstated. We found
no material errors in the underlying calculations.

We did not identify any key audit matters relating to the audit of the financial statements of the parent company.
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Qur application of materiality

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstaternent in the financial statements that makes it probable that the economic decisions of a
reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed ar influenced. We use materiality in determining the nature, iming and extent of our audit work
and in evaluating the results of that wark

Materiality was determined as follows:

Materiality measure

Group

Parent

Financial statements
as awhole

We determined materiality for the audit of the financial
statements as a whole to be £2.0 million.

Our determination of materiality included a consideraticn
of a number of benchmarks that we believe to be of
importance to the users of the financial statements,
mast natably the group’s preliminary earnings before
interest, tax and amortisation. This benchmark is
considered particularly important due to the significant
level of user focus on this figure in assessing the group’s
performance

The leve! of materiality however, was not determined
using a single particular benchmark as we considered
the financial staterments in their entirety, therefore the
appropriate amount of materiality was determined

to be £2 0 million based on a review of the financial
staterments, and this amount was evaluated for
appropriateness by reference 1o a range of key
benchmarks.

Materiality for the current year 1s higher than the level that
we determined for the year ended 31 December 2017

as aresult of the increased adjusted earnings before
interest, tax and amaortisation in the current year.

We determined materiality for the audit of the parent
company financial statements to be £0.75 million.

Our determination of materiality included a consideration
of a number of berichmarks that we believe to be of
importance to the users of the financial statements, most
notably the company’s total assets. This benchmark is
considerad particwarly important due to the principal
activity of the company being an investment holding
company.

The level of materiality however was not determined
using a single particular benchmark as we considered
the financial statements i their entirety; therefore the
appropriate amount of materiality was determined

to be £0.75 million based on a review of the financial
statements, and this amount was evaluated for
appropriateness by reference to a range of key
benchmarks.

Materiality for the current year is higher than the level that
we determined for the year ended 31 December 2017 as
a result of the increase intotal assets of the company at
the year end.

Performance materiality
used to drive the extent
of our testing

Based on our risk assessment, including the group's
overall contral environment, we determined a performance
materiality of 75% of the financial statement materiality.

Based on our risk assessment, including the company's
averall control environment, we determined & performance
materiality of 75% of the financial statement materiality.

Specific materiality

We determined a lower level of specific materiality for
certain areas such as directors' remuneration and related
party transactions.

We determined a lower level of specific materiality for
certain areas such as directors’ remuneration and related
party transactions.

Communication of
misstatements to the
audit committee

We communicate misstatements exceading £0.7 milllan
and misstatements below that threshald that, in our view,
warrant reporting on qualitative grounds.

We communicate misstatements exceeding £0.038
million and misstatements below that threshald that,
In our view, warrant reporting on qualitative grounds.
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Corporate governance
Independent auditor’s report continued
To the members of Mears Group PLC

An overview of the scope of gur audit
Qur audit approach was a risk-based approach founded on a thorough

understanding of the group's business, its environment and tisk profile.
In order to address the risks described abave as identified during our
anning arocedures, we performed a full Scope audit of the financial
statements of the parent company, Mears Group PLC and of the group's
operations throughout the United Kingdom.

The companies of the group were evaluated by the group engagement
team based on a measure of materiality considered as a percentage

of totai group assets, revenues and earnings before taxes, to assess
the significance of the component and to determine the planned audit
response. For those camponerits that we determined ta be significant
companents, either a full scope approach or specific procedures

in relation ta specific balances and transactions were carried out.

This approach was determined based on their relative materiality to the
aroup and our assessment of audit risk; this approach is in line with our
approach used In the prior year.

The group’s companies vary significantly in size. We performed full
scope audits at six companies. Specific audit procedures over certain
balances and transactions were performed on a further four companies,
1o give appropriate coverage of all material balances at both divisional
and levels. Together, the reporting units subject to audit procedures,
heing full scope and specific procedures, were responsible for 92%

of the group ‘s revenues, 82% of the group 's earnings before, interest,
tax and amortisation and 50% of group ‘s total assets. We perfarmed
analytical procedures over the remaining thirty three companies.

For significant components requiring a full scope approach, an interim
visit was conducted before the year end to undertake substantive
procedures in advance of the final visit and to evaluate the group ‘s
internal contrel environment. We sought wherever possible, to rely on
the effectiveness of the group ‘s internal controls which allows us to
reduce substantive testing. We then undertook substantive testing
on significant transactions and material account balances, including
the pracedures cutlined above in relation to the key risks. For the
components where specific procedures were carried out a similar
testing strategy was applied, focused on the significant transactions
and material account balances.

The remaining non-significant components of the group were subject to
analytical procedures over their financial performance and position after
taking inte account the risks identified above and the significance of the
component to the group.

Qther information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report
and accounts, other than the financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon. Qur oplnion on the financial statements does hot
cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance
conglusion therean.
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the ather information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required
to determine whether there 1s a material misstatement in the financial
statements or a material misstaterment of the other information. I,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
repart that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

In this context, we also have nothing to report in regard to our
responsibility to specifically address the following items in the other
information and to report as uncorrected material misstaternents of
the other information where we conclude that those items meet the
following conditions:

~ Fair, bafanced and understandable set out on page 96 - the directars
consider the annual report and financial statements taken as a whole
is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the group's performance,
business model and strategy, is materially incansistent with our
knowledge obtained in the audit; or

~ Audit committee reparting set out on pages 76 to 80 - the section
describing the work of the audit committee does appropriately
address matters communicated by us to the audit committee or

~ Directors' statement of compliance with the UK Corpaorate
Governance Code set out on page 64 - the parts of the directors’
staternent required under the Listing Rules relating to the company’s
compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code containing
provisions specified far review by the auditor in accordance with
Listing Rule 9.8.10R{2} do properly disclose a departure from a
relevant provision of the UK Corparate Governance Code

QOur opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
is unmodified

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

~ the information given in the strategic report and the report of the
dirgctors for the financial year for which the financial staternents
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

~ the strategic report and the report of the directors have bheen
prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements

Matters on which we are required to report under the

Companies Act 2006

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the
parent company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit,
we have notidentified material misstatements in the strategic repaort or
the report of the directors.




Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation
to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in

ouf opinion’

~ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent
company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

~ the parent company financial staterments and the part of the
directors' remuneration report to be audited are not in agreement
with the accounting records and returns; or

~ certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are
not made; or

~ we have not received all the information and explanations we reguire
far our audit

Responsibilities of directors far the financial statements

As explained more fully in the statement of directors’ responsibilities

set out on page 96, the directors are responsible for the preparation

of the financial statemerits and for being satisfied that they give a true
and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstaternent, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the group’s and the parent company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to gaing
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting uniess the
directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstaternent,
whether due to fraud or error, and to 1ssue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion.

Reascnable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not

a guaraniee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs

(UK) will always detect a material misstaterment when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered materiaf
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasenably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements

We are responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial
statements taken as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or error Owing to the inherent limitations of

an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that material misstatements of

the financial statements may not be detected, even though the audit

is properly planned and performed in accordance with the ISAs (UK).
Our audit approach is & risk-based approach and is explained more fully
in the 'An overview of the scope of our audit' section of our audit report

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be
expected 1o have a material effect on the financial statements from our
general commercial and sector experience and through discussion with
the directors and other management (as required by auditing standards),
and from inspection of the group's requlatory correspondence and
discussed with the directors and other management the policies

and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations.

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team
and remained alert to any indications of non-compliance throughout the
audit. This included communication from the group to component audit
teams of relevant laws and regulations identified at group level.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial
statements varies considerably.

The group is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the
financial statements including financial reporting legisiation (including
related companies legislation), distributable profits legislation and
taxation legislation and we assessed the extent of compliance with
these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related
financial statement items.

The group is subject to many other laws and regulations, we did not
identify any others where the consequences of non-compliance
alone could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the
financial staterments.

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavaidable
nsk that we may not have detected some material misstatements

in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned

and performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards.

For example, the further removed non-campliance with laws and
reguiations {irregularities) is from the events and transactions reflected
in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited
procedures required by auditing standards would identify it. In addition,
as with any audit, there remnained a higher risk of non-detection of
irregularities, as these may invalve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresantations, or the override of internal controts.

We are not responsible for preventing non-compliance and cannot be
expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements is located on the Financial Reparting Council's website at”
www frc org uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part
of our auditor's repart.

Other matters which we are required to address

Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were
appointed by the Audit Committee in 1996 to audit the financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 1996 and subseguent
financial periods.
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Corporate governance
Independent auditor’s report continued
To the members of Mears Group PLC

The period of total uninterrupted engagement is twenty two years,
covering the years ending 31 December 1996 ta 31 December
2018. Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we
were appointed by the board of the directors in 2017 to audit the
financial statements for the years ending 31 December 2017 to
31 December 2027,

The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were
not provided to the group or the parent company and we remain
independent of the group and the parent company in canducting

our audit.

Qur audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the
audit cammittee

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the company's members, as a bady, in

accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.

Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
sompany's members those matters we are required to state to them
in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the company and the company's members as a body, for
our audit wark, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed

Rehecca Eagle

Senior Statutory Auditor

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP
Statutary Auditor, Chartered Accountants
Birmingham

22 March 2019
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Financial statements
Principal accounting policies — Group

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial staterments of the Group have heen prepared in accardance with RS as adopted by the Eurapean Union and with those

parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS and therefore the consolidated financial statements comply with
Article 4 of the EU International Accounting Standards {IAS) Regulation. The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention
as modified by the revaluation of derivative financial iInstruments and share-based payments

The most significant changes in accounting policies from the previous year were the introduction of IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with
Customers' and IFRS S 'Financial Instruments’ for which the impact of introduction has been disclosed in note 3. The accounting policies remain
otherwise unchanged from the previous year except for the modification of a number of standards with effect from 1 January 2018. Changes include
Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions {(Amendments to IFRS 2} and Annual Improvements 2014-2016 {which
made amendments 10 IFRS 1 and IAS 28). The adoption of these amendments had no material effect on the Group’s financial statements.

The preparation of financial statements in confarmity with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (UK GAAP) requires the use of estimates

and judgements that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue
and expenses during the year. Although these estimates are based on the Directors' best knowledge of the amounts, actual results may ultimately
differ fram those estimates. The most significant estimates made by the Directors in these financial statements are set out in 'Use of judgements
and estimates’ on pages 112 to 113.

Mears Group PLC 1s incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales (registration nurber 3232843). Its registered office and principal place
of business is 1390 Montpellier Court, Gloucester Business Park, Brockworth, Gloucester GL3 4AH. Mears Group PLC's shares are listed on the
London Stock Exchange.

The Directors cansider that, as at the date of approving the financial statements, there is a reasonable expectation that the Group and the Company
have adeguate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the Directors continue tc adopt the going
concern basis in preparing the financial statements. The Directors have discussed the principal risks and uncertainties of the business in the Risk
Management section on pages 38to 42.

Basis of consolidation

The Consolidated Balance Sheet includes the assets and liabilities of the Company and its subsidiaries and is made up to 31 December 2018,
Entities aver which the Group has the ability 1o exercise control over financiat and operating policies are accounted for as subsidiaries. Contrel is
achieved where the Company has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the activities that affect the Company’s returns and exposure
or rights to variable returns from the entity. Interests acquired in entities are consolidated from the effective date of acquisition and interests sold are

consolidated up to the date of disposal.

All significant intercompany transactions and balances between Group enterprises, including unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions,
are eliminated on consolidation; no profit is taken on sales between Group companies.

Nan-centrolling interests in the net assets of conselidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. Non-controlling
interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business combination and the nan-controliing sharehalders’ share of
changes in equity since the date of the combination. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

Ajaint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control have the rights to the net assets of the arrangement. Investments in
joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under this method, the Group's share of post-acquisition profits or losses is
recognised in the Consclidated Income Statement, the cost of the investrnent in a given joint venture, together with the Group’s share of that entity's
post-acquisition changes to shareholders' funds, 1s included in investments within the Consclidated Balance Sheet.

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The acquisition method involves the recognition at fair value of all
identifiable assets and liabilities, including contingent liabilities of the subsidiary at the acquisition date, regardiess of whether or not they were
recorded in the financial staternents of the subsidiary prior to acquisition. On initial recognition, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary are included
in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at their fair values, which are also used as the bases for subsequent measurement in accordance with the Group
accounting pelicies. Goodwill is stated after separating out identifiable intangible assets. Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost over the
fair value of the Group's share of the identifiable net assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition.

Where apphcable, the consideration for an acquisition includes any assets or liabilties arising from a contingent consideration arrangement,
measured at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes in such fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they result
from additianal information obtained up to one year from the acquisition date about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

All other subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability are recognised in accordance with IFRS 9
in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Costs refating to acquisitions in the year have been expensed.
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Financial statements
Principal accounting policies — Group continued

Business combinations continued
For transactions with non-contralling parties that do not result in a change of control, the difference between the fair value of the consideration paid
and the amount by which the nen-caontrolling interest 1s adjusted is recognised in equity.

Any business combinations prior to 1 January 2010 were accounted for in accordance with the standards in place at the time, which differ in the
following respects: transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition formed part of the acquisition costs; contingent consideration was
recognised if, and only if, the Group had a present ebligation, the economic outflow was more likely than not and & reliable estimate was determinable;
and subsequent adjustments to the centingent consideration were recognised as part of goodwill.

Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost, net of depreciation Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are ingluded in the asset's carrying amaunt or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow into the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the Consolidated Income Statement during the financial periad in which they
are incurred

Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated to write down the cost less estimated residual value over their estimated
useful economic lives. The rates generally applicabie are.

Freehold buildings - 2% p.a., straight ling

Leasehold improverents - over the period of the lease, straight ine
Plant and machinery - 25% p.a., reducing balance

Fixtures, fittings and equipment - 25% p.a. reducing balance

Motor vehicles - 28% p.a., reducing balance

Residual values are reviewed annually and updated if appropriate. The carrying value is reviewed for impairment in the period if events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recaverable An asset’s carrying value is written down immediately to its recoverable amount
if the agset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gams and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within administrative
expenses in the Consolidated Income Statement

Intangible assets
In accardance with IFRS 3 {Revised) 'Business Combinations’, an intangible asset acquired in a business combination s deemed 1o have a cost to

the Group of its fair value at the acquisition date. The fair value of the intangible asset reflects market expectations about the probability that the
future economic benefits embodied in the asset will fiow to the Group. Where an intangible asset might be separable, but only together with a related
tangible or intangible asset, the group of assets is recognised as a single asset separately from goodwill where the individual fair values of the assets
in the Group are not reliably measurable. Where the individual fair values of the complementary assets are reliably measurable, the Group recognises
them as a single asset provided the individual assets have similar useful lives. Intangible assets are amortised over the useful economic life of

those assets.

Development costs incurred on software development are capitalised when all the following conditions are satisfied:

~ completion of the software module is technically feasible so that it will be available for use;

~ the Group intends ta complete the development of the module and use it;

~ the software will be used in generating probable future economic benefits;

~ there are adequate technical, financial and other resources ta complete the development and to use the software; and
~ the expenditure attributable to the software during its develapment can be measured reliably.

Costs incurred making intellectual property available for use {including any associated berrowing costs) are capitalised when all of the following
conditions are satisfied:

~ completion of the data set 15 technically feasible so that it will be avallable for use;

~the Group intends to complete the preparation of the data and use it,

~ the data will he used in generating probable future economic benefits;

~ there are adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the data set and to use it and

~ the expenditure attributable to the intellectual property during its development can be measured reliably.
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Intangible assets continued

Development costs not meeting the criteria for capitalisation are expensed as incurred. Careful judgement by management is applied when deciding
whether the recognition requirements for development costs have been met. This is necessary as the economic success of any development

15 uncertain and may be subject to future technical problems at the time of recognition. Judgements are based on the information available at

each balance sheet date. In addition, all internal activities related to the research and development of new software are continually monitored

by management.

The cost of an internally generated intangible asset cormprises all directly attributable costs necessary to create, produce and prepare the asset to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Directly attributable costs include employee costs incurred on software development.

Amortisation commencas upon completion of the asset and is shown within other administrative expenses. Until the asset is available for use
on completion of the project, the assets are subject to impairment testing only. Development expenditure is amortised aver the pericd expected
to benefit.

The identifiable intangible assets and associated periods of amortisation are as follows:

Order book - over the period of the order boak, typically three years

Client relationships — over the period expected to benefit, typically five years

Development expenditure — over four to five years, straight line

Intellectual property — over the period of usefulness of the intellectual property, typically five years
Gaodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents any excess of the cost of the acquired entity over the Group’s interest in the fair
value of the entity’s identifiable assets and liabilities acquired and is capitalised as a separate item. Goodwill is recognised as an intangible asset.

Under the business combinations exemption of IFRS 1, goodwill previously written off directly to reserves under UK GAAP is not recycled to the
Consolidated Income Staternent on calculating a gain or loss on dispesal.

Impairment
For the purposes of assessing impalrment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows. cash-

generating units (CGUs) As a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested at CGU level. Goodwillis allocated to
those CGUs that are expected to benefit from synergies of the related business combination and represent the lowest level within the Group at which
rmanagement monitors the related cash flows.

Goodwill or CGUs that include goodwill and those intangible assets not yet avallable for use are tested for impairment at least annually. All other
individual assets or CGUs are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
berecoverable

An impairment foss is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement for the amount by which the asset's or CGU's carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amaount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs to sell, and value in use based on an
internal discounted cash flow evaluation. Impairment lesses recognised for CGUs, to which goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially to the
carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro-rata to the other assets in the CGU. With the exception of goodwill, all
assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist.

Assets held for sale
Assets held for sale are recognised at the lower of their carrying amaount and their fair value less costs to sell and separately presented on the face
of the balance sheet. These assets are expected to be held for a lmited duration prior to being sold.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is the actual purchase price of materials.

Work in proqress
Work in progress is included in inventories after deducting any foreseeable logses and payments on account not matched with revenue. Work in

progress represents costs incurred on speculative construction projects where a customer has not yet been identified. Work in progress is stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises materials, direct labour and any subcontracted work that has been incurred in bringing
the inventories and work in progress to their present location and condition.

Contract assets

Contract assets are included in trade and other receivables and represent revenue recognised in excess of the tatal of payments on account and
amounts invoiced
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Financial statements
Principal accounting policies — Group continued

Trade recejvables
Trade receivables represent amounts due from customers in respect of invoice. They are initially measured at their transaction price and
subsequently remeasured at amortised cost

Retention assets represent amounts held by customers for a period following payment of invoices, to cover any potential defects in the work.
Retention assets are included in trade receivables and are therefare initially measured at their transaction price.

Accounting for taxes
Income tax comprises current and deferred taxation

Current tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations ta, or ¢laims from, fiscal authorities that are unpaid at the balance sheet date.
They are calculated according ta the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the accounting periads to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for
the year

Where an item of iIncome or expense is recognised in the Consolidated Incorme Statement, any related tax generated is recognised as a component
of tax expense in the Consalidated Income Statement. Where an item is recognised directly to equity or presented within the Consolidated Statement
of Comprehensive income, any related tax generated is treated similarly

Deferred taxation is the tax expected to be repayable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the financial statements and corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit ang is accounted for using the balance sheet
liability method.

Deferred taxation liabilities are generally recognised on all taxahle 'emporary differences in full with no discounting. Deferred taxation assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
However, deferred tax is not provided on the initial recognition of goodwill, nor an the initial recognition of an asset or liability, unless the related
transaction is a business combination or affects tax or accounting profit.

Deferred taxation is calculated using the tax rates and laws that are expected 1o apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. The carrying value of deferred taxation assets is reviewed at each
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available against which taxable
temporary differences can be utilised Deferred tax is charged or credited to either the Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated Statement
of Comprehensive Income or equity to the extent that it relates to items charged or credited. Deferred tax relating to items charged or credited directly
1o equity is also credited or charged to equity.

Revenue

(FRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers' replaces the previous measurement standards I1AS 18 'Revenue’ and IAS 11 'Construction
Contracts’ IFRS 15 has been applied using the modified retrospective approach on transition which results in an adjustment to the opening balance
of equity at 1 January 2018 and no restatement of the prior period. The scope of the transitional adjustment is all contracts with customers which
span the 1 January 2018 transition date. For the comparative period, the financial statements are reported under the aforemeantioned accounting
standards, IAS 18 and IAS 11,

IFRS 15 provides a single, principles-based, five-step model to be applied to all sales contracts as outlined below. It is based on the transfer of control
of goods and services to custamers and replaces the separate models for goods, services and construction assets. The detail befow sets out the
principal types of contract and how the revenue is recognised in accordance with IFRS 15.

The Group's contract portfolio has heen assessed by operating segment. The contracis with customers in Housing have a wide variation of goods
and services being provided to customers with differing performance obligations and levels of complexity. Within Housing, IFRS 15 does not apply
10 lease contracts within the scope of 145 17 Leases' In Care, there is a single performance obligation within all contracts and the segment follows
a single revenue recognition methadology. None of the Group's contracts are considered to have a significant financing component.

Housing
Schedule of rates (SOR) contracts

These contracts are primarily for repairs and maintenance services Revenue is derived using a fixed pricing schedule, which allows each job to

be identified and valued. This pricing schedule is referred ta as the SOR, which determines the transaction price. Each work arder represents a
performance obligation and as the customer cantrols the asset being enhanced through the works, the performance obligation 1s satisfied aver time.
The stage of completion of the work order is assessed and an appropriate propartion of the expected transaction price recognised in revenue.
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Revenue continued

Housing continued
Lump sum contracts

Lump sum contracts may involve delivering a range of goods and services, typically repairs, maintenance and capital works, however, there is a
single fixed lump sum payment per period which represents the transaction price. The obligation within a lump sum contract is deemed to be being
available 1o deliver the goods and services in the scope of the contract, not the actual performance of the individual works orders themselves
Therefare revenue will he recognised on a straight-line basis as performance obligations are being met over time

Contracting

For contracting projects, the contract states the scope and specification of the construction works to be carried out, for a fixed price. Mears 1s
continuously satisfying this single performance obligation as cost is incurred, determining prograss against the performance obligation on an input
basis. The customer controls the site or output as the work is being performed on it and therefore revenue is recognised over time where there is an
enforceable right to payment for works completed to date and the work completed does note create an asset with an alternative use to the Group.
An assessment is made of costs incurred to date and the costs required to complete the project. If a project is not deemed to be profitable, the
unavoidable casts of fulfilling the contract are provided for immediately. This category also includes construction contracts where an end customer
has not yet been identified and the revenue is recognised at a paint in time, rather than over time.

Variable consideration

The Group’s Housing revenue includes elements of variable consideration. Where there is uncertainty in the measurement of variable consideration,
at both the start of the contract and subsequently, management will consider the facts and circumstances of the contract in determining either

the most likely amount of variable consideration when the outcome is binary, or the expected value based on a range cf possible considerations.
Included within this assessment will be the extent to which there is a high probability that a significant reversal in variable consideration revenues wilt
not cceur once the uncertainty is subsequentiy resolved This assessment will include consideration of the following factors: the tatal amount of the
variable consideration; the proportion of consideration susceptible to judgements of customers or third parties; the length of time expected before
resolution of the uncertainty; and the Group's previous experience of similar contracts.

Rental income
Where the Group is acting as principal, lessor operating lease revenue is recognised in revenue on a straight-line basis over the tenancy in accordance
with IAS 17 ‘Leases’, which will be replaced by IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ from 1 January 2019.

Where the Group is providing a management service, Mears recognises revenue as an agent {the net management fee) on a straight-line basis.
Where significant initial costs are required to make good the housing ta perform Housing Management activities, the costs directly attributable to
the initial upgrade wilt be recognised as costs incurred to fulfil a contract and held within current assets, to the extent that it is determined that costs
are recoverable.

Care

The stand-alone selling prices for providing care are cvertly stated in the contract, and the method of application of the rate of charge is on a unit
of time basis, usually expressed as a rate per visit. Revenue will be recognised in respect of this single performance abligation, by reference to the
chargeable rate and time for completed care visits in the period.

From time to time, care contracts with customers include a fixed fee per period for performing a consistent scope of care. For these contract types,
the revenue recognition is consistent with lump sum contracts above

There is a shift towards rewarding providers of care on the basis of achievement of specific outputs achieved and moving away from the traditional
input-based, per-hour measurement. Care outputs are either achieved or not achieved and are determined by service user Revenue will be
recognised when the specific performance obligation has been satisfied.

Segmentreporting
Segment information 1 presented in respect of the Group's operating segments based on the format that the Group reports ta its chief cperating
decision maker

The Group considers that the chief operating decision maker comprises the Executive Directors and Senior Executives of the business.

Exceptional costs
Exceptional costs are disclosed on the face of the Consolidated Income Staterment where these are material and caonsidered necessary to explain
the underlying financiat perfarmance of the Group. They are either one-off in nature or necessary elements of expenditure to derive future benefits

for the Group which have not been capitalised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
Costs of restructure are only considered to be exceptional where the restructure is transformational and the resultant cost is significant

Acquisition costs are only considered to be exceptional where the acquisition and the resultant cost are significant
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Financial statements
Principal accounting policies — Group continued

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit obligations
The Group operates both defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemes as foliows™

i} Defined contribution pensicns
A defined contribution pian is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed cantributions to an independent entity. The Group has no fegal
obligations to pay further contributions after payment of the fixed contribution.

The contributions recagnised in respect of defined contribution plans are expensed as they fall due. Liabilities and assets may be recognised if
underpayment or prepayment has occurred and are included in current liabilities or current assets as they are normally of a shert-term nature.

The assets of the schemes are heid separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund.

iy Defined benefit pensions
The Group contributes 1o defined benefit schemes which require contributions to be made to separately administered funds.

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on
one or mare factors such as age, vears of service and salary. The legal obligations for any benefits from this kind of pension plan remain with the
Group, even if plan assets for funding the defined benefit plan have been set aside.

Scheme liabllities are measured using the projected unit funding mathod, applying the principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date.
Assets are measured at market value. In accordance with IFRIC 14, the asset that is recognised 1s restricted to the amount by which the 1AS 19
{Revised) service cost is expected, over the lifetime of the scheme, te exceed funding contributions payable in respect of accruing benefits.

Where the Group has a contractual obligation to make good any deficit in its share of a Local Government Pension Scheme {LGPS) but also has the
right to recaver the costs of making goad any deficit from the Graup’s client, the fair value of that guarantee asset has been recognised and disclosed.
The right to recover costs is limited to exclude situations where the Graup causes the scheme to incur service costs in excess of those which would
have been incurred were the members employed within Lacal Government. The right to recover costs is also limited to situations where the cap on
employer contributions payable by the Group is not set so as to contribute to reducing the deficit in the scheme. Movements in the guarantee asset
are taken to the Consclidated income Statement and to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income to match the moverment in pension
assets and liabilities.

Actuarial gains and losses are taken 1o the Consolidated Staterment of Comprehensive Income as incurred. For this purpose, actuarial gains and
losses comprise both the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions and experience adjustments arising because of differences between the
previous actuanal assumptions and what has actually accurred

Other mavements in the net surplus or deficit are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement, including the current service cost, any past
service cost and the effect of curtailrments or settlements The net interest cost is also charged to the Consolidated Income Statement. The amount
charged to the Consolidated Income Statermnent in respact of these plans is included within operating costs

The Group's contributions to the scheme are paid in accordance with the rules of the scheme and the recommendations of the scheme actuary
Share-based employee remuneration

All share~based payment arrangements that were granted after 7 November 2002 and had not vested before 1 January 2005 are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS 2.

The Group cperates equity-settled and cash-settled share-based remuneration plans for its employees. All emiployee services received in exchange
for the grant of any share-based remuneration are measured at their fair values. These are indirectly determined by reference to the fair value
{excluding the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions) of the share options awarded. Their value is determined at the date of grant and is net
subsequently remeasured unless the conditions on which the award was granted are modified. The fair value at the date of the grant is calculated
using the Black Schotes option pricing model and the cost is recognised on a straight-line basis aver the vesting period. Adjustments are made to
reflect expected and actual forfaitures during the vesting period. For Save As You Earn (SAYE) plans, employees are required to contribute towards
the plan. This non-vesting condition is taken into accountin calculating the fair value of the option at the grant date.

All share-based rermuneration is Ultimately recognised as an expense in the Consclidated Income Statement. For equity-settled share-based
payments there is a corresponding credit to the share-based payment reserve, for cash-settied share-based payments the Group recognises a
liability at the balance sheet date.

Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs up to the nominal value of the shares issued
are allocated to share capital, with any excess being recorded as share premium.
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Leases

in accordance with 1AS 17 "Leases’, the ecanomic ownership of a leased asset is transferred to the lessee if they bear substantially all the risks and
rewards related to the ownership of the leased asset. The related asset is recognised at the time of incepticn of the lease at the fair value of the
leased asset o, if lower, the present value of the lease payments plus incidental payments, if any, to be borne by the lessee. A corresponding amount
is recognised as a finance leasing liability, irrespective of whether some of these lease payments are payable upfront at the date of inception of

the lease.

Subsequent aceounting for assets held under finance lease agreements, i.e. depreciation methods and usefu! lives, correspond to those applied
to comparable acquired assets. The corresponding finance leasing liability is reduced by lease payments less finance charges, which are expensed
to finance costs. Finance charges represent a constant periodic rate of interest on the outstanding bafance of the finance lease liability.

All other leases are treated as operating feases. Payment on operating fease agreements is recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Associated costs, such as maintenance and insurance, are expensed as incurred.

Financial ingtruments
Financial assets and liahilities are recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet when the Group becarmes party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. The principal financial assets and labilities of the Graup are as follows

Financial assets, loans and receivables

From 1 January 2018, the assets generated from goods or services transferred to customers are now presented as either receivables or contract
assets, in accordance with IFRS 15. The assessment of impairment of receivables or contract assets from 1 January 2018 is in accordance with
IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments”.

All of Mears' cash flows from customers are solely payments of principal and interest, and da not contain a significant financing component.
Financial assets generated from all of the Group's revenue streams are therefore initially measured at their fair value, which is constdered to be their
transaction price (as defined in IFRS 15) and are subsequently remeasured at amortised cost

Under IFRS 9, Mears will now recognise a loss allowance for expected credit losses (ECL) on financial assets subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the 'simplified approach’. Indwidually significant balances are reviewed separately for impairment based on the credit terms agreed with
the custormer. Other balances are grouped into credit risk categories and reviewed in aggregate.

Trade receivables, contract assets and cash at bank and in hand are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are

not quoted in an active market. Trade receivables and contract assets are initially recorded at fair value net of transaction costs, being invoiced

value less any provisional estimate for impairment should this be necessary due to a loss event. Trade receivabies are subsequently remeasured at
invoiced value, less an updated provision for impairment. Any change in their value through impairment or reversal of impairment is recognised in the
Consolidated Income Statement.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand and bank deposits available with ne notice or less than three months’ notice from
inception that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts are presented as current habilities to the extent that there s no
right of offset with cash balances. The Group considers its revolving credit facility to be an integral part of its cash management During the year, the
Comprehensive Staternent of Cash Flows has been re-presented to show this separately from cash and cash equivalents. This has resulted in a net
increase in reveiving credit facility of £43.2m (2017 decrease. £14.7m) being added to cash movements on financing activities In the Comprehensive
Statement of Cash Flows and a commensurate adjustment to cash movement for the year, resulting in a cash and cash equivalents figure of £27.9m
{(2017: £24.8m). A memo has been addad to the Comprehensive Statement of Cash Flows to show cash and cash equivalents and the rolling credit
facity in total.

Following initial recognition, financial assets are subsequently remeasured at amortised cast using the effective inlerest rate method.
Financial liabilities
The Group's financial liabilities are overdrafts, trade and other payables including centingent consideration, and interest rate swaps. They are

included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet line items 'Short-term borrowings and overdrafts’, Trade and other payables’, ‘Financial liahilities’ and
‘Other liabilities”.

All interest related charges are recagnised as an expense in ‘Finance costs' in the Consolidated Income Statement with the exception of those that
are directly attributable ta the construction of a qualifying asset, which are capitalised as part of that asset.

Bank and cther borrowings are initially recognised at fair value net of transaction costs Gains and losses arising on the repurchase, settlernent
or cancellation of liabilities are recognised respectively in finance income and finance costs. Borrowing casts are recognised as an expensein
the period in which they are incurred with the exception of those which are directly attributable to the construction of a qualifying asset, which are
capitalised as part of that asset.

Trade payables on normal terms are not interest bearing and are stated at their fair value on initial recognition and subsequently at amortised cost.

Contingent consideration 1s initially recognised at fair value and is subsequently measured at fair value through the Consolidated Income Statement.
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Financial statements
Principal accounting policies — Group centinued

Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments tc hedge its exposure to interest raie risks arising from operational and financing activities

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially and subsequently at fair value, with mark-to-market mavements recognised in the
Consalidated Income Statement except where cash flow hedge accounting is applied.

The fair value of interest rate swaps is the estimated amount that the Group would receive or pay to terminate the swap at the balance sheet date,
taking into account current interest rates and the current creditwarthiness of the swap counterparties.

In accordance with its treasury policy, the Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.

Hedage accounting for interest rate swaps

where an interest rate swap is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of an existing or highly probable ferecast lean interest payment,
the effective part of any valuation gain or loss on the swap instrument is recognised in ‘Other comprehensive income' in the hedging reserve.

The curnulative gain or loss is removed frorm equity and recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement at the same time as the hedged
transaction. The ineffective part of any gain or [oss is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement immediately

When a hedging instrument or hedge relatioriship is terminated but the hedged transaction is still expected to cecur, the cumulative gain or loss
at that point remains in equity and is recognised in accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no
longer probable, the cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement immediataly.

Nature and purpose of each reserve in equity
Share capital is determined using the nominal value of shares that have been issued.

Share premium represents the difference between the nominal value of shares issued and the total consideration received

Equity-settled shared-based employee remuneration is credited to the share-based payment reserve unti! the related share options are exercised.
Upon exercise the share-based payment reserve is transferred to retained earnings.

The hedging reserve represents the effective part of any gain or loss on a cash flow hedge which has not been removed from equity and recognised
in the Consolidated Income Statement.

The merger reserve relates to the difference between the nominal value and total consideration in respect of the acquisition of Careforce Group plc,
Supporta ple and Mornson Facilities Services Limited where the Company was entitled {o the merger relief offered by the Companies Act 2006

Dividends
Dividend distributions payahle to equity shareholders are included in ‘Current financial habifities” when the dividends are approved irta gereral
meeting prior to the balance sheet date.

Use of judgements and estimates
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgements that affect the reported amounts of assets

and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reperted amounts of income and
expenditure during the reported period. The estimates and associated judgements are based on histarical expenience and various other factors that
are believed Lo be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgements about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.

The estimates and underlying judgements are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 1o accounting estimates afe recognised in the period in which
the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or In the period of the revision and future periads if the revision affects both current and
future periods,

In the preparation of these consolidated financial staterments, estimates and judgements have been made by management concerning the selection
of useful lives of property, plant and equipment, pravisions hecessary for certain liabilities, when to recognise revenue on long-term contracts,
actuarial judgements, discount rates used within impairment reviews, the underlying share price volatility for valuing equity-based payments and
other similar evaluations. Actual amounts could differ from those estimates.
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Use of judgements and estimates continued
Critical judgements in applying the Group's accounting policies

Revenue recognition

Previously IAS 18 ‘Revenue’ and 1AS 11 ‘Construction Contracts' allowed contracts with a vanety of services to be combined in certain circumstances
in determining the percentage of completion of those muiti-service contracts. Under this standard, revenue was recorded to reflect the expected
profit margin on the contract based on the overall stage of completion. Disaggregating these contracts o determine the satisfaction of performance
obligations, as detalled ebove, significantly changes the timing of revenue recognition, as in many contracts, stage of completion 18 now assessed

at the individual job level. £19.1m of the reduction in the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2018 relates to the disaggregation of contracts
previgusly combined. The totat transaction price of these contracts does not change under IFRS 15.

The Group's assessment of variable consideration revenue recognition under IFRS 15 is detailed above The judgement applied under IFRS 15 more
closely aligns timing of revenue recognition with cash inflows where the contractual mechanism contains uncertainty Previously, the Group utilised
expected value calcuiations in determining the variable consideration revenue to be recognised. £4 8m of the reduction in the opening balance of
equity at 1 January 2018 relates to the Group’s application of IFRS 15 in relation to variable consideration The tatal amount of varniable consideration
will not change under IFRS 15.

Joint arrangements
The Group participates in a number of joint arrangements where control of the arrangement is shared with another party. A joint arrangement is
classified as & joint operation ar as a joint venture, depending on management’s assessment of the legal form and substance of the arrangement.

The classification can have a material impact on the cansolidated financial statements. The Group's share of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses
and cash flows of joint operations would be included in the consolidated financial staternents on a line-by-line basis, whereas the Group's
investment and share of results of joint ventures are shown within single line items in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and Cansolidated Income
Statement respectively.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Contract recoverability

Determining future contract profitability requires estimates of future revenues and costs to complete. In making these assessments there is a degree
of inherent uncertainty. The Group utilises the appropriate expertise in determining these estimates and has well-established internal controls to
assess and review the expected outcome.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goadwill is impaired requires an estimate of the value in use of the CGUs to which goadwill has been allocated. The value-in-use
calculation involves an estimate of the future cash flows of the CGUs and also the selection of appropriate discount rates to caiculate present values.
Future cash flows are estimated using the current one-year budget forecast, extrapolated for a future growth rate. The estimated growth rates are
hased on past experience and knowledge of the individual sector’'s markets. Changes in the estimated growth rate could result in varatians to the
carrying value of goodwill. The estimated cash flows and future growth rates are based on past experience and knowledge of the sector. The value

in use is most sensitive to changes in the terminal growth rate, the explicit growth rate and the discount rate The sensitivity to changes in these
estimations is detailed in note 13.

Defined benefit assets

Scheme assets for LGPS have been estimated by rolling forward the pubhshed asset position from the previous year using market index returns over
the periad. This is considered to provide a good estimate of the actual scheme assets and the values will be updated to actuals each time a triennial
valuation takes place.

Defined benefit liabilities
Anumber of key estimates have been made, which are given below, and which are largely dependent cn factors outside the control of the Group.

- Inflation rates;

~ mortality;

- discount rate; and

~ salary and pension increases.

Details of the particular estimates used are included in the pensions note. Sensitivity analysis for these key estimates is included in note 29.

Where the Group has a contractual obligation to make good any deficit in its share of an LGPS but also has the right te recover the costs of making
good any deficit from the Group's client, the fair value of that asset has been recognised and disclosed The right to recover costs is limited to
exclude situations where the Group causes the scherne to incur service costs in excess of those which would have been incurred were the members
employed within Local Gavernment. The Directors have made judgements in respect of whether any of the deficit is as a result of such situations.

The right to recover costs is also limited to situations where the cap on emplayer contributions to be suffered by the Group 18 not set so as to

contribute to reducing the deficit in the scheme. The Directors, in canjunction with the scheme actuaries, have made Judgements in respect of the
predicted future service cost and contributions to the scheme ta reflect this in the fair value of the asset recognised.
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Financial statements
Principal accounting policies — Group continued

New standards and interpretations not yet applied
IFRS 16 ‘Leases’

IFRS 16 replaces the existing leasing accounting guidance, which includes 1AS 17 'Leases’ and IFRIC 4 'Determining Whether an Arrangement
Contains a Lease’. The standard is effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

The standard requires lessees to account for most contracts using an on-balance sheet model, with the distinction between operating and finance
leases being removed. There is no change to the revenue recognition methadology for lessor operating leases.

The standard provides certain exemptions from recognising leases on the balance sheet, including where the asset is of low value or the lease term is
12 months or less. In addition, the standard makes changes 1o the definition of a lease to focus on, amongst other things, which party has the right to
direct the use of the asset

Under the new standard, the Group will be required to recognise right of use lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet. The right of use
asset is initially measured at cast and subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. Liabilities are measured based on the present value of future lease payments over the
lease term, Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of tease medifications, amongst others.

The recognition of the depreciation of right of use fease assets and interest on lease liahilities over the irase term will have no overall impact on profit
before tax over the life of the lease; however, the result in any individual year will be impacted and the change in presentation of costs will likely be
material to the Graup’s key financial metrics. Under IAS 17, the charge 1s booked in full to aperating profit. Metncs which will therefore be affected wili
include operating profit and operating margin, interest and interest cover, Earnings Befaore Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA) and
operating cash flow.

Furthermore, the principal amount of cash paid and interest in the casn flow statement will be presented separately as a financing activity
QOperating lease payments under |AS 17 would have been presented as operating cash flows. There will be ne overali net cash flow impact.

The Group will use the madified retrospective transition method on adoption. Under this methed, the asset is calculated as if IFRS 16 had always
been applied; however, the liability is calculated as if all leases start on 1 January 2019, which will result in no change to comparative numbers but an
adjustment within the reserves of the Group

The impact of IFRS 16 to the Group, at the point of transition is detailed on page 51 in the Financial Review.

Information on the undiscounted amaunt of the Group's operating lease commitments under IAS 17 ‘Leases’, the current leasing standard, is
disclosed in the Group's annual financial statements. The leases substantially relate to property leases used ta perform Housing activities as an
operating lease lessor, and vehicle leases used in performing Housing activities,

Other new standards and amendments

A number of other standards have been modified. These include IFRIC 23 ‘Uncertainty aver Income Tax Treatments’, Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement (Amendments to 1AS 19) and Annual Irnproverments to IFRS standards 2015-2017 {various standards). None of these amendments are
expected to have a material effect on the Group's financial staterments
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Financial statements
Consolidated income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2018

2018 2017

Note £'000 £'060
Continuing operations
Sales revenue 7 869,843 800,184
Cost of sales (662,825) (676,482)
Grass profit 207,018 223,702
Other administrative expenses (166,177) (184 551)
Exceptional costs 8 (5,657) -
Amartisation of acquisition intangbles 14 (4,434) (10,638)
Total administrative costs (176,268) {195189)
] Operating profit before exceptional costs and amortisation of acquisition intangibles 2 40,841 39,151 J
Operating profit 2 30,750 28,513
Finance income 5 1,154 751
Finance costs 5 (3,473) (2,780)
r Profit for the year before tax, exceptional costs and amortisation of acquisition intangibles 38,522 37122 |
Profit for the year before tax 28,431 26,484
Tax expense 9 {3,606) {(4,315)
Profit for the year from continuing aperations 24,825 22169
Discontinued operations
Exceptional loss from discontinued operations 10 - (16,500
Tax income from discontinued operations °] - 3,176
Loss for the year after tax from discontinued operations - (13.324)
Profit for the year from continuing and discontinued operations 24,825 8,845
Attributable to:
Owners of the Parent 24,064 7582
Non-controlling interest 761 1,263
Profit for the year 24,825 8,845
Earnings per share — from continuing operations
Basic 12 23.05p 20.28p
Diluted 12 2291p 20.10p
Earnings per share — from continuing and discontinued operations
Basic 12 23.05p 7.35p
Diluted 12 22.91p 7.29p

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Financial statements
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 December 2018

2018 207
Note £'000 £000
Profit for the year 24,825 8,845
Qther comprehensive income/(expense):
Which will be subsequenily reclassified to the Consolidated Income Statement:
Cash flow hedges.
~ josses arising in the year 24 - (54
~ reclassification to the Consolidated Income Statement 24 325 645
Decrease in deferred tax asset in respect of cash flow hedges 25 (45) (143)
Which will not be subsegquently reclassified to the Consolidated Income Statement:
Actuarial {loss)/gain on defined benefit pension scheme 29 (9,431) 13,879
Increase/(decrease) In deferred tax asset in respect of defined benefit pension schemes 25 1,792 (2,637)
Other comprehensive {expense)/income for the year (7,359) 11,690
Total comprehensive income for the year 17,466 20,535
Attributable to:
Owners of the Parent 16,705 19,272
Nean-controlling interest 761 1262
17,466 20,535

Total cornprehensive income for the year

The accompanying accounting palicies and notes form an integral part of these financial staternents
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Financial statements
Consolidated balance sheet
As at 31 December 2018

2018 2007
Note £'000 £000
Assels
Non-current
Gaodwill 13 197,073 193642
Intangible assets 14 31,570 17266
Property, plant and equipment 15 24,956 22037
Pension and other employee benefits 29 17,368 27,308
Deferred tax asset 25 5,500 4314
276,467 264567
Current
Assets clagsified as held for sale 17 12,442 13,941
Inventories 18 29,751 18,705
Trade and other receivables 20 178,194 153,912
Current tax assets 609 m
Cash at bank and in hand 24 27,876 24770
248,872 211,439
Total assets 525,339 476,006
Equity
Equity attributable to the shareholders of Mears Group PLC
Called up share capital 26 1,105 1,036
Share premiurm accourt 82,224 60,204
Share-based payment reserve 2,021 1,469
Hedging reserve 24 (46) (326)
Merger reserve 46,214 46,214
Retained earnings 79,189 100,897
Total equity attributable to the shareholders of Mears Group PLC 210,707 209,494
Non-cantrolling interest (427) 96
Total equity 210,280 209,590
Liabilities
Non-current
Long-term barrowing and overdrafis 24 78,780 50,559
Pension and other emnployee benefits 29 3,802 4966
Deferred tax liabilities 25 7,710 7,098
Financial liabilities 22 15 79
Other payables 23 7478 5,036
97,785 67,738
Current
Borrowings refated to assets classified as held for sale 24 15,000 13941
Short-term borrowing and overdrafts 15,000 -
Trade and other payables 21 187,233 184,484
Financial liabilities 22 41 253
Current liabilities 217,274 198,678
Total liabilities 315,059 266416
Total equity and liabilities 525,339 476,006
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors and were signed on its behalf on 22 March 2019,
D J Miles A CMSmith
Director Director
Company number: 03232863
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Financial statements
Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2018

2018 2017
Note £'000 £000

QOperating activities
Result for the year before tax 28,431 26,484
Adjustments 27 15,641 21,148
Change in inventaries (11,045) (7471)
Change in trade and other receivables (13,948) {109)
Change in trade and other payables (17,490) (11,381)
Cash inflow from operating activities of continuing operations before taxatian 1,589 28671
Taxes paid 665 (3,776}
Net cash inflow from cperating activities of continuing operations 2,254 24,895
Net cash outflow from operating activities of discontinued operations (1,610) (9,354}
Net cash inflow from operating activities 644 15,54
Investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment (7,667) (5,572)
Additions te other intangible assets (3,089) (3,661)
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment 144 204
Net cash inflow/{outflow) in respect of property for resale 1,499 {13,941)
Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings (27,500} {5,000)
Net cash acguired with subsidiary undertakings (4,185) -
Sale of subsidiary undertaking - 1,582
Net cash disposed of with subsidiary {(26) (1,234
Loans made to other entities (hon-controfted) (139} (232}
Interest received 389 351
Net cast outfiow from investing activities {40,574} {27,503}
Financing activities
Proceeds from share issue 22,089 1,894
Receipts from borrowings related to assets classified as held for sale 1,059 13,941
Acquisition of non-controlling interests {6,163) -
Net moverment in revolving credit facility 43,221 (14,719)
Discharge of finance lease liability (479) {1954)
Interest paid (3,602) (2,597)
Dividends paid — Mears Group shareholders (12,539} (12,218)
Dividends paid ~ non-controlling interests {550) {525}
Net cash inflow/{outflaw) from financing activities 43,036 (16172)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 24,770 52504
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,106 (28134)
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 27876 24770
The Greup considers its revolving credit facility to be anintegral part of its cash management:
~ cash at bank and in hand 27,876 24770
~ revalving credit facility {93,780) (50,559)
Cash and cash equivalents, including revelving credit facility {65,904) (25,789)

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Financial statements

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Share-
Share based Non-
Share premium payment Hedging Merger Retained controlling Total
capital account reserve reserve reserve earnings Interest equity

£'000 £:000 £°000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000
At 1 January 2017 1,026 58,320 1975 (774) 46214 92,555 (642) 198,674
Net result for the year - - - - - 7582 1,263 8,845
Gther comprehensive income - - - 448 - 11,242 - 11,690
Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - 448 - 18,824 1,263 20,535
Deferred tax on share-based
payments - - - - - 404 - 404
Issue of shares 10 1,884 - - - - - 1,894
Share gption charges - - 826 - - - - 8726
Share aption exercises - - {1.332) - - 1,332 - -
Dividends - - - - - (12,218) (525) {12,743)
At January 2018 1,036 60,204 1,469 (326) 46,214 100,897 96 209,580
Impact of change in
accounting policies - - - - - {26,342) - (26,342)
Adjusted balance at 1 January
2018 1,038 60,204 1,469 (326) 46214 74,555 a6 183,248
Net result for the year - - - - - 24064 761 24,825
Other comprehensive iIncome - - - 280 - (7.639) - (7,359}
Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - 280 - 16,425 761 17,466
Deferred tax on share-based
payments - - - - - 14 - 14
lssue of shares 69 22,020 - - - - - 22,089
Share option charges - - 552 - - - - 552
Changes in non controlling
interests - - - - - 734 (734) -
Dividends - - - - - (12,539) {550} {13,089}
At 31 December 2018 1,105 82,224 2,021 (46) 46,214 75,189 (427) 210,280
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group
For the year ended 31 December 2018

1. Revenue
The Group's revenue disaggregated by pattern of revenue recognition is as foliows:

2a18 2017

£'000 £'000

Schedule of rates contracts 235,738 213,202
Contracting and variable consideration 236,625 251920
Lump sum contracts 173,272 183,314
Rental income 107,595 117 595
Care services 116,613 134,063
869,843 900,184

Al of the above categories fall exclusively within the Housing segment with the exception of Care services, which falls exclusively within the
Gare segment.

A total of £0.3m of revenue was recognised in respect of the baiance of contract liabilities at 1 January 2018 (2017: £nil)

Schedule of rates and care service revenue is typically invoiced between one and 30 days fram compietion of the performange obligation.
Contracting and variable consideration revenue 1s typically invoiced based on the stage of completion of the overall contract. Lump sum revenue
is typically involced monthly in arrears. Rental income is typically invoiced monthly in advance. Payment terms for revenue invoiced are typically
30 to 60 days from the date of invoice.

2. Segment reporting
Segment information is presented in respect of the Group's operating segments. Segments are determined by reference to the internal reports

reviewed by the Beard.
The Group had two operating segments during the year

~ Housing — services within this sector comprise a fullhousing management service predominantly to Local Authorities and other Registered
Social Landlords; and
~ Care — services within this sector comprise personal care services to peaple in their own homes.

All of the Group’s activities are carried out within the United Kingdom and the Group's principal reporting to its chief operating decision maker is not
segmented by geography.

The principal financial measures used by the chief operating decision maker and the Board ta review the performance of the operating segments
are thase of revenue growth and operating margins in bath the core divisions of Housing and Care. The operating result utdisged witiin the key
performance measures is stated befare amortisation of acquisition intangibles and costs relating to the long-term incentive plans.

2018 2017

Housing Care Total Housing Care Total
Cperating segments £'000 £'0600 £'000 £000 £000 £'000
Revenue 753,230 116,613 869,843 766,121 134,063 800,184
Operating result before exceptional costs, amortisation of
acquisition intangibles and long-term incentive plans 37,627 3,766 41,393 39478 499 39977
Operating margin before exceptional costs amortisation of
acquisition intangibles and long-term incentive plans 5.00% 3.23% 4.76% 5.15% 0.37% 4.44%
Long-term incentive plans {552) - (552) (B26) ~ B26)
Operating result before exceptional costs and
amortisation of acquisition intangibles 37,075 3,766 40,841 38,652 499 39,151
Exceptional costs (5,657) -
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles (4,434) {10,638)
Operating profit 30,750 28,513
Net finance costs {2,319) (2,029)
Tax expense {3,606) (4.315)
Profit for the year from continuing activities 24,825 22169

All revenue and all nan-current assets arise within the United Kingdom. All of the revenue reported is external to the Group. No revenue in respect
of a single customer comprises mare than 8% of the total revenue reported.
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2. Seament reporting continLed
In addition, the following disclosures have heen provided in respect of segmental analysis required by IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments”

2018 2017

Housing Care Total Housing Care Total
Operating segments £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000
Segment assets 402,148 123,191 525,339 350902 125104 476,006
Segment hahilities (277,620) (37,439) (315,059) (203,334) (63,082} (266,416)
Property, plant and equipment additions 8,059 642 8,701 7517 604 3121
Depreciation 5,146 658 5,804 5,304 807 6,105
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles 3,738 696 4,434 7606 3,032 10,638
Amortisation of ather intangibles 2,409 - 2,409 2130 - 2,130

3. Changes in accounting policies
As detailed in the principal accounting policies, there have been twa significant mandatory accounting changes which apply from 1 January 2038

the adoption of IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers' and IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ The impact to retained earnings as a result
of these changes is detailed below:

Retained
earnings
£000
Retained earnings as previously stated at 31 December 2017 100,897
Impact of restaterment on Trade and other receivables (IFRS 15) (29,537)
Impact of restaternent on Deferred tax asset (IFRS 15) 5671
impact of restaternent on Trade and other receivables {IFRS 9) (2,818)
Impact of restaternent on Deferred tax asset (IFRS 9) 402
Retained earnings as restated at 1 January 2018 74,555
The impact to the debtor provision is detailed below-
Debtar
provision
£000
Debtor provision under [AS 39 as previously stated at 31 December 2017 6,710
Reversal of debter provision under |1AS 39 (6,710)
Recognition of debtor provision under IFRS 9 9,528
Debtor provision under IFRS 9 as restated at 1 January 2018 9,528
The effect of the application of IFRS 15 and {FRS 9 on the year ended 31 December 2018 is detailed below:
As would have
been reported As reported
under ald under new
accounting Impact of Impact of accounting
standards IFRS15 IFRS9 standards
£000 £000 £'000 £'000
Consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2018
Sales revenue 868,965 878 - 869,843
Other administrative expenses {116,395) - 218 {166,177)
Tax expense (3,398) (167) 4N (3,606)
Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2018
Deferred tax asset 5475 - 25 5,500
Trade and other receivables 209,454 (28,659) (2,601 178,194
Retained earnings 110,424 (28,659) {2,576) 79,189
Consolidated statement of cash flows as at 31 December 2018
Results for the year before tax 27335 878 218 28,431
Change in trade and other receivables (9,322) {B78) (218) (10,418)

The change to IFRS 15 has no impact on the lifetime profitahility of the contracts and there are no cash flow impacts. The impact of this standard
has been to increase the operating result far 2018 by £0.9m. Moving forward, it is expected to have a positive impact in respect of operating profit
as performance obligations are met

The impact of IFRS 9 has been 1o increase the operating result for 2018 by £0.2m. Moving forward, this new standard is likely to result in an earlier
recognition of credit loss, resulting in an impairment in trade receivables and contract assets. Based on the current activities of the Group, it1s
unlikely that this impairment would be material in any single year.
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

4. OQperating costs
Operating costs, reiating to continuing activities, include the following.

2018 2017
£'000 £000
Share-based payments 552 826
Depreciation 5,804 6,105
Amortisation of acguisition intangibles 4,434 10,638
Armortisation of other intangibles 2,409 2,130
Loss/(profit) on disposal of subsidiary 44 (967)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 37 24
Hire of plant and machinery 4,948 5266
Qther operating lease rentals 105,822 110,658
Fees payable for audit and non-audit services during the year were as follows:
2018 2017
£'000 £'000
Fees payable to the auditor for the audit of the Group's financial statements 55 65
Other fees payable to the auditor in respect of:
~ auditing of accounts of subsidiary undertakings pursuant to legislation 325 265
~ other audit related fees 9 9
Total auditor's remuneration 389 339
5. Finance income and finance cosis
2018 2017
£'600 £000
interest charge on overdrafts and shart-term loans (3,039} (2,017}
Interest charge on hedged items (effective hedges) (325) (645)
Other interest (2) {4)
Finance costs on bank loans, overdrafts and finance leases {3,366) {(2.666)
Interest charge on defined benefit abligation (77) (114
Unwinding of discounting (30) -
Total finance costs (3,473) (2,780)
Interest income resulting from short-term bank deposits a5 20
Interest income resulting front defined benefit asset 773 440
Unwinding of discounting - 40
Other interest income 346 251
Finance income 1,154 757
Net finance charge (2,319) (2029)
Gains and losses on hedged items recognised in other comprehensive income
Losses arising in the year - (54)
Reclassification to the Censolidated Income Staternent 325 645
Changes in mark-to-market of interast rate swaps (effective hedges) 328 591
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6. Employees
Staff costs during the year were as follows

2018 207
£'000 £000
Wages and salaries 233,877 272794
Social security costs 20,975 23,806
Other pension costs 9,532 8,627

264,384 305,227

The average number of employees of the Group during the year was:

2018 2017
£'000 £000
Site waorkers 3,382 3,638
Carers 4,558 5980
Gffice and management 2,642 2962
10,582 12,580
Remuneration in respect of Directors was as follows:
2018 2017
£°000 £000
Emoluments 1,507 1,389
Gains made on the exercise of share options - 1,148
Pension contributions to personal pension schemes 121 167
1,628 2,698
During the year contributions were paid to personal pension schemes for three Directors {2017: four).
During the year no Directors {2017: four) exercised share options.
7. Share-based employee remuneration
As at 31 December 2018 the Group maintained six share-based payment schermes for employee remuneration.
Details of the share options outstanding are as follows:
2018 2007
Weighted Weighted
average average
exarcise exercise
Number price Number price
'000 p 000 p
Outstanding at 1 January 2,938 287 2,555 256
Granted 530 237 1,619 317
Forfeited/lapsed (583) 323 (229) 326
Exercised (133) 297 (1.007} 193
Outstanding at 31 December 2,752 265 2,938 287

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the period was 3.47p. At 31 December 2018, 0.3m options

had vested and were still exercigable at prices between 1p and 266p. These options had a weighted average exercise price of 230p and a weighted

average remalining contractual life of 1.4 years.

The fair values of options granted were determined using the Black Scholes option pricing model. Significant inputs into the calculation include
the market price &t the date of grant and exercise prices. Furthermare, the calculation takes into account the future dividend yield, the share price

volatility rate and the risk-free interest rate.

The underlying expected share price volatility was determined by reference to historical data. The Company expects the volatility of its share price to
reduce as it matures. The risk-free interest rate was determined by the implied yield available on a zero-coupon Government bond at the date of grant.

Adjustments are made to reflect expected and actual forfeitures during the vesting period due to failure to satisfy service conditions In the case
of the SAYE scheme, the expected forfeitures take account of the reguiremeant to save throughout the life of the scheme. There were 0.5m options
granted during the year and 0.6rm options that lapsed during the year. The market price at 31 December 2018 was 335p and the range during 2018

was 274p 1o 440p.
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

7. Share-based employee remunération coniinued
All share-based employee remuneration will be settled in equity. The Group has no legal obligation to repurchase or settle the options.

The Group recognised the following expenses related to share-based payments:

2018 2m7
£'000 £000
Giving rise to share-based payment reserve:
~ SAYE 307 295
~ Share Plan 245 71
~ MIP - 460
Giving rise to liabilities;
~ MIP - -
552 826

All-employee share incentive plan

Options are exercisable at a price equal to the average quoted market price of the Company's shares on the three dealing days prior to the date
of grant. The vesting period is three years. If the options remain unexercised after a period of ten years from the date of grant, the options expire.
Options are forfeited if the employee leaves Mears before the options vest. All options issued under this plan have vested or were forfeited.

Unapproved Company Share Option Plan {CSOP)}

Options are exercisable at nominal value. The vesting period is three years. If the options remain unexercised after a peried of ten years from the
date of grant, the options expire. Options are forfeited if the employee leaves Mears before the options vest. With the introduction of the LTIP in 2008,
the Remuneration Committee has decided that no further awards will be made under the unapproved CSOP. All options issued under this plan have
vested or were forfeited.

Save As You Earn (SAYE) scheme

Options are available to all employees. Options are granted for a penod of three years. Options are exercisable at a price based on the quoted market

price of the Company's shares at the time of invitation, discounted by up to 20% Options are forfeited if the employee lesves Mears Group before the
aptions vest, which impacts or the number of gptions expeacted to vest If an employee stops saving but continues in employment, this is treated as a
cancellation, which results in an acceleration of the share-hased payment charge.

The Mears Group PLC Long-term Incentive Plan (LTIP)

The LTIP was introduced in October 2008 following shareholder approval. The award of options is offered 10 a small number of key senior
management, subject to achieving performance conditions No options have been issued under this plan since 2010 and all options have vested.

Management Incentive Plan (MIP)

The MIP was introduced in 2013 following shareholder approval. The award of options is offered to a small rumber of key senior management.
The MIP is a share-based payment plan which is settled through a combination of cash and shares. No further issues will be made under this plan
and the remaining options vest in 2019.

Executive Incentive Plan (EIP)
The EIP was introduced in June 2017 following sharehclder approval. The award of options is offered to key senior management subject
to performance conditions as detailed on page 87 of the Remuneration Report

8. Exceptional costs
Exceptional costs incurred in the period which are considered non-trading or non-recurring in nature are detailed below:

2018 2017

£000 £000

Costg of restructure 3,584 -
Costs of acquisition 524 -
Exceptional legal costs 1,549 -
5,657 -

The costs of restructure relate to the rationalisation of the Group’s central services and largely comprise non-recurring staff costs.
The costs of acquisition relate to the acquisition of MPM Housing Limited and MPS Heusing Limited, as detailed in note 28.

Exceptional legal costs were incurred in respect of a property lease. Given the size of this item and unigue circumstance of the dispute, the Directors
believe this should be treated as an exceptional item to better reflect the underlying financial performance.
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9. Tax expenhse
Tax recagnised in the Consclidated Income Statement

2018 2017

£000 £000
United Kingdarn corporation tax (893) 5,341
Adjustment in respect of previous periods (270) (18)
Total current tax recognised in Consolidated Income Statement (1,163) 5,323
Deferred taxation charge’
~ on defined benefit pension obligations 124 (&)
~ on share-based payments (116) 240
~ on accelerated capital allowances 88 (153)
~ on amortisation of acquisition intangibles (843) (1.888)
~ on short-term temporary timing differences (224) 247
~ 0on corporate tax losses (60) 1122
~ Impact of change in statutory tax rates - (168)
-~ impact of transition to new accounting standards 5,990 -
Adjustment in respect of previcus pertods (190) (402)
Total deferred taxation recognised in Consolidated Incorme Staterment 4,769 (1.008)
Total tax expense recognised in Consclidated Income Statement on continuing operations 3,606 4315
Total tax credit recognised in Consclidated Income Statement on discontinued operations - (317%)
Total tax expense recognised in Consolidated Income Staterment 3,606 1,139
The charge for the year can be reconciled to the result for the year as follows:

2018 2017

£'000 £000
Result for the year before tax 28,431 9684
Result for the year muitiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the United Kingdom for the period of 19.0%
(2017:19.3%) 5,402 1922
Effect of:
~ expenses not deductible for tax purposes 260 167
~ incaome not subject to tax {159) (133)
~ tax relief on exercise of share options (24) (170)
~ stalutory tax rate changes - {168)
~ temparary timing differences not previously recognised in deferred tax 203 (33)
~ tax losses not previcusly recognised in deferred tax (1,6186) (20)
~ adjustment in respect of prior periods (460) (420)
Actual tax expense 3,606 1,134

Deferred tax 1s recognised on hoth temparary and permanent differences between the treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes.
Deferred tax on the amertisation of acquisition intangibles is a permanent difference and arises because no tax relief is due on this kind

of amortisation.

The transition to IFRS 15 and IFRS 3 at the start of the current period resulted in an opening deferred tax balance The £6.0m deferred tax charge

in respect of transition to new accounting standards is as a result of this opening deferred tax balance unwinding during 2018

Tax losses generated in previous years which are expected to be utilised against future profits are recognised as a deferred tax assetand a

subseguent charge anses as those losses are utilised. No deferred tax asset is recognised in respect of losses of £28.4m (2017; £34 2m) across

several entities in the Group as it 1s not expected that they will be eligible to be utilised against profits in the future.

Deferred tax is also recognised on short-term temparary timing differences, primarily relating to provisions. These differences are expected to reverse

in the following year and arise because tax relief is only available when the costs are incurred.

Capital allowances represent tax relief on the acquisition of property, plant and equipment and are spread over several years at rates set by

legislation. These differ from depreciation, which is an estimate of the use of an item of property, plant and equipment over its usefubiife Deferred tax
is recognised on the difference between the remaining value of such an asset for tax purposes and its carrying value in the accounts.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018

125

SIUIIUDIELS |elouUBU] asueularoh GIEJOCIJOQ uodal a1Balensg

UBHIBLLIOUL J2pjOyRIeyS



Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

9. Tax expense continugd
The following tax has been charged to other comprehensive income or equity during the year:

2018 207

£000 £000
Deferred tax (credit)/charge recognised in other comprehensive income
~ on defined benefit pension obligaticns (1,792) 2,637
~ on cash flow hedges 45 143
Total deferred tax (credit)/charge recognised in other comprehensive income (1,747) 2,780
Deferred tax recognised directly in equity
Deferred tax credit:
~ on share-based payments (14) (404)
Total deferred tax recognised in equity (14) (404)
Total tax
Total current tax (1,163) 2147
Total deferred tax 3,008 1,368

10. Discontinued activities
The Group previously completed the disposal of its Mechanical and Electrical division which included an entity operating in the United Arab Emirates

(‘Haydon LLC"). Ag part of that disposal, the Group ultimately retained the beneficial interest in 1% of the share capital of this UAE company due to the
Group still carrying a number of performance guarantees in place at the time of the disposal, which unravel as the underlying contracts reach the end
of their defects liahility period.

During the year, the Group has incurred cash costs of £1.6m1in respect of costs of litigation assgciated with the performance guarantees. The Group
is carrying a remaining provisian of £2.2m in respect of the two outstanding performance guarantees amounting to £3 9m, resulting in a residual
contingent liability of £1.7m. Mears does not believe that there is any justification for the guarantee halders making a cail on these guarantees, given
that the contracts to which they are attached were concluded several years ago. The Directors believe the cusrent position is sufficiently conservative,
however if both bonds were to be called, and in the event that Mears recovered none of the debtor balance owed, this weuld result in a further loss to
be recognised of £1.7m. This pravision of £2.2m 15 reported within other creditors. The £1.7m is disclosed as a contingent liability.

11. Dividends
The following dividends were paid an ordinary shares in the year:

2018 2017

£000 £000

Final 2017 dividend of 8.55p (2017: final 2016 dividend of 8.40p) per share 8,860 8,651
Interim 2018 dividend of 3.55p (2017: interim 2017 dividend of 3.45p) per share 3,679 3,567
12,539 12,218

The proposed final 2018 dividend of 8.85p per share has not been included within the consolidated financial statements as no cbligation existed at
31 December 2018.
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12. Earnings per share

Basic (continuing

Basic (cantinuing) Basic (discontinued) and discontinued)

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

P P P p P p

Earnings per share 23.05 20.28 - {12.93) 23.05 735
Effect of amortisation of acquisition intangibles 4.25 1032 - - 4,25 10.32
Effect of full tax adjustment (2.22) (2.37) - (019) (2.22) {2.50)
Effect of exceptional costs 416 - - 1312 4.16 1312
Normalised earnings per share 29.24 28.29 - - 29.24 28.29

Diluted {continuing

Diluted {continuing) Diluted {discontinued}) and discontinued)
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 207
p £ P D p P
Eamings per share 22.91 2010 - {12.87) 2291 7.29
Effect of amortisation of acquisition intangibles 422 1023 - - 4.22 1023
Effect of full tax adjustment (2.20) (2.28) - 0.20) (2.20) {2.48)
Effect of exceptional costs 413 - - 13.01 4.13 13.01
Narmalised earnings per share 29.06 28.05 - - 29.06 28.05

A narmalised EPS is disclosed in order to show performance undistarted by the amoartisation of acquisition intangibles and exceptional costs.
The Group defines normalised earnings as excluding the amertisation of acquisition intangibles and exceptional costs and adjusted 1o reflect a full
tax charge. The profit attributable ta shareholders before and after adjustments for both basic and diluted EPS is:

Normalised (continuing

Normalised (continuing} Normalised (discontinued) and discontinued)
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
£000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000
Profit/{loss) attributable to shareholders: 24,064 20,906 - {(13,324) 24,064 7582
~ amortisation of acquisition intangibles 4,434 10,638 - - 4,434 10,638
~ full tax adjustment {2,310) (2,367) - (206) (2,310) (2,573
~ exceptional costs 4,342 - - 13,530 4,342 13,530
Narmalised earnings 30,530 29177 - - 30,530 29177

The calculation of EPS is based on a weighted average of ordinary shares in 1ssue during the year. The diluted EPS is based on a weighted average
of ordinary shares calculated in accordance with |1AS 33 'Earnings per Share', which assumes that all dilutive options will be exercised The additional
normalised basic and diluted EPS use the same weighted average number of shares as the basic and diluted EPS.

2018 2017

Million Million

Weighted average number of shares in 1ssue: 104.40 103.10
~ dilutive effect of share options 0.65 0.93
Weighted average number of shares for calculating diluted earnings per share 105.05 104.03
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

13. Goodwill
Goodwill
arising on Purchased
consalidation goodwill Total
£'000 £'000 £000
Gross carrying amount
At 1 January 2017 193,306 406 193,712
Disposal of subsidiary {70) - (70)
At 1 January 2018 193,236 406 193642
Additions on acquisition 2916 515 3,431
At 31 December 2018 196,152 921 197,073
Accumulated impairment losses
At 1 January 2017, at 1 January 2018 and at 31 December 2018 - - -
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2018 196,152 921 197,073
At 31 December 2017 193,236 406 193 642

Goodwill on consolidation arises on the excess of cast of acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired on purchase of a company.

Purchased goodwill arises on the excess of cost of acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired on the purchase of the trade and assets
of a business hy the Group.

Details of additicns on acquisiticns in the year are set out in note 28

Goedwill is not amertised but is reviewed for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if there are any indications that goodwill may be
impaired. Goodwill acguired in a business comhination is allocated to groups of cash-generating units (CGUs) according to the leve! at which
rmanagement manitors that goodwl Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

The carrying value of gooawill is allocated to the following CGUs:

Goodwill
arisingon Purchased
conselidation gaodwill Total
£000 £000 £000
Hausing 96,501 921 97422
Care 99,651 - 99651
195,772 921 197073

An asset is impaired if its carrying value exceeds the unit's recoverable amount, which is based on value in Use. At 31 December 2018 impairment
reviews were performed by comparing the carrying value with the value in use for the CGUs 16 which goodwiii has been allocated.

The Housing CGU's value 1n use is calculated from the Board-approved one-year budgeted cash flows and extrapelated cash flows for the next four
years discounted at a past-tax discount rate of 8.5% over a five-year period with a terminal value. The impairment reviews incorporated a terminal
growth assumption of 1.7%, in line with the UK long-term growth rate.

The Care CGU's value in use is calculated from a detailed business plan deriving cash flows over a five-year review period, discounted at & post-tax
discount rate of 8.5% over a five-year period with a terminal value. The impairment review incorparated a terminai growth assumption of 2.5%, which,
whilst marginally higher than the UK long-term growth rate of 1.7%, is supported by the underlying demographics underpinning strong organic growth
in adult sacial care.

The estimated growth rates are hased on knowledge of the individual CGU's sector and market and represent management's base level expectations
for future growth. Changes 1o revenue and direct costs are based on past experience and expectation of future changes within the markets of the
CGUs. All GGUs have the same access to the Group's treasury function and borrowing arrangements to finance their eperations.

The rates used were as follows:

Post-tax Pre-tax Volume Terminal

discount discount growth rate growth

rate rate (years 1-5) rate

Housing 8.50% 1027% 3.00% 0.00%
Care 850% 10.27% 4.57% 2 50%

128 Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 24518



13. Goodwill continued

Housing
The contracts awarded within the Housing sector are significant in size and the contract terms typically average six years in duration. In addition,

Mears has a good track record in retaining contracts on expiry and typically retains over 80% of expiring contracts.

Budgeted operating profits during the budget periad are estimated by reference to the operating margin achieved in the period leading up to the
start of the budget period, flexed for known changes in either the pricing mechanism or the cost base at a contract level. There 15 no inclusion
of any anticipated efficiency improvements which have not been formally committed to before the year end.

The Directors consider that reasonably possible changes in these key assumptions would not cause a CGU's carrying amaunt to exceed its
recoverable amount.

Care

Management recognises that there remain significant difficulties within the homecare market, although the sector is increasingly attracting the
interests of the national media. The introduction of the National Living Wage in April 2076 proved a significant boast for providers, with a large
number of Local Authorities materially increasing their charge rates, recognising that too much of the cost increase in recent years had been
absorbed by care providers. This trend has continued with subseqguent rises to the National Living Wage 1in 2017 and 2018. Providers have typically
passed these rate increases on to their carers in full, adding some stability in a sector where recruitment and retention represent a significant
constraint. Management is particularly pleased that all Local Authorities in Scotland, which cavers around one third of the care activities, have
adopted the Scottish Living Wage, which as at 1 April 2019 increases to £9.00 per hour. This compares with the statutory National Living Wage

of £8.21 per hour.

Notwithstanding these improvernents, market conditions remain challenging. The Directors note that, given these pressures, the number of national
providers is reducing, which reflects the difficult conditions but daes provide oppartunity for the Group, where customers are seeking to work with

a reputable national provider, The Group remains highly selective in bidding new contract opportunities but the pipeline for new contract bidding
remains healthy. Management will only bid where the contract pricing provides good wisibility of profitability, including a clear mechanism far future
price increases and where there is a strategic epportunity to provide Housing services to the Local Authority client, either separately to a Care
contract, or incorporated within a Care contract. Management has noted a lack of competition in opportunities which combine Housing and Care
elements, where the customer is seeking a single contractor for the works Whilst there are still examples of peor commissioning practices, the
Directors are confident there are sufficient new bidding cpportunities to deliver against the Group’s growth forecast.

As part of the annual impairment testing, management performed an extensive business planning process which involved a detailed review, on a
centract-by-contract basis, of charge rates and carer pay rates. The process allowed management to appraise the performance of branches against
objectives set, and further increased understanding of the main drivers behind financial performance at a contract level. A key driver around the
aperational and financial success of each contract continues to be the recruitment and retention of care workers. Carer pay rates continue to be

the principal barrier to successful recruitment and retention, but in addition there are a number of factors around culture, working practices and
recagnition which 1mpact upon maintaining a stable workforce.

The business plan identified & number of key factors, which are built in to the value-in-use calculation:

~ Mears has continued to be highly selective, targeting those contracts where the pricing, longevity and spend certainty allow Mears to deliver a
high quality service at sustainable margins. In 2018, a win rate of 60% was achieved from new contract bidding, which is in line with historical
norms. Despite this, management has significantly reduced the Care growth forecast to equate to an increase of 2,000 hours per week, which
will be achieved through annual new contract bidding This emphasises management’s desire 1o ensure new work won will enhance earnings.

~ Rectuitrnent and retention of quality care workers continues to be chalienging. The churn rate of care warkers varies at a branch ievel, depending
on nan-financial factors such as culture, warking practices and recognition. However, the overall churn rate has remained at a constant level
between 40% and 50% for the fast three years. Management has invested in retention activities to standardise best practices and will continue
this focus during 2019 However, recruitment remains challenging and this is expected to continue during the short term. Mears recognises that
traditional localised recruitment plays a vital role, aiding recruitment from the existing carer workforce pool. In an attempt to encourage new
talent to the care at home market, Mears is utilising innovative recruitment tools to ensure breadth of coverage in attracting new care workers
to the sector. This, in turn, will allow branches to focus on their lecalised recruitment efforts. Mears’ internal recruitment plan anticipates modest
growth during the medium and long term which, on average, equates to three additional carers per year per branch, this represents anincrease
of 250 carers per year on an existing workforce of 5,000 carers, which is considered realistic. However, conservatively, the business plan
underpinning the impairment review has stripped out this expected increase and assumes no growth as a result of improved recruitment and
retention practices.

~ Mears is commuitted to leading the way with carer pay rates; the increase in the National Living Wage will further increase direct costs from 1 April
2019, Management's desire is to maintain a significant differential between Mears’ pay rates and the National Living Wage o ensure it remains
the employer of choice in the homecare sector and can attract new employees to the sector. The pracess of branch closures which followed the
introduction of the National Living Wage in Aprit 2016 has resulted in a live contract portfolic that allows Mears to comfortably meet National
Living Wage requirements, whilst having clear margin visibility. The Government has confirmed an increase in the National Living Wage of 49%
from 1 Apri} 2019. As a result, management has assumed an increase in carer pay rates of 4.9% per annum. Management is confident that charge
rate increases will be received from clients to match the increase in the cost base. The percentage increase assumed for charge rates matches
that of carer pay rates in each year throughout the business plan.
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

13. Gooadwill continued

Care continued

Management considers that the Care vaiue-in-use calculation is most sensitive to changes in the terminal growth rate, discount rate and EBITA
margin. The table below shows the sensitivity of the headroom (£m) to simultaneous changes in the discount rate and the long-term growth rate:

Discount rate

Long-term growth rate 7.9% 81% 8.3% 8.5% 8.7% 8.9% 91%
19% 189 14.4 10.2 6.3 26 0.9) (22
270% 229 181 137 9.5 5.6 19 (15)
723% 258 20.8 16.2 1.8 77 39 03

7.5% 303 25.0 20.0 15.4 11 70 32
27% 3572 295 24.2 19.2 14.6 10.3 63
29% 40.4 343 28.6 233 184 138 96
31% 461 395 334 278 225 177 130

14. Other intangible assets

Acquisition Intangibles Other intangibles
Total Total
Client Order acguisition  Development Intellectual other Total
relationships hook intangiblas expenditure property intangibles ntangibles

£000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £'000 £°000
Gross carrying amount
At 7 January 2017 72138 28,317 100,455 13,237 2724 13,461 113916
Revisions 459 - 459 - - - 459
Additions - - - 3,662 - 3,662 3,662
Disposals - (350) {350) - - - (350)
At 7 January 2018 72,597 27967 100,564 16,899 224 17123 17687
Additions - 18,058 18,058 3,086 - 3089 21,147
Disposals - - - {12} - 02} a2
At 31 December 2018 72,597 46,025 118,622 19,976 224 20,200 138,822
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2017 56,344 24,347 80,691 7088 224 7312 88,003
Amertisation charge for period 7363 3,275 10,638 2,130 - 2,130 12,758
Disposals - (350} (350) - - - (350)
At 1 January 2018 63,707 27272 90,979 9218 224 9,442 100,421
Amertisation charge far period 3227 1,207 4,434 2,409 - 2,409 6,843
Disposals - - - (i2) - (12} (12)
At 31 December 2018 66,934 28,479 95,413 11,615 224 11,839 107,252
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2018 5,663 17,546 23,209 8,361 - 8,361 31,570
At 31 December 2017 8,890 695 9,585 7681 - 7681 17,266

Revisions to acquisition intangibles additions in prior years relate to liabilities not accrued at the time of the acquisition. These revisians are not
considered sufficiently material to warrant restatemeant of the prior year balances.

Development expenditure is an internally developed intangible asset and relates largely to the development of the Group's Housing job management
system, the Group’s Care management systern and the national Planning Portal website Development expenditure is amortised over its useful
ecanomic life of 5.0 years. The weighted average remaining econamic life of the asset 1s 3.6 years (2017: 3 7 years).

Intellectual property is amortised over its useful economic life, typically 5.0 years.

Amortisation of development expenditure is included within other administrative expenses. Amortisation of acquisition intangibles is
presented separately.

The value placed on the order book is based on the cash flow projections over the contracts in place when a business 1s acquired. Due to
uncertainties in trying to forecast revenues beyond the contract term, the Directars have taken a measure of conservatism and value contracts aver

the contractual term only. The value of the order book is amortised aver its remaining hife.

The value placed on the customer relationships is tased on the non-contractual expected cash inflows. These cash flow projections assume
a customer attrition rate of 5% based on three-year historical trends.
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15. Property, plant and equipment

Fixtures, Assets
Freehold Leasehold Plant and fittings and under
property improvements machinery equipment Motor vehicles  construction Tatal
£000 £'000 £'000 £°000 £330 £'300 £000
Gross carrying amount
At 1 January 2017 788 13,953 2,890 46,670 1,205 - 65,596
Additions - 2107 99 5915 - - 8,121
Disposals - - - {2,472 (20 - (2,492)
Disposal of subsidiary ~ - - (159) - - {159)
At 1 January 2018 788 16,060 2,889 49954 1,275 - 71,066
Additions - 2,366 286 2,456 - 3,593 8,701
Acquisition of subsidiary 254 - - - - - 254
Disposals (110) - (170) (1,770) (274) - (2,324)
Disposal of subsidiary - (2) - a1 - - (93)
At 31 December 2018 932 18,424 3,105 50,549 1,001 3,593 77,604
Depreciation
At 1 January 2017 - 8,877 1925 33,288 1,247 - 45331
Provided in the year 20 1188 280 4,606 11 - 6,105
Eliminated on dispasals - - - (2,244) (20) - (2,264)
Disposal of subsidiary - - - (143) - - (143)
AL January 2018 20 10,065 2,205 35,507 1,232 - 49,029
Provided in the year 5 1170 229 4388 12 - 5,804
Acquisition of subsidiary 7 - - - - - 7
Eliminated on disposals (5) - {170) (1,713) (258) - (2,144)
Disposal of subsidiary - - - (48) - - (48)
At 31 December 2018 27 11,235 2,264 38,134 988 - 52,648
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2018 205 7,189 841 12,415 13 3,593 24,956
At 31 December 2017 768 54885 784 14,447 43 - 22,037
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

16. Investments
The subsidiary undertakings within the Group at 31 December 2018 are shown below:

Propartion

held Country of registration Nature of business
3c Asset Management Limited 100% England and Wales Maintenance services
Careforce Group Pic 100% England and Wales Dormant
Coulter Estates Limited 100% Scotland Dormant
Electrical Contracting Services (UUK) Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Evolve Housing Limited 50% England and Wales Dormant
Heatherpark Community Services Limited 100% Scotland Dormant
Helcim Group Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Helcim Homes Limited 100% England and Wales Dorrmant
ILS Group Limited 100% Scotland Dormant
ILS Trustees Limited 100% Scotland Dormant
Independent Living Services (ILS) Limited 1G0% Scotland Provision of care
Jackson Lloyd Limited 100% England and Wales Darmant
Laidlaw Scott Limited 100% Scotland Dormant
Let 1o Birmingham Limited 100% Engiand and Wales Housing management services
Manchester Working Limited 80% England and Wales Maintenance services
Mears Care {(Holdings) Limited 100% England and Wales Intermediate halding company
Mears Care (Northern Ireland) Limited 100% Northern Ireland Dormant
Mears Care (Scotland) Limited 100% Scotland Provision of care
Mears Care Limited 100% England and Wales Provision of care
Mears Community Care Agency Limited 100% England and Wales Dermant
Mears Decorating Services Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Direct Limited 80% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Energy Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Estates Limited 100% England and Wales Grounds maintenanace
Mears Facility Management Limited 100% England and Wales Darmant
Mears Home Improvement Limited 100% England and Wales Maintenance services
Mears Homecare Limited 100% England and Wales Provision of care
Mears Homes Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Housing Limited 100% England and Wales Dormant
Mears Housing Management Limited 100% England and Wales Housing management services
Mears Housing Management (Holdings) Limited 100% England and Wales Intermediate holding company
Mears Housing Portfolio (Holdings) Limited 100% England and Wales Intermediate holding company
Mears Housing Portfolia (London) Limited 100% England and Wales Property acquisition
Mears Housing Portfalio 1 Limited 100% England and Wales Praperty acquisition
Mears Housing Portfolio 2 Limited 100% England and Wales Property acquisition
Mears Housing Portfolio 3 Limited 100% England and Wales Property acquisition
Mears Housing Portfolio 4 Limited 100% England and Wales Property acquisition
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16. Investments contnued

Proportion

Country of registratian

Nature of business

Mears Insurance Company Limited
Mears Learning Limited

Mears Limited

Mears Modular Homes Limited
Mears New Homes Limited

Mears Scotland {Housing) Limited
Mears Scotland {Services) Limited
Mears Scotland LLP

Mears Social Housing Limited
Mears Wales Limited

MHM Property Services Limited
MPM Housing Limited

MPS Housing Limited

Moarrison Facilities Services Limited
Nurseplus Limited

0&T Developments Limited
Omega Housing Limited

Planning Portal Limited

Plexus UK {First Project) Limnited
PortalPlanQuest Limited

Potton Road Management Ccmpany Limited
PS Business Services Limited

PS Payroll Services Limited

Scion Group Limited

Scion Property Services Limited
Scian Technical Services Limited
Suppeorta Limited

Supporta Services Limited

Tando Homes Limited

Tando Property Services Limited
Terraquest Group Limited
Terraguest Limited

Terraguest Selutions Limited

9989%
90%
100%
100%
90%
100%
66.67%
66.67%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
1030%
100%
100%
75%
100%
75%
90%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

Guernsey
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales

Scotland

Scotfand

Scotland
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales

Seotland

Scotland
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Waies
England and Wales

Scotland
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
Engiand and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales

Insurance services
Training provider
Maintenance services
Dormant

House buiiding
Dorimant
Maintenance services
Maintenance services
Dormant

Dormant
Maintenance services
Support services
Maintenance services
Maintenance services
Dormant

Housing management services
Housing registered provider

Dormant

Housing registered provider

Frofessional services
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Maintenance services
Dormant
Dormant

Housing management services
Housing management services

Dormant
Dormant
Professional services

All subsidiary undertakings with the exception of Evalve Housing Limited and Manchester Warking Limited prepare accounts to 31 December.
Evolve Housing Limited prepares accounts to 30 June in line with its historical accounting reference date. Manchester Waorking Limited prepares

accounts to 31 March in line with the minority shareholder
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued

For the year ended 31 December 2018

16, Investments continued

The Group includes the following five trading subsidianes with non-contrailing interests: Manchester Working Lirited, Mears Learning Limited,
Mears New Homes Limited, Mears Scotland LLP and PartalPlanQuest Limjted. The table below sets aut selected financial infarmation in respact

of those subsidiaries

2018 2017

£000 £:000
Revenue and profits
Revenue 112,612 121,392
Expenses and taxation (108,835) (117,185}
Profit for the year 3,777 4207
Qther comprehensive expense - -
Total comprehensive income 3,777 47207
Profit for the year allocated to non-controlling interests 761 1,263
Total comprehensive expense allocated to non-controlling interests - -
Net assets
Non-current assets 314 1,469
Current assets 58,633 41019
Current liagbilities (24,825) (18,254)
Non-current liabilities (33,887) (22,337)
Total assets less total liabilities 235 1,897
Equity shareholders’ funds 662 1,801
Non-controlling interests (427) 96
Tota! equity 235 1,897

The Group held investments in the following joint ventures at 31 December 2018

Propartion
held Country of registratian Nature of business
Agert LLP 50% England and Wales Dormant
Sapphire Hormes London Limited 50% England and Wales Praperty acquisition
Sapphire Homes Londcn No. 1 Limited 50% England and Wales Property acquisition
Sapphire Homes London No. 2 Limited 50% England and Wales Property acquisition
Sapphire Homes London No. 3 Limited 50% England and Wales Cormant
Sapphire Homes London No. 4 Limited 50% England and Wales Dormant
Sapphire Homes Londen No. 5 Limited 50% England and Wales Darmant
Sapphire Homes London No. 6 Limited 50% England and Wales Dormant
Talking Assets Limited 50% England and Wales Dormant
YourMK LLP 50% England and Wales Maintenance services

The carrying amount of the above joint ventures was £nil (2017: £nil).
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16. Investments continued
The following UK subsidiaries wilt take advantage of the audit exemption set out within Section 479A of the Companies Act 2006 for the year ended
31 December 2018:
Registraticn
number
3¢ Asset Management Limited 02859913
Ardmore Home Care Limited NI028313
Coulter Estates Limited SC148145
Heatherpark Community Services Limited SC314108
ILS Group Limited 5C285635
Independent Living Services (ILS) Limited 5C1844499
Jacksan Lloyd Limited 00981979
Let to Birmingham Limited 08757503
Mears Care (Northern Ireland) Limited NI035273
Mears Community Care Agency Limited 03485601
Mears Estates Limited 03720903
Mears Home Improvement Limited 03716517
Mears Housing Management (Holdings) Limited (4726480
Mears Housing Portfolio {Holdings) Limited 10908305
Mears Housing Portfolio (London) Limited 10953521
Mears Housing Portfolio 1 Limited 10953330
Mears Housing Portfolio 2 Limited 10952666
Mears Housing Portfolio 3 Limited 10953300
Mears Housing Portfolio 4 Limited 10952906
MHM Property Services Limited 07448134
Nurseplus Linmited $C200513
Scion Group Limited 039054427
Scion Technical Services Limited 03671450
17. Assets held for sale
2018 2007
£'000 £000
12,442 13941

Property held for sale

During the year, the Group acquired, held and disposed of property assets that are classified as held for sale prior to their disposal to long-term
funding partners. These acquisitions were funded by a £15m {2017: £30m) rolling credit facility which is separate from the Group's main facihty.

18. inventcries

2018 2017
£'000 £'000
Materials and consumables 5,951 5,659
Work in progress 23,800 13146
29731 18,705
The Group consumed inventories totalling £662.8m during the year {2017: £676.5m). No items are being carned at fair value less costs ta sell
{2017, £nil).
19. Construction contracts
Revenue of £39.1m (2017 £26.1m) refating to construction contracts has been included in the Consolidated Income Statement
2018 2017
£'000 £000
Contract costs incurred 34,557 22953
Recognised gross profits 4,542 3130
Recognised gross losses - -
39,099 26,083
Balances outstanding comprise:
~ due from customers for construction contract work 3,907 1,332
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

20, Trade and other receivables

2018 2017
£000 £'000
Current assets:
~ trade receivables 63,787 51602
~ contract assets on non-construction contracts 95,441 884948
~ prepayments and accrued income 18,966 13,362
Total trade and other receivables 178,194 153912

Trade receivables are normailly due within 30 to 60 days and da not bear any effective interest rate. All trade receivables and accrued income
are subject 1o credit risk exposure. Housing customers are typically L ocal Authorities and Housing Associations where credit risk is minimal.
Care customers are typically Local Authorities and NHS Trusts where credit risk is minimal,

The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows.

2018 2017

£000 £'000
Neither impaired nor past due 52,879 44717
Less than three months past due but not impaired 5,826 2323
More than three months past due but not impaired 5,082 4562
Total trade and other receivables 63,787 51602
21. Trade and other payables

2018 2017

£'000 £000
Trade payables 100,664 103,432
Accruals and contract liabilities 59,373 45905
Sociat security and ather taxes 20,348 18425
Contract liabilities for non-construction contract work 613 326
Finance lease liabilities 376 304
Qther creditors 5,859 16,092

187,233 184,484

Due to the short duration of trade payables, management considers the carrying amounts recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet to be
a reasonable approximation of their fair value.

\ncluded in other creditars is £2.0m (2017: £nil) relating to contingent consideration on acquisitions, £nil (2017: £5.0m) relating to deferred
consideration on acquisitions and £nil (2017: £6.2m) relating to a forward purchase agreement in respect of 25% of Tando Property Services Limited,
Tando Homes Limited and O&T Developments Limited.

22. Financial liabilities

2018 2017
£'000 £000
Current liabilities:
~ interestrate swaps 41 YEX]
Non-current liabilities:
~ interesgt rate swaps 15 79
Total financial liabilities 56 332
23. Long-term other liabilities
2018 2017
£'000 £'000
Finance lease liahilities 892 540
Other creditors 6,586 4,496
Other creditors 7,478 5036
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24. Financial instruments

The Group uses a limited number of financial Instruments comprising cash and liquid resources, borrowings, interest rate swaps and various items
such as trade receivables and trade payables that arise directly from its aperations. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to finance
the Group's operations. The Group seeks to finance its operations through a combination of retaned earnings and borrowings and investing surplus
cash an deposit. The Group uses financial instruments to manage the interest rate risks arising from its operations and sources of finance but has
no interests in the trade of financial instruments

Cateqories of financial instruments

2018 2017
£'000 £000
Financial assets
Amortised cost
Trade receivables 63,787 51,602
Cash at bank and in hand 27,876 24,770
91,663 76,372
Financial liabilities
Fair value (level 2)
Interest rate swaps — effective (56) (332)
Fair value (level 3)
Deferred consideration in respect of acquisitions - (11,163)
Contingent consideration in respect of acquisitions (2,000) -
Amortised cost
Borrowings reiated to assets held for sale {15,000) {13,647)
Bank borrowings and overdrafts (93,780) (50,559)
Trade payables {100,664) (103,432)
Accruals and contract liabilities (59,373) {45905)
Other creditors {11,714) (10.269)
(282,587)  (246,460)
(190,924)  (170,088)

The IFRS 13 hierarchy level categorisation relates to the extent the fair value can be determined by reference to comparable market values.
The classifications range from level 1, where instruments are quoted on an active market, through 1o level 3, where the assumptions used to arrive
at fair value do not have comparable market data.

The fair values of interest rate swaps have been calculated by a third party expert discounting estimated future cash flows on the basis of market
expectations of future interest rates (level 2).

The amount of contingent consideration payable is generally deterrmined by future expected profits of the acquired businesses. The fair values
of contingent consideration have been calculated by the Directors by reference tc expected future incame and expenditure in respect of the
acquired businesses.

There have been no transfers between levels during the year.

Fair value information
The fair value of the Group's financial assets and liabilities is as disclosed above and approximates to the book value.

Financial risk management
The Group's activities expose it to a vaniety of financial risks: market risk (including interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk; and liquidity risk.

The main risks faced by the Group relate to the availability of funds ta meet business needs and the risk of credit default by custormers. The Group's
averall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group's financial performance

Risk management 1s carried out under policies and guidelines approved by the Beard of Directors.
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

24, Financial instruments continued

Borrowing facilities
The Group’s borrowing faclities are drawn on as reguired ta manage its cash needs. Banking facilities are reviewed regularly and extended and

replaced in advance of their exprry.

The Group had total borrowing facilities of £183m with Barclays Bank PLC, HSBC Bank PLC and Uloyds Bank PLC, of which £110m was utilised at
31 December 2018.

The facilities comprise a committed four-year £130.0m revolving credit facility, a 364-day £15.0m loan and an unsecured overdraft facility of £10 Om.
The undrawn armounts st 31 December 2018 were a £65.0m revolving credit facility and an overdraft facility of £10.0m. In addition, the Group has a
property acquisition credit facility of £30m to acquire and build portfolios for resale. At 31 December 2018, assets held for resale utilising this facility
amoeunted to £12.4m {2017; 13.9m). At 31 December 2018, the associated draw-down for these acquisitions was £15.0m {(2017: £13.8m), funding
both these assets for rasale together with also part-funding the modular homes included within fixed assets.

Interest rate risk management
The Group finances its operations thraugh a mixture of retained profits and bank borrowings from major banking institutions at floating rates of

interest based on LIBOR. The Group's exposure to interest rate fluctuations on borrowings is managed through the use of interest rate swaps, hence
the fixed rate borrowings relate to floating rate loans where the interest rate has been fixed by a hedging arrangement. The fair value of interest rate
exposure on financial liahitities of the Group as at 31 Decerrber 2018 was.

Interest rate

Fixed Floating Zerg Total
£000 £'000 £000 £000
Financial liabilities - 2018 70,000 40,000 - 110,000
Financial liabilities — 2017 64,500 - 11,163 75663

The Group's poficy is to accept a degree of interest rate risk, provided the effects of the various patential changes in rates remain within certain
prescribed parameters.

Accordingly, at 31 December 2018 the Group had hedged the first £70.0m of the £185.0m total borrowing facilities by entering into interest rate
swap arrangements with Barclays Bank PLC and HSBC Bank PLC. The arrangement with Barclays Bank PLC consists of two £15.0m swap contracts
expiring in August 2021, with quarterly maturity, matching the underlying facility. The arrangement with HSBC Bank PLC consists of three swap
contracts totalling £40.0m expiring in December 2020, with quarterly maturity, matching the underlying facility.

The maturity of the interest rate swap contracts is as follows:

2018 2017
Nominal Average Nominal Average
amount applicable amount applicable
hedged interest rates hedged  interestrates
£'000 % £000 %
Within one year - - 30,000 1.85%
Oneto two years 40,000 0.84% - -
Two to five years 30,000 0.96% 40,000 0.64%

More than five years - -

Effective interest rates
Interest rate swaps with fair value liabilities of £0.1m (2017: £0.3m) and average remaining lives of two years and five months have been accounted

for in financial liabilities.

The Group's overall average cost of debt, including effective interest rate swaps, is 2.5% as at 31 December 2018 (2017: 2.3%). Excluding these swaps
the average is 2.3% (2017 1.6%).
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24. Financial instruments contirued
Cash flow hedging reserve

The cash flow hedging reserve comprises all gains and losses arising from the valuation of interest swap contracts which are effective hedges
and mature after the year end These are valued on 8 mark-to-market basis, accounted for through the Consolidated Staternent of Comprehensive
Income and recycled through the Consolidated Income Statement when the hedged item affects the Consolidated income Statement

Movements during the year were:

£'000
At 1 January 2017 (774)
Amaunts transferred to the Consalidated Income Statement 645
Revaluations during the year (54)
Deferred tax moverment (143)
At1 January 2018 (326)
Amounts transferred to the Consolidated Income Statement 325
Revaluations during the year -
Deferred tax mavernent {45)
At 31 December 2018 {46)

At 31 December 2018 the Group had minimal exposure tc movements in interest rates as the remaining interest rate risk was offset by the Group’s

cash and short-term deposits.

If the interest rates had been 0.5% higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group's profit before taxation for the year ended
31 December 2018 and reserves would decrease or increase, respectively, by £0.4m (2017 £0.3m).

Liquidity risk management

The Group seeks to manage liquidity risk by ensuring sufficient liquidity is available to meet foreseeable needs and to invest cash assets safely

and profitably.

Management manitors rclling forecasts of the Group's liquidity reserve (comprising undrawn borrowing facilities and cash and cash equivalents) on
the basis of expected cash flows. This is generally carried out at a local level in the operating companies of the Group in accordance with the practice
and limits set by the Group. These limits vary hy location and take into account the liquidity and nature of the market in which the entity operates.

The quantum of committed borrowing facilities of the Group is regularly reviewed and is designed to exceed forecast peak gross debt levels.
For short-term warking capital purposes, the Group utilises bank overdrafts as required. These facilities are regularly reviewed and are renegotiated

ahead of their expiry date.

The table below shows the maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities:

Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5Syears Over 5years Total
£'000 £000 £000 £'000 £000

2018
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings related to assets held for sale 15,000 - - - 15,000
Bank borrowings 15,000 - 78,780 - 93,780
Trade and other payables 163,813 6,669 - - 170,482
Deferred and contingent consideration in respect of acquisitions - - - - -
Derivative financial liabilities
Interest rate swaps — effective a1 15 - - 56
2017
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings related to assets held for sale 13,941 - - - 13941
Bank borrowings - - 50,559 - 50,659
Trade and other payables 154,606 4,155 - - 158761
Deferred and contingent consideration in respect of acquisitions 11,163 - - - 11,163
Derivative financial liabilities
Interest rate swaps — effective 253 65 14 - 332

The Group has disclosed core bank borrowings of £80.0m as due in two to five years Whilst the amounts borrowed could be repaid each quarter,
the Group’s intention 1s to align core bank borrowings with its interest rate swaps
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

24. Financial instruments continued

Credit risk management
The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables, contract assets and work In progress.

Trade receivables are normally due within 30 to 60 days. Trade and other receivables included in the Censolidated Balance Sheet are stated net
of & bad debt provision which has been estimated by management following a review of individual receivable accounts. There is no Group-wide
rate of provision and provision made for debts that are overdue is based on prior default experience and known factors at the balance sheet date
Receivables are written of f against the bad debt provision when management considers that the debt is no lenger recoverable.

Housing customers are typically Local Authorities and Housing Associations. Care customers are typically Local Authorities and NHS Trusts.
The nature of both of these customers means that credit risk is minimal. Other rade receivables contain no specific concentration of credit risk
as the amounts recognised represent a large number of receivables fram various customers.

The Greup continually manitars the pasition of major custormers and incorparates this information into its credit risk contrals. External credit
ratings are obtained where appropriate.

Details of the ageing of trade receivables are shown in note 20.

Deferred and contingent consideration
The table below shows the movements in deferred and contingent consideration:

Deferred Cantingent Total

£000 £000 £000

At 1 January 2017 16,163 294 16,457
Paid in respect of acquisitions {5,000) - {5,000)
Released on reassessment - {294) (294)
At 1 January 2018 11,163 - 11,163
Increase due to new acquisitions in the year - 2,000 2,000
Paid in respect of acquisitions {11163} - (11,163)
A1 31 December 2018 - 2,000 2,000

Contingent consideration represents an estimate of future consideration likely to be payable in respect of acguisitions. Contingent consideration
is discounted for the likelinood of payment and for the time value of money. Centingent consideration becomes payable based on the profitability
of acquired businesses or, in the case of one specific acquisition, the utifisation of certain timing differences inrespect of corporation tax.

The fair value of contingent consideration is estimated by forecasting future profits and utilising the forecast to determine the likely contingent
consideration payable.

Infarmation as to the likely timing of payments in respect of these provisions' financial liahilities is provided earlier within this note.

Capital management
The Group's objectives when managing capital are:

~ to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders;

-~ to provide an adequate return to shareholders by oricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk; and

~ tomaintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cast of capital.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in hght of changes
in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt as disclosed below and equity as disclosed in the Consolidated Staterment of Changes
in Equity.

2018 2017
£000 £'000
The Group ¢onsiders its revolving credit facility to be an integral part of its cash management:
~ cash at bank and in hand 27876 24770
~ revolving credit facility (93,780) (50,559)
Cash and cash equivalents, including revolving credit facility (65,904) (25,789}
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25. Deferred taxation

Deferred tax is calculated on temporary differences under the liability method.

Deferred tax assets

The following deferred tax assets were recagnised by the Group as at 31 December 2018.

Short-term
Pension  Share-based Cash fiow termporary
scheme payments hedges Tax losses differences Total
£000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000Q £'000
At 1 January 2017 1513 340 - 2172 1679 5,704
(Dehit)/credit to Consolidated Income Staternent {84) (267) 149 (1,015) (87) {1,254
Debit 1o Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity - 404 - - - 404
{Debit)/credit to Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income (397) - {143) - - {540)
At 1 danuary 2018 1,032 477 56 1157 1,592 4,314
Impact of change in accounting palicies - - - - 6,013 6,013
Adjusted balance at 1 January 2018 1,032 477 56 1157 7605 10,327
(Debit)/credit to Consolidated Income Statement (66) 116 - 250 {5.853) (5,553)
Debit to Consalidated Statement of Changes in Equity - 14 - - - 14
(Debit)/credit to Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income (243) - (45) - - (288}
Resulting from business cornbinations - - - - 1,000 1,000
At 31 December 2018 723 607 1 1,407 2,752 5,500

In accordance with IFRS 2 "Share-based Payment', the Group has recognised an expense for the consumption of employee services received
as consideration for share options granted. A tax deduction will not arise until the options are exercised. The tax deduction in future periods is

dependent on the Company's share price at the date of exercise. The estimated future tax deduction is based an the options’intrinsic value at the

balance sheet date.

The cumulative amount credited to the Consolidated Income Statement s limited to the tax effect of the associated cumulative share-based

payment expense. The excess has been credited directly to eguity. This is presented in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

In addition to those recognised, unused tax losses totalling £28.4m {2017: £34.2m} have not been recognised as the Directors do not consider that

it is probable that they will be recavered.

Deferred tax liahilities

The following deferred tax habilities were recagnised by the Group as at 31 Decernber 2018:

Pension Acguisition Cash flow
scheme intangibles hedges Total
£000 £000 £000 £'000
At 1 January 2017 3127 3904 89 7120
{Cradit)/debit to Consolidated Income Statement (90 (2,083) (8% (2,262)
Debit to Consohdated Statement of Comprehensive Income 2,240 - = 2,240
At 1 January 2018 57277 1,821 - 7098
{Credit)/debit to Consolidated Income Statement 58 (842) - (784)
Debit to Consclhdated Statement of Comprehensive Income (2,035) - - (2,035)
Resulting from business combinations - 3,431 - 3,431
At 31 December 2018 3,300 4,410 - 7,710

Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination are capitalised at fair value at the date of the acquisition and amortised over their usefu
economic lives. The UK tax regime calculates tax using the individual financial statements of the members of the Group and not the consclidated
accounts. Hence, the tax base of acquisition intangible assets is £nil. The estimated tax effect of this £nil tax base is accounted for as a deferred tax
liability which is released over the period of amortisation of the associated acquisition intangible asset.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2018

14

SJUGLLIGIE]S [EIOUBLI] asueusaroh ajelodiog uodas nBareng

LONBLLIOJUI JaP|OYBIBYS



Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

26. Share capital and reserves
Classes of reserves

Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued

Share premium represents the difference between the nominal value of shares issued and the {otal consideration received.

Share-based payment reserve represents emplcyee remuneration which is credited to the share-based payment reserve until the related share

options are exercised. Upon exercise the share-based payment reserve is transferred ta retained earings.

The cash flow hedging reserve comprises all gains and losses arising from the valuation of interest swap contracts which are effective hedges
and mature after the year end. These are valued on & mark-to-market basis, accounted for through the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive

Income and recycled through the Consolidated Income Statement when the hedged item affects the Consolidated Income Statement.

The merger reserve relates to the difference between the nominal value and total consideration in respect of acquisitions, where the Company was

entitled to the merger relief offered by the Companies Act 2006.

Share capital

2018 2017
£'000 £000
Allatted, called up and fully paid
At 1 January 103,567,091 (2017 102,559,799) ordinary shares of 1p each 1,036 1026
Issue of 133,164 (2017: 1,007,292) shares on exercise of share options 1 10
lssue of 6,787,331 {2017 nil) shares as a placement 68 -
At 31 December 110,487,586 (2017: 103,567,091) ardinary shares of 1p each 1,105 1,036

During the year 133,164 (2017: 1,007,292) ordinary 1p shares were issued in respect of share options exercised. In addition, the Group raised funds
through a placement of 6,787,331 (2017 nil) ordinary 1p shares. The difference between the naminal value of £0 07m and the total consideration of

£22.02m has been credited to the share prémium account.

27. Notes to the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
The following non-cperating cash flow adjustments have been made to the result for the year before tax:

2018 2017

£'000 £'000

Depreciation 5,804 6,105
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 37 24
Profit on disposal of subsidiary 44 (961)
Amortisation 6,843 12,768
Share-based payments 552 826
1AS 19 pension movement (655) )
Finance income (389) 351)
Finance cost 3,405 2,706
Total 15,641 21,148

Movements in financing liabilities during the year are as follows:
Barrowings
relating to
Revolving assets held Finance

credit facility for resale leases Total

At 1 January 2017 65,278 - 113 653N
Inception of new finance leases - - 2,685 2,685
Cash inflows/(outflows) (14,719) 13941 (1954) (2,732)
At 1 January 2018 50,559 13941 844 65,344
inception of new finance leases - - 903 903
Cash inflows/(outflows) 43,221 1,059 (479) 43,801
At 31 December 2018 93,780 15,000 1,268 110,048
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28, Acquisitions and disposals

0On 30 November 2018 the Group acquired certain business assets and contracts from the Mitie property services division. The transaction was
facilitated via the purchase of the entire share capital of MPM Housing Limited and MPS Housing Limited for a total consideration of £22.5m.

in addition, contingent consideration of a maxirmum of £12.5m may become payable based on a multiple of profit before tax for the acquired
entities. The Directors have assessed the fair value of this contingent consideration as £2.0m This is based on the present value of the expected
consideration to be paid calculated by reference to anticipated profits of the business over the next two years. It is primarily sensitive to changes
in those anticipated profits.

The acquisition was undertaken in order to strengthen the Group’s offering in its Housing segment. It provides access to new clients and has
significant synergies with the wider Group.

The effect of the acquisition of MPM and MPS is disclosed below.

Total
£000
Assets
Non-current
Property, plant and equipment 248
Deferred tax asset 1,000
Current
Trade receivables 32175
Other receivables 7278
Total assets 40,701
Liabilities
Current
Bank overdraft {4185)
Trade payables (10,985)
Other payables {18.423)
Total liabllities (33,593)
Net assets acquired at fair value 7108
Intangible assets recognised 17,392
Deferred tax recognised in respect of intangible assets (3.304)
21,196
Goodwill 3,304
24,500
Satisfied by:
~ cash 22,500
~ contingent consideration 2,000
24,500

In addition to the amounts noted above, the Group acquired £0.6m of liabilities in respect of a further acquisition. This other acquisition resuited
in £0.6m of intangibles capitalised, a £0.1m deferred tax liability and £0.1m of goodwill capitalised.

Intangible assets of £18.1m have been recognised in respect of these acquisitions. They represent the expected value to be derived from the existing
order books of the acquired businesses The Directors consider that the value assigned to goodwill represents the benefits to the Group ansing from
synergies with its existing business.

The trade receivables detailed above are disclosed net of provisions totalling £4.3m and therefore the gross contractual amounts receivable total
£36.5m. All the effects of these acquisitions on the Group's assets and liabilities are disclosed as pravisiona! due to the proximity of the acquisitions
to the balance sheet date.

In the period ended 371 December 2018, the acquisitions contributed revenue of £9.0m and a £0.5m operating loss before amaortisation
of acquisition intangibles.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, had the acquisitions taken place on 1 January 2018, the combined Group full year revenue is estimated
at £898 3 and the combinad Group profit for the year before taxation is estimated at £24.7m
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

28. Acquisitions and disposals continued
Analysis of net outflow in respect of the purchase of the subsidiary undertakings

Total

£000

Cash consideration {22,500)
Net overdraft acquired with subsidiary undertakings 4,185)
Net cash disposed of with subsidiary (26)
Transactions with non-cantrolling interests 6,163)
Cash payments in respect of prior year acquisitions (5,000)
{37.874)

On 1 January 2018 the Group reassessed the level of control it held over Mears 24/7 LLP and concluded that the threshald far contrel was na langer
being met. As a result, the Group has not consolidated the results of Mears 24/7 LLP from 1 January 2018 and net assets of £0.04m, including cash
of £0.03m, were derecognised. The Group ceased to be a partner on 12 September 2018,

On 4 January 2018, the Group acquired the remaining 25% of the share capital of O&T Developments Limited, Tando Property Services Limited and
Tande Homes Limited for a tatal consideration of £6.2m.

29. Pensions

Defined contribution schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Group personal pension scheme for the benefit of certain employees. The Group contributes to personal
pensian schemes of certain Directors and senior employees. The Group operates a stakeholder pension plan available to all employees During the
year, the Group contributed £4.0m (2017: £3.0m) to these schemes.

1AS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’
The Group contributes to 30 (2017: 30) principal defined benefit schemes on behalf of a number of employees which require contributions to be

made to separately adminfstered funds.

These pension schemes are aperated on behalf of Mears Limited, Mears Care Limited, Morrison Facilities Services Limited and their subsidiary
undertakings. The assets of the schemes are administered by trustees in funds independent from the assets of the Group.

In certain cases, the Group will participate under Admitted Body status in the Local Government Pension Scheme. The Group will contribute for a
finite peried up until the end of the particular contract. The Group is required o pay regular contributions as detailed in the scheme’s schedule of
contributions. In some cases these contributions are capped and any excess can be recovered from the bedy from which the emplayees anginally
transferred. Where the Group has a contractual right to recover the costs of making good any deficit in the schermne from the Group's client, the fair
value of that asset has been recognised within the Group's pension assets. Certain judgements around the value of this asset have been made and
are discussed in the judgements and estimates disclosure within the accounting policies.

The disclesures in respect of the two (2017: twa) Group defined henefit schemes and the 28 (2017: 28} ather defined benefit schemes in this note
have been aggregated.

Costs and liabilities of the schemes are based on actuanal valuations. The latest full actuarial valuations for the schemes were updated to
31 December 2018 by qualified independent actuaries using the projected unit funding method.

The principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date are as follows.

2018 2017
Rate of increase of salaries - first year 2.00% 2.00%
Rate of increase of salaries — second year 3.15% 2.00%
Rate of increase of salaries — long term 3.15% 3.10%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment — based on CPI with a cap of 5% 2.20% 2.25%
Rate of increase for pensions in payrment — based on RPI with a cap of 5% 3.05% 3.05%
Rate of increase far pensions in payment — based on CPl with a cap of 3% 1.90% 195%
Rate of increase far pensions in payment - based on RPl with a cap of 3% 2.45% 2.45%
Discount rate 2.95% 270%
Retail prices inflation 3.15% 310%
Consumer prices inflation 2.15% 2.20%
Life expectancy for a 65-year-cld male 22.3 years 22 4 years
Life expectancy for a 65-year-ald female 24.5 years 24.7 years
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29. Pensions continued
I1AS 19 'Employee Benefits' continued

The amaunts recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and major categories of plan assets are’

2018 2017
Group Other Graup Other
schemes schemes Total scherries schemes Total
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Equities - quated 29,567 153,190 182,757 54,481 202,333 256,814
Equities — unguoted - 13,927 13,927 - 21,669 21,669
Bonds - quoted 93,562 58,113 151,675 74,412 67,850 142,262
Bonds — unquoted - 2,106 2,106 - 2418 2418
Property — quoted 4,352 6,215 10,567 4,258 6,258 10,516
Property — ungucted - 5,875 5,875 - 13,562 13,562
Cash 25,391 29,348 54,739 24174 31,437 55,61
Group's estimated asset share 152,872 268,774 421,646 157325 345,527 502,852
Present value of funded scheme liabilities (136,548) (282,368) (418,916) (132,591) (324,920Q) (457,511}
Funded status 16,324 {13,594) 2,730 24734 20,607 45,347
Guarantee - 16,947 16,947 - 7026 7026
Scheme surpluses not recognised as assets - (6,111) (6,111) - (30,025) (30,025}
Pension asset/(liability) 16,324 (2,758) 13,566 24,734 {2,392) 22,342
The amounts recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement are as follows”
2018 2017
Group Other Group Other
schemes schemes Total schemes schemes Total
£'000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000 £'000
Current service cost 2,091 3,483 5,574 2826 3,252 6,078
Past service cost 150 - 150 - 199 199
Settlement and curtailment - (234) (234) - - -
Administration costs 121 - 121 142 72 214
Total aperating charge 2,362 3,249 5,611 2968 3,523 6,491
Net interest (730) 34 (696) (2486) 25 (221
Total charged to the result for the year 1,632 3,283 4915 2722 3,548 6,270
Past service cost above includes a charge of £150,000 in respect of the Group's estimate of the impact of GMP egualisation, following the recent
Llayds Banking Group ruling.
Cumulative actuarial gains and losses recognised in equity are as follows:
2018 2017
Group Other Group Other
schemes schemes Total schemes schemes Total
£'000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £°000
On TUPE transfer of employees - (21,303) (21,303) - (373) (373)
Return on plan assets in excess of that recorded in
net interest (7,270) {19,427) (26,697) 3942 (6918) {2.976)
Actuarial gain/(loss) arising from changes in
demographic assumptions (5,601) 221 (5,380) 15,686 1,082 16,768
Actuarial {loss)/gain arising from changes in
financial assumptions 7,197 17,293 24,490 (7064) 8.617) (16,681)
Actuarial gain arising from liability experience {(3,967) (676) {4,643) (28) 31,447 31,419
Effects of limitation of recognisable surplus - 24,102 24,102 - (14,278) (14,278)
Total gains and losses recognised in equity (9,641) 210 (9,431) 12,536 1,343 13,879
Atl January 6,807 (5,592) 1,215 (5.729) (6,935) (12,664
Total at 31 December (2,834) (5,382) (8,216) 6,807 (5,592) 1,215
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

29, Pensions continued
1AS 19 ‘Employee Benefits' continued

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit cbligations are as follows:

2018 2017
Group Other Group Other
schemes schemes Total schermes schemes Total
£000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'600
Present value of obligations at 1 January 132,591 324,920 457,511 137721 410,258 547979
Current service cost 2,241 3,483 5,724 2,826 3,252 6,078
Past service cost - - - - 199 199
Scheme administration costs - - - - 22 22
Interest on obligations 3,560 7,499 11,059 4148 9,052 13,200
Plan participants’ contributions 3 1,064 1,385 374 1,138 1,570
Benefits paid (4,536) (5,751) (10,287) (3.884) 6,107) (9.991)
Contract transfer - (31,907) (31,907) - (72,584 (72.584)
Settlements - (2,062) (2,062) - - -
Actuarial gain arising from changes in
demaographic assumptions 5,601 (221) 5,380 (15,686) (1.082) (16,768)
Actuarial loss arising from changes in financial assumptions (7,197) {15,333) (22,530) 7064 12,221 19,285
Actuarial loss/(gain) arising from liability experience 3,967 676 4,643 28 (31,447 (31,419)
Present value of obligations at 31 December 136,548 282,368 418,916 132,591 324920 45751
Changes in the fair value of the plan assets are as follows:
2018 2017
Group Other Group Other
schemes schemes Total schemes schemes Total
£000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Fair value of plan assets at 1 January 157,325 352,553 509,878 149,529 422,691 572,220
Expected return on plan assets 4,290 7,653 11,943 4,394 9,027 13.421
Employer’s contributions 2,863 2,707 5,570 3Nz 3127 6,239
Plan participants’ contributians 321 1,064 1,385 374 1136 1,510
Benefits paid (4,536) (5,751) {10,287) (3,884) 6,107) (9991)
Scheme administration costs {121) - (121) (142} (50) (192)
Contract transfer - (53,210} (53,210) - (72857} (72957)
Settlements - (1,828) {1,828} - - -
Return on plan assets above/(below) that recorded in
net interest {7,270) (17,467) (24,737) 3942 (4,314) (372)
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 152,872 285,721 438,593 157325 332,553 509,878
History of experience gains and losses is as follows:
Group schemes
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Fair value of scheme assets 152,872 157,325 149,529 116,512 115,818
Net present value of defined benefit obligations (136,548} (132,591) (137721) (111,327) {106,710)
Net surplus 16,324 24734 11,808 5185 9108
Experience adjustments arising on scheme assets
Amount (7,270 3942 27129 (4.984) 10624
Percentage of scheme assets (4.8%) 2.5% 18.1% (43%) 9.2%
Experience adjustments arising on scheme liabilities
Amount 3,967 28 {1,000) (5193) {910)
Percentage of scheme liabilities 2.9% 00% 0.7%) (4.7%) (0.9%)
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29. Pensigns continued
1AS 19 ‘Employee Benefits' continued

COther schemes

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Fair value of scheme assets 285,721 352,553 422,691 352,600 347034
Net present value of defined benefit obligations (282,368) (324,920) (410,258} (333,839 (331.666)
Net surplus 3,353 27633 12,433 18,851 15,368
Asset value not recognised as surplus (6,111} {30,025} (15,747) {15,988) (17,717
Net deficit (2,758) (2,392) (3.314) (1,137) (2,349)
Experience adjustments arising on scheme assets
Amacunt {25,033) (4,314) 58,020 {7,408) 22125
Percentage of scheme assets (8.8%) (1.2%) 14.0% (21%) 6.4%
Experience adjustments arising on scheme liabilities
Amount 676 (31,447) (1,714} (819) (9,828)
Parcentage of scheme liabilities 0.2% (9.7%) (0.4%) (0.2%) (3.0%)

Funding arrangements are agreed for each of the Group's defined benefit pension schemes with their respective trustees. The employer's

contributions expected to be paid during the financial year ending 31 December 2019 amount to £5.4m.

Each of the schemes manages risks through a variety of methods and strategies to limit downside in fzlls in eguity markets, moverment in inflation

and movement in interest rates.

The Group's defined benefit obligation is sensitive to changes in certain key assumptions. The sensitivity analysis below shows how a reasonably
possible increase or decrease In a particular assumption, in isolation, results in an increase or decrease in the present value of the defined benefit

obligation as at 31 December 2018.

Decrease Increase
£'000 £000
Rate of inflation — decrease/increase by 0.1% 1,552) 1,143
Rate of increase in salaries ~ decrease/increase by 0.1% (139) 134
Discount rate — decrease/increase by 0.1% 3,283 (8,058)
Life expectancy — decrease/increase by 1 year (5,704) 6,131
30. Operating lease commitments
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals payable were as follows:
Land and bulldings Other
2018 2017 2018 2017
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Payable
Within one year 44,899 42,520 13,523 14,038
Between two and five years 38,877 29,829 17,290 14,5M
After mare than five years 69,583 44,051 - -
153,358 116,400 30,813 29,500

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office properties and Housing Management residential properties,
the hire of vehicles and the hire of other equipment. These leases have durations ranging from one tc 15 years. No arrangements have been entered

inta in respect of contingent rental payments.

31. Capital commitments
The Group had no capital commitments at 31 December 2078 or at 31 December 2017,

32. Contingent liabilities

The Group has guaranteed that it will complete certain Group cantracts that it has commenced. At 31 December 2018 these guarantees amounted to

£18.7m (2017: £21.7m).

As detailed in note 7, the Group has a facility in place guaranteeing the performance of a number of M&E projects in Haydon Mechanical and
Electrical Company LLC {Haydon LLC') The guarantees will fall away as the final accounts are agreed and the associated guarantees released.
As at 31 December 2018, guarantees amounted to £3.9m (2017: £3 8m) and a balance of £2.2m has been provided fer against this balance.

The Group had no other contingent liahilities at 31 December 2018 or at 31 December 2017,
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

33. Related party transactions

ldentity of related parties
The Group has a related party relationship with its pension schemes, its subsidiaries and its Directors.

Pension schemes
Details of contributions 0 pension schemes are set out in note 29 to the financial statements.

Subsidiaries

The Group has a central treasury arrangement in which all subsidiaries participate. The Directors do not consider it meaningful to set out details
of transfers made in respect of this treasury arrangement between companies, nor do they consider it meaningful to set out details of interest
or dividend payments made within the Group.

Transactions with key management personnel

The Group has identified key management personnel as the Directors of Mears Group PLC.

Key management personnel held the following percentage of voting shares in Mears Group PLC:

2018 2017

% %

Directors 0.3 0.4
Key management personnel’s compensation is as follows:

2018 2017

£'000 £000

Qalaries including social security costs 1,778 1,765

Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes 121 161

Share-based payments 100 150

1,999 2,076

Further details of Directors' remuneration are disclosed within the Remuneration Report.
Dividends totalling £0.04m {2017; £0.04m) were pald to Directors during the year.
Transactions with other related parties

During the year the Group made additional loans to YourMK LLP, an entity in which the Group is a 50% member, tatalling £0.1m {2017, £0 2m}.
At 31 December 2018, the Group was owed £0.5m (2017 £0.4m) by YourMK LLP.
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Financia! statements
Principal accounting policies - Company

Statement of compliance
Mears Group PLC is a public limited company incorporated in England and Wales. Its registered office is 1390 Montpellier Court, Gloucester Business

Park, Brockworth, Gloucester GL3 4AH.

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable United Kingdom accounting standards, including FRS 101 and the

Companies Act 2006. The financial staternents have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the maodification to a fair value basis for
certain financial instruments specified in the accounting policies below. The financial statements are presented in Sterling.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption in Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 from disclosing its individual profit and loss account.

The Company has taken advantage of the reduced disclosures for subsidiaries and the ultimate parent provided for in FRS 107 and has therefore not
provided a cash flow staterment or certain disclosures in respect of share-based payments

The principal accounting policies of the Company are set out below. These policies have been applied consistently to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated

Goodwill
Goodwill representing the reallocation of amounts previcusly classed as investments upon the hive-across of trade and assets is capitalised and
amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful economic life.

Share-based employee remuneration
All share-based payment arrangemnents that were granted after 7 Navernber 2002 are recognised in the financial statements.

The Group aperates equity-settled and cash-settied share-based remuneration plans for its employees. All employee services received in exchange
for the grant of any share-based remuneration are measured at their fair value. These are indirectly determined by reference to the fair value of the
share options awarded. Their value is determined at the date of grant and is not subsequently remeasured unless the conditions on which the award
was granted are modified. The fair value at the date of the grant is calculated using the Black Schales option pricing madel and the cost is recognised
on a straight-line basis aver the vesting periad. Adjustments are made to reflect expected and actual forfeitures during the vesting periad.

Share-based remuneration in respect of employees of the Company is ultimately recogrised as an expense in the profit and loss account. For equity-
settled share-based payments there is a corresponding credit ta the share-based payment reserve; for cash-settled share-based payments the
Company recognises a liability at the balance sheet date. The Company operates share-based remuneration plans for employees of subsidiaries
using the Company’s equity instruments. The fair value of the compensation given in respect of these share-based compensation plans less
payments receved from subsidiaries in respect of those share-based payments is recognised as a capital contribution.

Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received, net of any directly attributable transaction costs up to the nominal value of the shares issued,
are allocated to share capital with any excess being recorded as share premium.

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax is recognised on all timing differences where the transactions or events that give the Company an obligation to pay more tax in the
future, or a night to pay less tax in the future, have occurred by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets are recognised where it is more likely than
not that they will be recovered. Deferred tax s measured using rates of tax and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date.
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Financial statements
Principal accounting policies — Company continued

Retirement benefits
i) Defined contribution pension scheme
The pension costs charged against profits are the contributions payable to individual policies in respect of the accounting period.

ii) Defined benefit pensions

The Company contributes to defined henefit schernes which require contributions to be made to separately administered funds.

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent
on one or mare factors such as age, years of service and salary. The lege! obligations for any benefits from this kind of pension plan remain with the
Group, even if plan assets for funding the defined benefit plan have been set aside.

Scheme liahilities are measured using the projected unit funding methad, applying the principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date.
Assets are measured at market value. The asset that is recognised is restricted to the amount by which the service cost is expected, over the lifetime
of the scheme, to exceed funding contributions payable in respect of accruing benefits.

Actuarial gains and losses are taken to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income as incurred. For this purpose, actuanal gains and
losses comprise both the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions and experience adjustments arising because of differences between the
previous actuarial assumptians and what has actually occurred.

Other rmovements in the net surplus or deficit are recognised in the profit and loss account, including the current service cost, any past service cost
and the effect of curtailments or settlements. The interest costs less the expected return on assets are also charged to the Consolidated Income
Statement. The amount charged to the Consolidated Income Statement in respect of these plans is included within operating costs.

The Company’s contributions to the schemes are paid in accordance with the rules of the schemes and the recommendations of the actuary.

Investments
Investments in equity shares which are not publicly traded and where fair value cannot be measured reliably are measured at cost less impairment

Cividends on equity securities are recognised in incame when receivable.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are recagnised in the Consclidated Balance Sheet when the Company becomes party ta the cantractual provisions
of the instrument. The principal financial assets and liabilities of the Company are as follows:

Financial assets

Basic financial assets, including trade and other receivables, amounts due to Group companies and cash and cash equivalents, are initially
recognised at transaction price, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the transaction is measured at the present value
of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest.

Such assels are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method

At the end of each reparting period financial assets measured at amortised cost are assessed for objective evidence of impairment If an asset is
impaired the impairment loss is the difference hetween the carrying amount and the present value of the estimated cash flows discounted at the
asset's original effective interest rate. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets are derecognised when {(a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are settled; (b) substantially all the risks
and rewards of the ownership of the asset are transferred to anather party; or {¢) despite having retained some significant risks and rewards of
ownership, contral of the asset has been transferred to another party which has the practical ability to unilaterally sell the asset to an unrelated third
party without imposing additional restrictions.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand and bank deposits available with na natice or less than three months’ notice from
inception that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes 1n value. Bank overdrafts are presented as current liabilities to the extent that there
is no right of offset with cash balances.
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Retirement benefits continued

Financial liabilities

Basic financial liabilities, including trade and other payables, and amounts payable to Group companies that are classified as debt, are initially
recognised at transaction price, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt instrument is measured at the present
value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest.

Bank barrowings are non-basic financial liabilities and are initially recognised at fair value, being the present value of future payments discounted
at a market rate of interest. Bank barrowings are remeasured at fair value.

Derivatives, including interest rate swaps, are not basic financial instruments.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract 1s entered into and are subseguently remeasured at their fair value.
Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognised in profit or loss in finance costs or finance income as appropriate, unless they are included
in a hedging arrangemant.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability is extinguished, that is when the contractual obligation is discharged ar cancelled or expires.

Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amounts presented in the financial statements when there is a legally enforceable right to set off

the recognised amaunts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Hedge accounting for interest rate swaps
The Company applies hedge accounting for transactions entered into to manage the cash flow exposures of borrowings. Interest rate swaps are held
to manage the interest rate exposures and are designated as cash flow hedges of floating rate borrowings.

Changes in the fair values of derivatives designated as cash flaw hedges, and which are effective, are recognised directly in equity.

Any ineffectiveness in the hedging relationship (being the excess of the cumulative change in fair value of the hedging instrument since inception
of the hedge over the cumulative change in the fair value of the hedged item since inception of the hedge) is recognised in the Consolidated
Income Statement,

The gain or loss recagnised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to the Consalidated Inceme Statement when the hedge relationship ends
Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires ar no longer meets the hedging criteria, the forecast transaction is no longer
highly probable, the hedged debt instrument 1s derecognised or the hedging instrument is terminated

Critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
Critical judgements in applying the Company's accounting pelicies and key sources of estimation uncertainty are disclosed in the Group's accounting
policies on pages 112 1o 113.
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Financial statements
Parent Company balance sheet
As at 31 December 2018

2018 2017
Note £'000 £'000
Non-current assets
Intangible assets: goodwill - -
Investments 5 58,123 58123
58,123 58123
Current assets
Debtors 6 194,112 143944
Cash at bank and in hand 191 2,276
194,303 146,220
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 7 (38,848) (5,141)
Net current assets 155,455 141,079
Total assets less current liabilities 213,578 199,202
Creditors: amounts falling due after mare than one year 8 (78,795) (50,079)
Provisions for liabilities
Pension liability 13 (1,044) {(2,574)
133,739 146,549
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 10 1,105 1,036
Share premium account 82,224 60,204
Share-based payment reserve 2,021 1,469
Hedging reserve (46) (326)
Profit and loss account 48,435 84,166
Shareholders’ funds 133,739 146,549

The Parent Company has taken advantage of Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has not included its own profit and loss account in these
financial statements, The Group profit for the year includes a loss of £23.2m (2017 profit: £49.3m) which is dealt with in the financial statements

of the Company.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2019,

D J Miles AC M Smith
Director Director

Company number: 03232863

The accompanying accounting policies and nates form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Financial statements

Parent Company statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Share-
Share based
Share premium payment Hedging Retained Totaf
capital account reserve reserve earnings equity
£'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000
At 1 January 2017 1.026 58,320 1,975 (774) 457184 105,731
Net result for the year - - - - 49,263 46,263
Other comprehensive expense - - - 448 605 1,053
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year - - - 448 49,868 50,316
Issue of shares 10 1,884 - - - 1,894
Share gption charges - - 826 - - 826
Share option exercises - - (1,332) - 1,332 -
Dividends - - - - (12,218) (12,218}
At 1 January 2018 1,036 60,204 1,469 (326} 84,166 146,549
Impact of change in accounting policies - - - - (443) (443)
Adjusted balance at 1 January 2018 1,036 60,204 1,469 (326) 83,723 146,106
Net result for the year - - - - (23,239 {23,239)
Other comprehensive expense - - - 280 490 770
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year - - - 280 (22.749) (22,469}
Issue of shares 69 22,020 - - - 22,089
Share option charges - - 552 - - 552
Dividends - - - - (12,539) (12,539}
At 31 December 2018 1,105 B2,224 2,021 {46) 48,435 133,739
The accompanying accounting pelicies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Company
For the year ended 31 December 2018

1. Result for the financial year
This result for the year is stated after charging auditor’s remuneration of £55 000 (2017: £65,000) relating to audit services

2. Directors and employees
Employee benefits expense

2018 2017
£000 £000
Wages and salaries 13,755 17,891
Social security costs 1,920 2,477
Other pension costs 774 795
16,449 21,163

The average number of employees of the Company during the year was:
2018 2017
Number Number
Managemant 339 411

Rermuneration in respect of Directors was as follows:

2018 2017
£000 £000
Emaoluments 1,507 1,389
Gains made on the exercise of share options - 1,148
Pension contributions to personal pension schemes 121 161
1,628 2,698

During the year contributions were paid ta personal pension schemes for three Directors (2017 four).
During the year no Directors (2017: three) exercised share options.

3. Share-based employee remuneration
As at 31 December 2018 the Group maintained six share-based payment schemes for employee remuneration. The details of each scheme are
included within note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

All share-based employee remuneration will be settled in equity. The Group has no legal obligation to repurchase or settle the options.

In total, £0.2m of employee remuneration expense has been included in the Company's profit and loss account for 2018 (2017: £0.2m), which gave
rise to additional paid-in capttal.

4. Dividends
The following dividends were paid on ordinary shares in the year:

2018 2017

£000 £000

Final 2017 dividend of 8.55p (2017: final 2016 dividend of 8 40p) per share 8,860 8651
Interim 2018 dividend of 3.55p (2017: interim 2017 dividend of 3.45p) per share 3,679 3,567
12,539 12,218

The praposed final 2018 dividend of 8.85p per share has not heen included within the financial statements as na obligation existed at
31 December 2018,

5. Fixed asset investments
Investment
in subsidiary
undertakings
£'000

At 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018 58,123

Detalls of the subsidiary undertakings of the Company are shown in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
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6. Debtors
2018 2017
£'000 £'000
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 193,084 142,531
Other receivables 493 868
Deferred tax asset 530 545
194,112 143544
The deferred tax asset above of £0.5m (2017: £0.5m) is due after more than one year The recoverability of the deferred tax asset 1s dependent
on future taxable profits. The Company expects to realise sufficient profits to enable the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
7. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
2018 2017
£000 £'000
Bank loan 15,000 -
Bank overdraft 21,032 -
Interest rate swaps 41 253
Accruals 2,292 4061
Corporation tax 453 347
Other payables 30 480
38,848 5141
8. Creditors: amounts falling due in more than one year
2018 2017
£'000 £4000
Bank borrowings 78,780 50,000
Centingent consideration - -
Interest rate swaps 15 79
78,795 50,079

The Company has disclosed core bank borrowings of £78.8m as due in two to five years. Whilst the amounts berrowed could e repaid each quarter,

the Company’s intention is 10 align core bank berrowings with its interest rate swaps.
Included in other creditors is £nil (2017: £nil} relating to deferred consideration on acquisitions.

9. Financial instruments
The Company has the following financial instruments:

2018 2017
£'000 £000
Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost:
~ other receivables - 50
Financial liahilities that are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income:
~ Interest rate swaps (586) (332)
Financial llahilities that are measured at amartised cost:
~ bank borrowings (93,780) (50,000)
~ accruals (3,902) {4,061)
~ other payables (30) {480}
(97,712) (54,541)

There have been no changes during the period or cumulatively in the fair value of bank barrowings attributable to changes in the credit risk of
the instrument. The change attributable to changes in own credit risk is not material due to the short life of individual draw-downs within bank
barrowings. The difference between the carrying amount and the amount expected to be paid 2t maturity is not material due to the short Iife of

indwidual draw-downs within bank borrowings.

The Company pays a margin aver and above LIBOR cn bank borrowings. The margin is based cn the ratio of Group consolidated net borrowings

to Group consolidated adjusted EBITDA and could have varied between 1.2% and 2.2% during the year.

The Cempany has entered into interest rate swaps to receive interest at LIBOR and pay interest at fixed rates. At 31 December 2018, these consist of
two £15.0m swap contracls expiring in August 2021 with a fixed interest rate of 0 96%, one £20.0m swap contract expiring in December 2020 with a
fixed interest rate of 0.84% and two £10.0m swap contracts expiring in December 2020 with fixed interest rates of 0.84%. The swaps have quarterly

maturity matching the underiying debt.
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Financial statements
Notes to the financial statements — Company continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

9. Financial instruments continued
These instruments are used to mitigate the Company's exposure to any interest rate movements. The fair value of the interest rate swaps is a liability
of £0.1m (2017: £0.3m).

During 2018, a hedging loss of £nil (2017: £0.1m) was recognised in other cornprehensive income for changes in the fair value of the interest rate
swap and £0.3m (2017: £0.6m) was reclassified from the hedge reserve to profit and loss.

The Company seeks to manage liquidity risk by ensuring sufficient liquidity is avallable to meet foreseeable needs and to invest cash assets safely
and profitably.

Management monitors rolling farecasts of the Group and Company's liguidity reserve {comprising undrawn borrowing facilities and cash and cash
equivalents) on the basis of expected cash flows. The guantum of committed borrowing facilities of the Group and Company is regularly reviewed
and is designed to exceed forecast peak gross debt levels. For short-term working capital purposes, the Group and Company utilise bank overdrafts
as required. These facilities are regularly reviewed and are renegotiated ahead of their expiry date.

10. Share capital and reserves

2018 2017
£'000 £000
Allotted, called up and fully paid
At 1 January 103,567,091 (2017 102,559,799) ordinary shares of Tp each 1,036 1,026
Issue of 133,164 (2017; 1,007,292) shares on exercise of share options 1 10
Issue of 6,787,331 {2017 nil) shares as a placement 68 -
At 31 December 110,487,586 (2017: 103,567,091) ordinary shares of 1p each 1,105 1,086

During the year 133,164 (2017: 1,007,292} ardinary 1p shares were issued in respect of share options exercised. In addition, the Group raised funds
through a placement of 6,787,331 (2017 nil) ordinary 1p shares. The difference between the nominal value of £0.07m and the total consideration
of £22.02m has been credited to the share premium account.

Classes of reserves
Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued.

Share premium represents the difference between the nominal value of shares issued and the total consideration received.

Share-based payment reserve represents employee remuneration which is credited to the share-based payment reserve until the related share
options are exercised. Upon exercise the share-hased payment reserve is transferred to retainad earnings.

The cash flaw hedging reserve comprises all gains and losses arising from the valuation of interest swap contracts which are effective hedges
and mature after the year end. These are valued on a mark-to-market basis, accounted for through the Consalidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income and recycled through the Consolidated Income Staterment when the hedged item affects the Consolidated Income Staterment.

11. Capital commitments
The Company had no capital commitments at 31 December 2018 or at 31 December 2017,

12. Contingent liabilities
The Company has guaranteed that it will complete certain Group contracts that its subsidiaries have commenced. At 31 December 2018 these

guarantees amounted to £18.7m (2017 £21.7m).
As detaifled in note 7 to the Group financial statements, the Group has a facility in place guaranteeing the perfarmance of a number of M&E projects
in Haydon Mechanical and Electrical Company LLC (Haydon LLC') The guarantees will fall away as the final accounts are agreed and the associated

guarantees released. As at 31 December 2018, guarantees amounted to £3 9m {(2017: £3 8m) and a balance of £2.2m has been provided for against
this balance

The Company had no other contingent liabilities at 31 December 2018 or at 31 December 2077,
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13. Pensions
Defined contribution schemes

The Company contributes to personal pension schemes of the Directors.

Defined benefit scheme

The Company operates a defined benefit pension scheme for the benefit of certain employees of its subsidiary companies The assets of the
schemes are administered by trustees in a fund independent from the assets of the Company.

Costs and Eabilities of the scheme are based on actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuations were reviewed and updated 10 31 December 2018

by a qualified independent actuary using the projected unit method.

The principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date are as follows:

2018 2017
Rate of increase of salaries - first year 2.00% 2.00%
Rate of increase of salaries — second year 3.15% 2.00%
Rate of increase of salaries - long term 3.15% 310%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment — based an RPI with a cap of 5% 3.05% 3.05%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment - based on RPl with a cap of 3% 2.45% 2.45%
Discount rate 2.95% 2 80%
Retail prices inflation 3.15% 3.10%
Consumer prices inflation 2.15% 2.20%

Life expectancy for a 65-year-old male
Life expectancy for a 65-year-old female

20.9 years 219 years
23.8 years 23.7 years

The arnounts recognised in the Parent Company Balance Sheet and major cateqories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets are:

2018 2017
£'000 £'000
Equities 7721 9,860
Bonds 9,734 7718
Cash 1,488 840
Group's estimated asset share 18,943 18,418
Present value of funded scheme liabilities (19,987) (20,992)
Funded status {1,044) (2,574)
Related deferred tax asset 198 489
Pension liabllity (846) {2,085)
The amounts recognised in the profit and loss account are as follows:
2018 2017
£'000 £'000
Current service cost 36 75
Administration cost - -
Total operating charge 36 75
Net interest 58 112
Total charged to the result for the year 94 187
2018 2017
£'000 £'000
Present value of obligations at 1 January 20,992 21,337
Current service cost 36 75
Interest on obligations 581 643
Plan participants’ contributions 5 10
Benefits paid {502) {517)
Actuarial gain arising from changes in demographic assumptions (430) (822)
Actuarial gain/{loss) arising from changes in financial assumptions (574) 355
Actuarial loss arising from liability experience (121) (89)
Present value of obligations at 31 December 19,987 20892
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Financial staternents
Notes to the financial statements — Company continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

13. Pensions continued
befined benefit scheme continued
Changes in the fair value of the plan assets are as follows:

2018 2017
£'000 £000
Fair value of plan assets at 1 January 18,418 17153
Expected return on plan assets 523 531
Employer’s contributions 1,019 1050
Pian participants’ contributions 5 10
Benefits paid (502) (517)
Return on plan assets above that recorded in net interest (520) 191
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 18,943 18,418
The movements in the net pension liability and the amount recognised in the Balance Sheel are as follows:
2018 2017
£'000 £'000
Deficit in schemes at 1 January (2,574) {4184)
Current service cost (36) (75)
Contributions 1,019 1,050
Other finance income {58} {112}
Actuarial gain arising from changes in demographic assumptions 430 822
Actuarial {loss)/gain arising frorm changes in financial assumptions 574 (355)
Actuarial loss arising from liahility experience 121 89
Return on plan assets ahove that recorded in net interest (520) 191
Deficitin schemes at 3T December (1,044) (2,574)

The employer's contributions expected 1o be paid during the financial year ending 31 December 2019 amount to £0.4m.

14. Related party transactions
Identity of related parties
The Group has arelated party relationship with its pension schemes, its subsidiaries and its Directers

Pension schemes
Details of contributions to pension schemes are set out in note 13 to the financial statements.

Subsidiaries

The Group has a central treasury arrangement in which all subsidiaries participate. The Directors do net consider it meaningful to set out details
of transfers made in respect of this treasury arrangement between companies, nor do they consider it meaningful to set out details of interest or

dividend payments made within the Group.

Transactions with key management personnel

The Group has identified key management personnel as the Directors of Mears Group PLC. Details of transactions are disclosed in note 33 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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Shareholder information
Five-year record (unaudited)

Consolidated Income Statement {continuing activities)

2018 2007 2016 2015 2014
£'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000

Revenue by business segment
Housing 753,230 766,121 787530 735129 714,733
Care 116,613 134,063 152,570 146,010 124,007
Continuing activities 869,843 900,184 940,100 881,139 838,740
Gross profit 207,018 223,702 244,894 232132 22504
Operating profit before acquisition intangible amortisation and exceptional
costs 40,841 38151 41,850 38662 472895
Exceptional items (5,657) - - - -
Operating profit 30,750 28,513 31,160 27825 30,667
Profit for the year before tax 28,431 26,484 29372 25920 29,677
PBT before acquisition intangible amortisation and exceptional costs 38,522 37122 40,062 36,757 42,005
Earnings per share
Basic 23.05p 20.28p 23.54p 20.31p 25.03p
Diluted 22.91p 20.10p 234p 20.10p 24.65p
Normalised 29.06p 28.05p 30.36p 2794p 32.20n
Dividends per share 12.40p 12.00p 1170p 11.00p 10.00p
Cansolidated Balance Sheet

2018 2017 2017 2017 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Non-current assets 276,467 264,567 262,263 258,201 268,818
Current assets 248,872 211,439 222158 237767 217718
Current liabilities (217,274) {198,678) (194,567) (219,882) (190,040)
Non-current lighilities (97,785) {67,738) {91,180) (84,458) (102,034)
Total equity 210,280 209,590 198,674 191,628 194,462
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year (65,904) (25,789} (12,374) 822 3,834
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Shareholder information

Shareholder and corporate information

Financial calendar
Annual General Meeting
31 May 2019

Record date for final dividend
14 June 2019

Dividend warrants posted ta shareholders
4 July 2019

[nterim results announced
13 August 2019

Registered office

1390 Mantpellier Court
Gloucester Business Park
Brockworth

Gloucester GL3 4AH

Tel: 01452 634600
www.mearsgroup.co.uk

Company registration number
03232863

Company Secretary

Ben Wegtran

1390 Montpellier Court
Gloucester Business Park
Brockworth

Gloucester GL3 4AH

Tel: 01452 634600

Bankers
Barclays Bank PLC
Wales and South West

Corporate Banking

4th Floor, Bridgewater House
Counterslip

Finzels Reach

Bristol BS1 6BX

Tel: 0800 285 1152

HSBC Bank PLC

West & Wales

Corporate Banking Centre
3 Rivergate

Temple Quay

gristal BS1 6ER

Tel 08§45 583 9796

Solicitors

BPE

St James' House

St .James’ Square
Cheltenham GL50 3PR

Tel: (1242 224433

Mishcon de ReyaLLP
Africa House

70 Kingsway

London WC2B 6AH

Tel: 0203321 7000

Travers Stnith
10 Snow Hill
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Tel: 020 7295 3000

Auditor

Grant Thornton UK LLP
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20 Colmore Circus
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Tel: G117 305 7600
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Investec Bank PLC
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Joint corporate brokers
Liberum Capital Limited
Ropemaker Place, Level 12

25 Ropemaker Street '
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